

Delft University of Technology

Poles Apart Discerning and opportunistic mind-sets in design learning

Hamat, Basyarah

DOI 10.4233/uuid:bc10b093-aa3c-435f-9b1b-563cffd3c571

Publication date 2018

Document Version Final published version

Citation (APA) Hamat, B. (2018). Poles Apart: Discerning and opportunistic mind-sets in design learning. [Dissertation (TU Delft), Delft University of Technology]. https://doi.org/10.4233/uuid:bc10b093-aa3c-435f-9b1b-563cffd3c571

Important note

To cite this publication, please use the final published version (if applicable). Please check the document version above.

Copyright Other than for strictly personal use, it is not permitted to download, forward or distribute the text or part of it, without the consent of the author(s) and/or copyright holder(s), unless the work is under an open content license such as Creative Commons.

Takedown policy

Please contact us and provide details if you believe this document breaches copyrights. We will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

This work is downloaded from Delft University of Technology. For technical reasons the number of authors shown on this cover page is limited to a maximum of 10.

Poles Apart

Discerning And Opportunistic Mind-sets In Design Learning



by Basyarah Hamat

Poles Apart: Discerning and opportunistic mind-sets in design learning

Basyarah Binti Hamat

Poles Apart:

Discerning and opportunistic mind-sets in design learning

Proefschrift

ter verkrijging van de graad van doctor aan de Technische Universiteit Delft, op gezag van de Rector Magnificus Prof.dr.ir. T.H.J.J. van der Hagen; voorzitter van het College voor Promoties, in het openbaar te verdedigen op donderdag 25 januari 2018 om 12:30 uur

door

Basyarah Binti HAMAT

Master of Design in Digital Media, Universiteit van Adelaide, Australië, geboren te Singapore This dissertation has been approved by the promotors: Prof. dr. P.G Badke-Schaub and Prof. dr. J.P.L. Schoormans

copromotor: Dr.B. Eisenbart

Composition of the doctoral committee :

Rector Magnificus	Chairman
Prof. dr. P.G. Badke-Schaub	Delft University of Technology
Prof. dr. J.P.L. Schoormans	Delft University of Technology
Dr. B. Eisenbart	Delft University of Technology

Independent members :

Prof. ir. D.J. van Eijk	Delft University of Technology
Prof.dr. W.F. Admiral	Leiden University
Assoc. Prof. C. McMahon	Technical University of Denmark
Dr.ir. R. Cavallo	Delft University of Technology

This research was funded by the Ministry of Higher Education, Malaysia and Universiti Teknologi Malaysia, Malaysia.

ISBN/EAN: 978-94-6186-882-4

Cover design: Mohamed Shahril Mohamed Faisal

"Of learning designers, in face of frustrations, When delving into wicked and complex situations, Their young minds embedded with misconceptions, Requiring correcting and sometimes rejections.

Though some are not, ever unyielding, Are open to reflecting and intuitive sense making, Others remain fixated, concealed from insights, Focussing only on what the teacher highlights.

Alas, what steers these minds, in the right direction, Remains elusive and calls for investigation, To augment our understanding, of design learning, So we can provide guidance and supportive nurturing.

Thus, with grounded coding and standard deviations, To factor analyses and correlations, Mind-sets transpire as a gentle reminder To enlighten and cultivate well-rounded designers."

'June 2016

Contents

Summary	vii	
Acknowled	Igements	x
1.	Introduction	1
1.1	Mind-sets in design learning	1
1.2	Research questions, objectives and relevance	3
1.3	Research approach	4
1.4	Structure of this thesis	7
2.	Defining and testing mind-sets in design learning	9
2.1	Defining mind-sets in design learning	9
2.2	A conceptual framework of students' learning	11
2.3	A conceptual framework of mind-sets in design learning	13
2.3.1	Presage level variables	16
2.3.2	Process and product level variables	23
2.3.3	Factors influencing outcomes	24
2.4	Conclusion	
З.	Discerning and opportunistic mind-sets in design learning	29
3.1	Research aims, hypotheses and questions	29
3.2	Methods	31
3.2.1	Participants	31
3.2.2	Quantitative data	32
3.2.3	Qualitative data	
3.3	Results	
3.3.1	Learning conception (RQ 1)	36
3.3.2	Preference for Instruction (RQ 1)	37
3.3.3	Learning approaches (RQ 1)	
3.3.4	Inter-relations between the learning conceptions, preference for instruction and learning approaches of design students (RQ 2)	41
3.3.5	Distinguishing mind-sets in design learning (RQ 2)	46
3.3.6	The discerning and opportunistic mind-sets	50

i

3.3.7	Cross-validating the mind-set categories in design learning	51
3.4	Discussion and Conclusion	53
4.	Differences between the discerning and opportunistic mind-set	s57
4.1	Research aims, hypotheses and questions	57
4.2	Conceptual framework	61
4.3	Methods	62
4.3.1	Participants	62
4.3.2	Experimental procedure	63
4.3.3	Questionnaire scales and items	64
4.3.4	Pre-analysis: Reliability of the scales	67
4.3.5	Pre-analysis: Design process variables	68
4.3.6	Pre-analysis: Solution quality	69
4.4	Results	71
4.4.1	Individual differences between the two mind-sets: When participants are clustered based on their preferred learning approaches (RQ1)	72
4.4.2	Individual differences between the two mind-sets: When participants are clustered based on the quality of their solutions (RQ1)	75
4.4.3	Influence of mind-sets on question-asking strategies and perception of difficulties faced throughout design process (RQ2)	78
4.4.4	Relation between design process and design outcomes (RQ2)	78
4.4.5	Effect of design theory-oriented stimuli (RQ3)	78
4.4.6	Summary of findings	79
4.5	Discussion and Conclusion	
4.5.1	Mind-sets and individual differences in design learning	80
4.5.2	Question formulations, design theory-oriented stimuli and quality of solutions	83
4.5.3	Recommendations and Limitations	83
5.	The effects of mind-sets in designing	87
5.1	Research aims, hypotheses and questions	87
5.2	Conceptual framework	90
5.2.1	Variables on the presage level	91

ii

5.2.2	Variables on the process level	91
5.2.3	Variables on the product level	92
5.3	Methods	94
5.3.1	Participants	94
5.3.2	Data collection: Questionnaire and graphical output	95
5.3.3	Design brief and stimuli	98
5.3.4	Data analysis	99
5.3.5	Coding the Design Phases (DP)	100
5.3.6	Coding the Consideration networks (CN)	105
5.3.7	Coding the Design spaces: Problem and solution spaces	106
5.3.8	Evaluating the Quality of solutions	108
5.3.9	Evaluating the Clarity of solutions	109
5.3.10	Evaluating the Completeness and Usefulness of solutions	110
5.3.11	Evaluating the Feasibility and Originality of solutions	111
5.3.12	Reliability of questionnaire scales	113
5.3.13	Categorising the respondents into either discerning or opportunistic mind-set groups (using the questionnaire items)	114
5.4	Results	
5.4.1	The different learning approaches that discerning and opportunistic mind-sets prefer (RQ 1)	117
5.4.2	Inter-relation between the design processes respondents engage in and the quality of their design solutions (RQ 2)	118
5.4.3	Inter-relations between the two mind-sets and design processes (RQ 3)	120
5.4.4	Relation between mind-sets and design processes when receiving and not receiving reflection-oriented stimuli (RQ 3)	124
5.4.5	Relation between mind-sets and design processes: Qualitative description between respondents that received and did not receive reflection-oriented stimuli (RQ 3)	126
5.4.6	Inter-relation between the two mind-sets and the quality of design solutions produced (RQ 4)	130
5.4.7	Relation between mind-sets and design outcomes when receiving and not receiving reflection-oriented stimuli (RQ 4)	131
5.5	Discussion	
5.5.1	Mind-sets and preferred learning approaches	133

iii

5.5.2	Mind-sets and design processes	134
5.5.3	Mind-sets and design processes: Effects of reflection-oriented stimuli	135
5.5.4	Design process and quality of design solutions	137
5.5.5	Mind-sets and quality of design solutions	139
5.5.6	Mind-sets and quality of design solutions: Effects of reflection- oriented stimuli	140
5.6	Conclusion	142
6.	Discussion and Conclusion	144
6.1	Contributions of this thesis	145
6.1.1	RQ 1: Investigating the mind-sets that design students have toward design learning	145
6.1.2	RQ 2: Individual dispositions associated to the adoption of discerning and opportunistic mind-sets	147
6.1.3	RQ 3: Mind-sets in relation to question-asking in designing and outcomes	149
6.1.4	RQ 3: Mind-sets in relation to considerations and design activities	150
6.1.5	RQ 4: Influence of reflection-oriented stimuli on design solutions	152
6.1.6	Attributes of the discerning and opportunistic mind-sets	155
6.2	Implications and recommendations for design education	155
6.3	Limitations and recommendations for future studies	158
7.	References	162
<i>8</i> .	Appendices	176
9.	About the author	205

iv

v

vi

Summary

Mind-sets play an important role in orienting the decisions and activities that an individual engages in when he or she is designing, and designing involves interaction with complex, open-ended and ambiguous situations. This means that the individual disposition of a person influences the way that he or she reacts. In designing, the complexity of the conditions that the individual interacts with, can increase due to the nature of the design problems. Additionally, the processes that an individual engages in while designing is in turn, expected to influence the quality of design solutions that he or she produces.

This thesis focusses on investigating the phenomena of mind-sets in the context of design and design learning. In Chapter 1, a detailed overview of the direction, approach and structure of this thesis is presented. This thesis addresses four research questions. The first research question aims to examine the prevalent mind-sets that design students have toward design learning and how these mind-sets can be identified. In Chapter 2, literature in the fields of education and psychology that are related to mind-sets in design learning are discussed. Mind-set as defined in this thesis is introduced, and selected variables which facilitate the process of examining mind-sets in design learning are presented. These variables are mapped out in a conceptual framework established after the Presage-Process-Product (3P) model of students' learning after Biggs (1993). This conceptual framework forms the basis for examining and testing mind-sets in design learning for the three following empirical studies. In Chapter 3, three variables encompassing students' learning conception (the internal aspect of mind-set); and preference for instruction and preferred learning approach (the external aspects of mind-set) are examined. Design students were interviewed and asked to fill in a questionnaire. The qualitative and quantitative data sets were cross-validated, and two categories of mind-sets are proposed: the discerning and opportunistic mind-sets.

In Chapter 4, the second study is presented. This study aims to externally validate the two mind-set categories which were proposed in the first study. Other factors that are associated to the adoption of the discerning and opportunistic mind-sets are examined (second research question). Differences between the two mind-sets in terms of perceived self-efficacy, tolerance for ambiguity, view of own intelligence and preferred learning approaches were found. The relation between mind-sets, design processes and design outcomes were also examined (third research question). Design students filled in a questionnaire and were asked to solve a design problem. Questions that students asked regarding the design problem provided insights regarding their design process, while an evaluation of the solutions that they generated provided

vii

insights regarding the quality of outputs that they could produce. Additionally, the influence of design theory-oriented stimuli on the performance of design students in terms of processes and outcomes are examined (fourth research question).

Effects of the stimuli on the two mind-sets were not observed in the second study, therefore an improved experimental set-up was attempted in the third study. A reflection-oriented stimuli was used to test whether the design activities and design outputs produced by design students that incline toward the two different mind-sets, could improve. Additionally, a questionnaire was developed based on the two previous studies to assess the mind-sets. The two mind-sets were tested on all three levels of the presage, process and product levels again. Results of the third study is presented in Chapter 5. Distinct differences in between the two mind-sets were found, supporting for the categorisations of mind-sets in design learning. In Chapter 6, findings from the three empirical chapters are summarized and the theoretical contributions are presented. Implications and recommendations for design education and limitations of these studies are also discussed.

viii

ix

Acknowledgements



In the name of Allah the Most Beneficent, the Most Merciful

All praise is due to Allah for allowing me the opportunity to seek meaningful knowledge throughout these last four and a half years. Without His dispensation, I would not have been able to meet with the following people, who are vital to enriching my learning and ensuring the smoothness of my PhD journey. During the most critical of times, they have supported me in so many possible ways. For this, I am always grateful.

Petra and Jan, you are both polar opposites, but like yin and yang; are the dynamic source that has kept me going, even when things got difficult. From sharing about Max and Moritz to Icarus, Lewin's equation to Spearman's correlation, and from the therapeutic counselling sessions to strategic management decisions that you were both involved in, thank you. Ozgur and Boris, at different yet very timely points of my research, you both stepped in and supported to consolidate the intricate details in my research. Through our interactions, I take away concrete steps to developing meticulousness. Teşekkürler and danke.

I extend my thanks to everyone at DTM, PIM and IO in general: Carlos, Milene, Joo, Kaori, Juergen, Birgit, Cristobal, Eva, Robin, Eric Jan, Dirk, Sicco, Ruth, Maria, Pinar, Marielle, Agnes, Silje, Lianne, Christine, Viki, Frido, Sylvia, Giulia, Sijia, Katinka, Maaike, Lise, Ellis and Nick. The research work and teaching that all of you engage in along with the snippets of advice that I received have been a constant stream of lessons and source of inspiration. Special thanks to Connie, Hanneke, Leandra and Danielle for their kind patience in answering all the queries I usually have for them, and for organising my administrative matters. Also to Asli, Sine and Zahra: often times, you have all assisted me and lifted my spirits. Thank you.

Being away from home, it is remarkable how our friendships are built here in the Netherlands, when we hail from Malaysia. A heartfelt thank you goes to Aunty Rahimah & Uncle Rony, Aunty Jamilah, Kak Latifah & Mr Idris, Uncle Joe for the genuine warmth you have shown to me and my husband, while we were so far away from our own families. Sheilla & Zul, Fizah & Wan, Sofia & Naqi, Anita & Qutteng,

х

Sarah, Azreen, Karimah, Idlan, Nisa & Syahir, Zairi & Shikin, Wanie & Dibby, Syu & Yon, Zura & Nik, Jac & Lim, Muni & Farabi, Ija & Adib, Kak Linda & Abang Fauzi, Balqis & Ryan, Sha & Pejo, Nora & Asrul, Maryam & Aswad, Syud & Kimi, Dila & Shahril, Akma & Amran, Fatihah & Ammar, Nani & Faiz, Qist & Hadi, Faezah & Zihan, Shahrizal, Nad & Sofie, Dilla & Shahril, Zac, Fad, Hazimi, Fairus, Ima, Hani, Apai, Aniey, Azie, Nadiah, and Shafa, the food, events and outings have been effective cure for homesickness.

To new friendships akin to family which were cultivated during the journey towards sirat al-mustaqim: Pak Hamdi, Ibu Fandi, Ibu Yula, Kak Shareen, Ibu Ina, Ibu Shanti, Ibu Fanny, Ibu Rini, Ibu Yuli, Pak Rosidi, Pak Rizal, Pieter, Pak Loekman, Andi, Wildan and Giri. Thank you for the powerful lessons in life, and kindness and affection you have all shown. Better acquaintances for such a journey could not have been asked for.

This journey I thread upon would also not have been possible if not for the support and encouragement from my family and teachers. This thesis is thus also dedicated for my late dad: Hamat Hamid, mom: Zubaidah Elyas, uncle: Asri Elyas, sister: Jamilah, brother: Jalaluddin, nephew: Jordan, father-in-law: Faisal Yusof, mother-in law: Zaitun Kassim, sisters-in law: Kak Iena, Fifi and Sarah Alia, brothers-in-law: Abg Danial and Syazwan, and teachers: PM Muta'ali Othman, En Kamal Azam Bani Hashim, PM Ahmad Khalid, Dr Nasir Hussain, PM Dr Dzulkifli Awang and the late En Idris Ishak. Last but not least, to my loving husband: Shahril Faisal. You have been a solid rock that I could depend on to anchor me when the storm hits hard. What the tempest did not destroy, only invigorated and empowered. As prepared as you were to make sacrifices during this journey, may you receive greater compensation in times to come.

xi

xii

1

Introduction

1.1 Mind-sets in design learning

Designing requires interaction with unclear, inexplicit and ambiguous problem solving situations that are also complex, non-routine and ill-defined (Dorst & Cross, 2001; Lawson, 2006). In learning to design, students are engaged with a broad spectrum of fields. Courses range from subjects like statics and material engineering; to sketching and design aesthetics; and to marketing and innovation processes (Ulrich and Eppinger 2007; Thomke & Nimgade, 2000). Students are faced with a relatively diverse set of subjects to learn. Thus, they need to develop distinct skill sets in order to learn to design (Casakin & Kreitler, 2011; Cross, 1990; Kokotovich, 2008; Williamson, 2011). To successfully solve ill-defined problems, students are recommended to develop their cognitive (Goel, 1992; Kim & Kim, 2015; Mayer, 2001; Rivka, 2001), metacognitive (Goldschmidt, 2001; Casakin, 1999; Magno, 2010) and motivational skills (Mayer, 2001; McCombs, 1988).

Cognitive skills are related to the capability to accomplish operations that are associated to a specific domain (Mayer, 2001). For example, in learning mathematics, this involves being able to perform basic operations such as adding, subtracting, dividing and multiplying. In learning to write, it involves spelling words correctly and structure grammatically correct sentences. In learning design, it ranges from carrying out SWOT analyses (an analysis undertaken to identify the strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and threats pertaining to a particular person, company, product etc.) in order to explore related contexts, to making customer journey maps for framing insights, and making concept sketches to generate or illustrate ideas (Boeijen et al., 2014; Kumar, 2013). Metacognitive skills, on the other hand, are related to knowledge of strategies to manage the cognitive knowledge. That is, it is associated to distinguishing when a specific method or information should be applied (Mayer, 2001; McLaren & Stables, 2008). It involves the ability to recognize appropriate strategies and are concerned with identifying and structuring design problem (Mayer, 2001). The design student should be able to distinguish key observations and summarize the

important findings when exploring related design contexts. This skill is associated to the capacity of the student to plan or organise, make judgements, decisions and manage the process of designing (Vinod, 2001). This skill interacts with an individual's dispositions such as "...personality, social skills and self-discipline" (Vinod, 2001, p. 222).

Motivational skills are related to feelings and beliefs or mind-sets that design students have about their interest and ability to solve design problems (Mayer, 2001). A student who is interested and confident of their own capabilities will be more likely to have the will to solve complex design problems (Dweck, 1986; Mangels et al., 2006; Mayer, 2001). Students achieve better outcomes when they engage in self-regulatory behaviour to improve their learning (Christensen et al., 2002). This means that students can and will regulate their learning activities in order to seek for understanding and endeavour toward successful design solutions. Contrastingly, even if a design student is well equipped in terms of cognitive and metacognitive skills, successful outcomes in problem solving situations are less likely when they lack motivational skills (Dweck, 1986; Mangels et al., 2006; Mayer, 2001). Motivational skills in design learning are, therefore, central to facilitating autonomous learning in students.

Researchers in the design field have, thus far, focussed on investigating cognitive and meta-cognitive aspects of the design student. For instance, efforts have been focussed on expanding cognitive knowledge related to design methods and processes (Boeijen et al., 2014; Christiaans & Dorst, 1992; Jones, 1992; van Dijk & Hekkert, 2014), reflective models in design learning (Smith et al., 2009) and typologies of project methods (Lee, 2009). Other researchers examine metacognitive aspects of design learning to enhance the deployment of appropriate design strategies. For example, through empirical studies, Rivka (2001) propagated the use of a process model in order to assist students in making their knowledge structures explicit. Additionally, Goldschmidt (2001) investigated how to enhance the process of construction and reiteration of design concepts using visual analogy as a strategy. However, even though students are taught design methods, they need to also have a *method mind-set* in order to use the methods effectively (Andreasen, 2003; Daalhuizen et al., 2014). The method mind-set is related to having "the proper understanding of a method's use in accordance with the designer's reality (interpretation of task, situation, execution, validation, etc.), and the method's background and proper use." (Andreasen et. al, 2015, p. 57). It is propogated because methods and their applications encompass diverse aspects that need to be comprehended prior to their usage. Design methods encompass a constituent, yet specific part of design learning. However, mind-sets are a part of motivational skills (Mayer, 2001). They encompass internal mental dispositions and external behavioural responses that determine an individual's

reaction or approach to design learning in general (Dweck, 2006). Furthermore, they play a vital role in ensuring the success of students' learning (Dweck, 1986; Mangels et al., 2006; Ravenscroft et al., 2012).

Research on motivational skills in design education and learning, are however, scarce. Furthermore, current design education focusses on the development of cognitive and metacognitive skills. This is not necessarily sufficient for students' design learning. I thus propose to examine the mind-sets that students hold in design learning. In this thesis, three empirical studies concerned with examining students' mind-sets in design learning are presented.

1.2 Research questions, objectives and relevance

Four main research questions are formulated to investigate the mind-sets that students hold in design learning. These research questions form a foundation that underpins the ensuing studies presented in this thesis. Such an investigation begins by firstly defining mind-sets in design learning. The first research question was formulated as follows:

1) Are there prevalent mind-sets that design students have toward design learning and how can they be identified?

The goal of the first research question was to begin by identifying the types of mindsets that prevail in design learning. This is expected to allow for subsequent and structured investigation of factors that are related to the adoption of the distinct mindsets. Additionally, it allows for the testing of the related effects that mind-sets have on the design processes that students engage in along with the outcomes that they produce. Accordingly, the following research questions were formulated:

- 2) What other factors are associated to the adoption of certain types of mindsets?
- 3) And are these mind-sets related to the design processes that students engage in and the outcomes that they produce?

A further interesting aspect to examine is the potential to improve the performance of design students, that is when they incline towards a certain mind-set. Are there any forms of subtle interventions that can be conducted to augment the performance of design students? Performance here denotes the behaviours that students display throughout engaging in the design process and also, the quality of design outputs that they produce. The final research question was thus framed as follows:

4) Can interventions be applied to positively influence the performance of design students in design learning?

The four research questions build upon one another and serve to expand knowledge on the types of mind-sets that prevail in design learning. Additionally, they serve to uncover differences between the mind-sets in terms of the design processes that students engage in and the outcomes that they produce. This knowledge potentially supports the improvement of design learning and teaching.

This research contributes to the existing body of knowledge by specifically investigating how design students internalize and externalize design learning. By examining their mind-sets, a deeper understanding is gained of how design students deal with the complex and diverse learning situations that they are faced with. A major outcome of this thesis is the development of a categorisation of design learning mind-sets. The types and characteristics of mind-sets that prevail amongst design students that are uncovered, provides the means of investigating other factors that may be associated to these mind-sets. Additionally, it allows for design teachers and students to actively manage the impending challenges of design learning. For design teachers, a different way to reflect upon and manage their students' strategies in learning design is provided. For design students, the categorisations assists in enabling them to contemplate and regulate their own mind-sets in design learning. Finally, findings presented in this thesis contribute to research in the area of motivational skills in design learning.

1.3 Research approach

Interactions between input, process and output related factors of specified research contexts have commonly been analysed and described using Input-Process-Output (IPO) models. For example, the IPO model has been used to analyse factors that influence the success of design projects (Badke-Schaub, 1999) and also team effectiveness (Salas et al., 2009). A similar, yet more specific model to examine the topic of mind-sets in design learning, can be found in Biggs' 3P model. This model focusses on factors that relate to student learning, and is adapted as a conceptual framework of this thesis.

The 3P model consists of factors that are situated within three different levels: the *presage*, *process* and *product* levels. Similar to the IPO model, factors on the *presage level* assess input related factors. *Presage* is defined as indicators that predict forthcoming circumstances ("Collins English Dictionary - Complete & Unabridged 10th Edition," 2009, "Online Etymology Dictionary," 2010; The Free Dictionary Online, 2016a). In this thesis, variables situated on the *presage level* are factors which are related to the student, that exist prior to student-teacher interactions (Biggs, 1993,

2012). It is expected that variables on the *presage level* can influence the outcome of variables on the two preceding levels: the *process* and *product* levels. On the *process level*, variables related to the responses that students make during their engagement in design tasks are assessed. On the *product level*, the quality of outputs produced by students from their engagement in design tasks are evaluated.

The conceptual framework used in this thesis assesses the same three levels of the 3P model. Appropriate factors on the three different levels were identified through a review of the extant literature (see Section 2.3 for further details). The variables situated on the three different levels of the conceptual framework are examined throughout three subsequent empirical studies. The analyses of all three studies were in one way or other triangulated using both qualitative and quantitative data sets, instead of using only quantitative or qualitative data. By doing so, concrete and plausible interpretations of the findings could be made, leading to deeper understanding of the mind-sets. Furthermore, by using both quantitative and qualitative and quantitative and qualitative approaches in these studies, the potential of both methods could be maximised (Creswell, 2014).

The three empirical studies are designed to identify the types of mind-sets that prevail within design students, test the reliability and extend the description of characteristics of the mind-set personifications. Additionally, the empirical studies are designed to assess the possibilities of improving design learning through subtle mind-set interventions. For an overview of the set-up for each study, see Figure 1.1.

An exploratory study was conducted in Study 1. The main objective was to explore, identify and describe the prevalent mind-sets in design learning. An explanatory-sequential mixed method research study was used for this purpose. Data was collected using an adopted version of the *Approaches and Study Skills Inventory for Students* (Entwistle et al., 1997). The variables on the presage level of the conceptual framework were identified through the questionnaire data and semi-structured interviews. The data obtained from the questionnaire was quantitatively analysed and subsequently validated with data from existing literature and the semi-structured interviews, which were analysed qualitatively (Creswell, 2014; Johnson & Onwuegbuzie, 2004). A validation of these data sets consequently account for the distinctively significant types of mind-sets (see Study 1 in Chapter 3).

The next two studies were meant to expand more vividly the description of mind-sets in design learning. The two mind-sets from Study 1 were validated in Study 2. The main objective was to investigate individual dispositions of the design student that are associated to the mind-sets that they adopt (see Sections 2.3.1.4 for details of the variables associated to individual dispositions). A questionnaire was used for this

purpose. Respondents were divided into two groups: control (did not receive probe) and experimental (received probe). Both groups filled out the questionnaire that assessed their individual dispositions and completed a 1-hour design task. The interactions between students' self-reported individual dispositions, the behaviours that they adopted in their design process and the quality of outcomes that they produced, when they inclined toward a distinct mind-set in design learning, were compared. Students in the experimental group received an intervention to test whether their performance could be improved (see Section 4.4). The effects of the probe for students in the experimental and control conditions could also be compared.



Figure 1.1 Overview of the three studies conducted

Study 3 adopts a similar design set-up as the previous study. However, two improvements were made to the research set-up. Firstly, the questionnaire that was used to measure mind-set in this study was drawn up based on findings from the two previous studies. Secondly, a different yet simpler method of intervention was used to investigate whether the performance of students' could be improved (see Section 5.3.4).

1.4 Structure of this thesis

An overview of the chapters in this thesis is illustrated in Figure 1.1. In Chapter 2, the conceptual framework that was established based on the literature study that was conducted is presented. The chapter begins with examining the term mind-set in the context of design learning. Here, literature from the education and psychology fields are drawn upon. Subsequently, six constructs that build the conceptual framework of this thesis are described. In Chapter 3 the findings of Study 1 are presented. This chapter essentially discusses the categories of design learning mind-sets that were established based on constructs from education literature. The process of developing the categories of mind-sets was based on a cross-validation of the questionnaire and interview data sets. In Chapter 4 the findings of Study 2 are presented and discussed. The design learning mind-set categories are extended by the integration of constructs from the psychology literature. The differences of design behaviours that students engage in throughout their design process and the quality of outcomes that they produce, when they incline toward the different design learning mind-sets, are also discussed in this chapter.

In Chapter 5, the findings of Study 3 are presented. The design learning mind-set categories are further distinguished based on mind-set scales that were built upon the two previous studies. Characteristic differences between the design learning mind-sets in terms of their engagement in their design process and the quality of outcomes that they produce are further expanded upon in this chapter. Additionally, the influence of an intervention that affected the different design learning mind-sets is presented. In Chapter 6 the thesis is concluded with a general discussion on the contribution of the three empirical studies to the theoretical body of knowledge and its practical impact on design education.

2

Defining and testing mindsets in design learning

In this chapter a specific set of variables that allow for the examination of design learning mind-sets are identified. These variables are related to (1) factors that exist within students prior to their actual engagement in learning; (2) the process of designing that students engage in; and (3) the design outcomes that students produce. A review of the present literature suggests that these variables fit appropriately within the Presage-Process-Product (3P) model of students' learning after Biggs (1993). This model was thus adapted and used as a conceptual framework in this thesis. This conceptual framework forms the basis for examining and testing mind-sets in design learning for the three following empirical studies. The structure of this chapter is as follows. Firstly, a review of literature related to mind-sets in design learning will be discussed. Next, the original 3P model of students' learning and the adapted conceptual framework that is used in this thesis is presented. Finally, the related variables situated within the adapted conceptual framework are further discussed in this chapter.

2.1 Defining mind-sets in design learning

Often, a person's mind-set is described as being composed of two components. The first component encompasses a way of thinking, a mental attitude, inclination or disposition as well as opinions formed, belief, feelings and values (Cambridge Dictionaries Online, 2016; Oxford Dictionaries Online, 2016; The Free Dictionary Online, 2016). The second component encompasses an individual's interpretation of a situation and their intuitive tendencies to respond in a certain way (The Free Dictionary Online, 2016; Cambridge Dictionaries Online, 2016). This means that there is a more internal aspect to it, which pertains to a person's mind-set, as well as a more re-active part guiding responses to given situations.

Scientific literature similarly addresses both of these components, providing distinct measures and theories for their examination and explication. The first component of mind-sets is examined through so called self-implicit theories which are related to an

individual's perception (or belief) of their own intelligence (Diener & Dweck, 1978, 1980; Dweck, 1986; Dweck, Chiu, & Hong, 1995; Grant & Dweck, 2003; Dweck, 2006; Donohue et al., 2012; Flores et al., 2011; Dweck, 2015). These studies suggest that depending on whether an individual views their intelligence as a permanent trait that cannot be changed (the so-called "entity theorists", see Mangels et al., 2006) or as a transformable trait that can be developed (i.e. "incremental theorists"), they can be categorised as having fixed or growth mind-sets, respectively. In relation to the second component of mind-sets, Dweck et al. (1995) argue that an individuals' goals, interpretations of situations and reactions to them are influenced by their mind-sets.

Building upon this notion and the previous studies discussed, it can be deduced that mind-sets encompass an interplay of internal mental dispositions and external behavioural responses. It is further argued in the literature that an individuals' reaction or approach to the situation of learning is, therefore, determined by their mind-set (Román et al., 2008; Rodriguez, 2009; Richardson et al., 2012; De-la-Fuente et al., 2015; Nelson et al., 2015). Translating this to the design learning context suggests that there is an interplay between a student's mental state and subsequent perception of a situation in which they learn design as a subject. This in turn can be expected to determine the responses that they bring forth in their design learning activities.

When examining mind-sets in learning design, we should be concerned with aspects of interpretations that play distinct, yet meaningful, roles towards students' responses in design learning situations. Design students are faced with complex and open-ended problem solving situations (Cross, 1982; Broadbent & Cross, 2003; Buchanan, 2016). These situations, by nature, require a variety of re-interpretations of the problem, its contextual dependencies and an almost infinite amount of related potential solutions (Rittel & Webber, 1973). This means that students are constantly faced with situations of varying levels of uncertainty and ambiguity which triggers responses based on their mental disposition, i.e. based on their mind-sets.

In order for teachers to help students manage their learning behaviour efficiently, it is therefore considered beneficial to investigate the influences and effects of design learning mind-sets in education. In order to examine the mind-sets of students in the specific context of learning in design, multiple factors that are interconnected to the complex setting of design learning should also be examined. Consequently, a conceptual framework is used to guide this investigation. The Presage-Process-Product (3P) model which is based on Biggs's (1993) model of student learning was adapted for this purpose. This model provides a general basis for examining variables that are expected to contribute to the investigation of mind-sets in design learning and is described in Section 2.2.

2.2 A conceptual framework of students' learning

Conceptual frameworks are used in research to explicate our perception of how things are connected (Cohen et al., 2007). Constructs can be created and hypothetical relationships between constructs can be organized, within a conceptual framework, to predict events prior to its actual occurrence (Cohen et al., 2007). However, it is difficult to explicate the components of such a framework for learning. Some argue that that it is challenging to distinguish between the relevant and multifaceted factors that influence the concept and processes involved in learning (McIIrath & Huitt, 1995; Olson & Hergenhahn, 2016). Yet, researchers have conceptualized initial models of teaching and learning that highlight the main factors that influence learning in classrooms (Carroll, 1963; Cruickshank, 1986; Biggs, 1993; Huitt, 2003). The '3P' model of student learning developed by Biggs (1993) was originally used in relation to teaching in classrooms by Dunkin & Biddle (1974). Biggs (1993), however, adapted the model to address students' learning (see Figure 2.1).



Figure 2.1 Biggs's (1993) 3P model of classroom learning

The 3P model comprises three different levels: (1) *presage*; (2) *process*; and (3) *product.* The *presage level* encompasses stable and contextual aspects that affect students' learning that exist prior to student/teacher interactions. Two factors are categorised on the presage level: student-related factors, on the one hand, and teacher-related factors on the other. Factors on the presage level predispose students' self-reported preference of approaches to learning on the process level, which, in turn, determine the outcomes they produce on the product level. Additionally, presage

factors such as students' ability, directly affect outcomes, while outcomes provide feedback that in turn affects the student (Biggs, 1993). Subtle distinctions within the presage factors have been provided in research by, e.g., Cruickshank (1986) and Huitt (2003). For example, although Biggs (1993, 2001) and Huitt, (2003) recognizes students' prior knowledge and learning approach or style as sub-factors, Biggs (1993, 2001) includes students' ability as a sub-factor while Huitt, (2003) suggests motivation and intelligence as sub-factors and students' behaviour as a separate factor.

On the process level, researchers have examined the levels of mental processing that students engage in throughout their learning activities. Their levels of engagement have been observed to vary strongly (Zhang, 2000; Gijbels et al., 2005; Biggs, 2012; Kember et al., 2010; Reid et al., 2012; Han, 2014). This "level of engagement or depth of processing" applied during learning has been classified into the *surface* and *deep learning* approaches (Säaljö, 1979; Chin & Brown, 2000; Biggs et al., 2001; Entwistle & Smith, 2002; Entwistle & Ramsden, 2015). Other researchers have also examined the *strategic learning approach*. This approach refers to the combination of understanding and memorising (Kember, 2000, p. 104) or management of learning activities in terms of content or time (Entwistle, et al., 1997).

On the product level, researchers have examined learning outcomes using several distinct measures. Firstly and more commonly, researchers use indicators of academic achievement such as test scores or GPA levels (Zhang, 2000; Gijbels et al., 2005; Han, 2014). However, outcome measures such as students' engagement in classes and attendance levels have also been used (Han, 2014). Other researchers use self-evaluation data that assess other aspects of outcomes. This includes assessing the level of confidence that students have in attaining important learning goals (Kember et al., 2010) and the abilities of students, such as their analytical, creative and practical abilities (Zhang, 2000).

Constructs are not necessarily tied to any particular existing concept-phenomenon, but can instead be used to serve different purposes (Bannister & Fransella, 2013). Furthermore, richer perspectives or insights can potentially be attained by investigating propositional constructs (Cohen et al., 2007). This means that factors that are considered beneficial to the analysis of mind-sets in design learning can and should be determined for investigation. Biggs's (1993) 3P model provides a general framework to further examine students' mind-sets and learning in design. Student factors on the *presage level* comprise prior predispositions that readily exist within students. It can be argued that these predispositions involve students' mind-sets which encompass their mental inclinations and responses to situations as previously discussed in Section 2.1. Consequently, student factors that are considered specific and beneficial to learning in design are adapted into Biggs' (1993) 3P model. This 3P

model is used as the conceptual framework of this thesis. In the next section, the adapted model with the relevant factors to be taken into consideration is proposed and further discussed.

2.3 A conceptual framework of mind-sets in design learning

The conceptual framework to examine mind-sets in design learning is adapted from Biggs's 3P model. Biggs's 3P model markedly consists of two-way interrelations between all factors across the three levels. However, it is not possible to empirically investigate such a complex network of interrelating factors in a research project. It is commonly agreed that students' learning can be better facilitated when their ways of learning are apprehended (Entwistle & Ramsden, 2015). Furthermore, studies have indicated that individual students have unique characteristics that hypothetically influence their adoption of learning approach (Biggs, 2012; Cruickshank, 1986; Huitt, 2003) and subsequently, their learning outcomes (Meyer et al., 1990; Zhang, 2000; Grant & Dweck, 2003; Stump et al., 2009; Rodriguez, 2009; Miron-Spektor & Beenen, 2015). In addition, positive influence on the learning outcomes of students have been shown to occur when their individual capacities are harnessed. This happens when students are encouraged to act purposively in making choices (Pym & Kapp, 2011). Therefore, student related factors on the presage level and their interrelations with factors on the process and product levels are exclusively investigated in this research study. Particular focus is directed to examining the student factors on the *presage level* and its inter-relations to the *process* and *product* level factors (see Figure 2.2).



Figure 2.2 Conceptual framework of students' learning in design developed on Biggs's (1993) 3P model.
On the *presage level*, the mind-set of students in learning design is examined as a function of three variables: (1) students' learning conception; (2) their preference for instruction; and (3) their preferred learning approach. As discussed in Section 2.1, it is assumed that the notion of mind-set encompass two components. In this conceptual framework the first component of mind-set relates to students' mental inclinations with regards to learning. In this context, this is referred to as their *learning conception*. This refers to the view of or understanding and belief about learning that the student holds. Studies have empirically shown that learning conceptions are related to students' preference of learning approach (Marton & Säljö, 1976; Van Rossum et al., 1985; Purdie et al., 1996) and instruction (Entwistle, 1999). These two aspects are expected to relate to the second component of mind-set i.e., the responses that students incline toward in learning (see Section 2.1). Students' preference for *instruction* refers to the style of teaching, type of course and materials that a student would prefer to interact with. The *learning approach* that a student prefers to adopt refers to the level of processing that they expect to apply when engaged in learning activities e.g. deep or surface levels of processing (see Section 2.3.1.2) (Marton & Säaljö, 1976; Schmeck et al., 1991; Entwistle, 2001; Entwistle & Ramsden, 2015; Orsmond & Merry, 2015; Islam, 2016).

Findings from other studies suggest that there are other aspects that influence the approach that students adopt in learning. These aspects are therefore also examined on the presage level, in the investigation of mind-sets in design learning. How students view their own intelligence (more commonly referred to as self-implicit theory, see Burnette et al., 2013 and Dweck et al., 1995) has been found to relate to the approach that they choose to adopt in learning (Dahl et al., 2005; Stump et al., 2009; Yan et al., 2014). Additionally, an individual's perceived self-efficacy (which pertains to a student's evaluation of his or her capability to accomplish a task successfully, see Pintrich & de Groot, 1990) is expected to have explanatory power to clarify their behaviour mechanisms in coping with complex situations (Bandura, 1982) and influence their creative performance (Brockhus et. al 2014). This means that perceived self-efficacy is expected to relate to the learning approaches students adopt on the process level and outcomes on the product level. Furthermore, an individual's tolerance for ambiguity has been found to mediate an individual's level of selfefficacy (Lane & Klenke, 2004). Taking these findings into consideration, I propose to examine these three additional factors on the presage level of this conceptual framework. These include: (1) students' view of their own intelligence; (2) their perceived self-efficacy; and (3) their level of tolerance for ambiguity.

Students' level of engagement and depth of processing in design tasks are examined on the *process level*. Other studies have used qualitative methods to examine the factors situated within this level. For example, Marton & Säaljö (1976) examined the

responses that students gave on different types of questions after some reading assignments. Chin & Brown (2000) observed the approaches that students adopted in learning science and Hay (2007) analysed concept maps made by postgraduate students before and after their Research Methods course. Notably, the two more current studies found that students' approaches towards learning personifies the deep and surface learning approaches as propagated by Marton & Säaljö (1976) and Entwistle (1999). These studies strongly suggest that the activities that students partake in during their learning activities can be categorised in high (deep) or low (surface) levels of engagement. In examining process related factors encompassing students' learning in design, I propose to examine the responses that students make or the activities that they undertake when engaged in a design task. These factors will be further discussed in Sections 2.3.2 and 2.3.3.

On the *product level* of this conceptual framework, outcomes that are produced by design students are assessed. The outcomes produced by students have been measured in terms of creativity in several studies (Goldschmidt & Smolkov, 2006; Goldschmidt & Sever, 2011; Sarkar & Chakrabarti, 2011; Chulvi et al., 2012; Chang et al., 2016). Some researchers assess the creativity of tangible outputs such as ideas (Dean et al., 2006; Verhaegen et al., 2013) and finished products (Sarkar & Chakrabarti, 2011). Other researchers assess the creativity of idea generation processes (Hernandez et al., 2010; Shah et al., 2000; Shah, 2003). The investigation of idea generation processes require controlled experiments which are "time-consuming, inherently subjective, [and encompasses] external validity [that] is highly uncertain when extrapolating the results to more complex engineering problems." (Verhaegen et al., 2013, p. 243). As a result, more extensive examination of design outputs have been conducted as opposed to design processes (Verhaegen et al., 2013). In the conceptual framework of this thesis, the assessment of outcomes produced by design students is focussed upon the outputs that they produce such as their design ideas.

Distinctive variables have been proposed in this adapted conceptual framework. The six variables situated within the *presage level* of the conceptual framework primarily enables the investigation of students' mind-sets specifically in a design learning setting. These variables are expected to influence the learning activities that students engage in and on the quality of design outputs that they produce. This relates to the *process* and *product levels* of the conceptual framework, respectively. Furthermore, direct interaction between variables within the *process* and *product levels* of the conceptual framework are expected to occur. The interactions that are expected to occur between the three levels of the conceptual model are further discussed in the following sub-sections.

2.3.1 Presage level variables

Mind-sets in design learning are examined through six variables situated within the *presage level*. These variables include (1) students' learning conception; (2) their preference for instruction; (3) their preferred learning approach; (4) students' view of their own intelligence; (5) their perceived self-efficacy; and (6) their level of tolerance for ambiguity. The interactions between these variables are expected to provide insights toward the design learning mind-sets that prevail within design students.

2.3.1.1 Learning conceptions

Learning conceptions are examined through how knowledge structures are perceived and how learning processes are perceived (see Chiou et al., 2012; Marton & Säaljö, 1976; Purdie & Hattie, 2002; Rossum & Schenk, 1984; Tynjälä, 1997) (see also Table 2.1). Learning conceptions are shaped by students' anticipation of performance that is required of them (Anderson, 1970; McKenzie, 1973). Learning conceptions are related to the perception that students have towards knowledge structures, which is as something to be reproduced (surface conception) or transformed (deep conception). The deep and surface learning conceptions are similarly examined by Marton & Säaljö, (1976), Rossum & Schenk (1984), Purdie et al. (1996) and Purdie & Hattie (2002). On the other hand, Tynjälä (1997) examines conceptions related to learning processes and categorizes the conceptions as: (1) an externally determined event or process; (2) a developmental process; (3) a student activity; (4) the various strategies /styles /approaches that one adopts in learning; (5) the processing of information; (6) an interactive process; and (7) a creative process.

The surface-reproducing learning conception is related to perceiving learning as something static, where knowledge is only to be memorized, applied and increased (Marton & Säaljö, 1976; Van Rossum et al., 1985). It also encompasses viewing learning as a *duty* that needs to be performed or fulfilled (Purdie & Hattie, 2002; Purdie et al., 1996). In contrast, the deep-transforming learning conception is related to viewing learning as an activity that requires active abstraction and interpretation of knowledge, in order to acquire meaning (Marton & Säaljö, 1976; Purdie et al., 1996; Van Rossum et al., 1985). The deep-transforming conception of learning is also related to perceiving learning as an individual's own development on a personal level (Van Rossum et al., 1985; Purdie & Hattie, 2002; Purdie et al., 1996). This conception of learning also relates to viewing learning as a development of social competence and a process that is not bounded by time and context (Purdie & Hattie, 2002; Purdie et al., 1996).

Lear	ning Conception					
Category	Sub- categories	Marton and Säaljö (1979)	Van Rossum et al. (1985)	Purdie et al. (1996)	Purdie & Hattie (2002)	Eläny 1997) 1997) 1997 1997 1997 1997 1997 19
	Increase of knowledge	х	х	х	х	-
cing	Memorizing	х	х	х	х	-
npore	Application of information	х	х	-	-	-
Rep	A means to an end		-	х	-	-
A duty		-	-	х	х	-
	Abstraction of meaning	х	-	-	-	-
ßı	Understanding reality through interpretation	X	х	х	-	-
<i>Transformi</i>	Personal development	-	х	Х	х	Х
	Seeing something in a different way	-	-	х	-	-
Ľ	A process not bound by time or context	-	-	х	х	Х
	Developing social competence	-	-	х	х	-

Table 2.1 Learning conceptions as examined in different studies.

2.3.1.2 Learning approaches

Researchers have developed questionnaires (Biggs et al., 2001; Entwistle, 1999), observed learning activities (Chin & Brown, 2000) and empirically analysed the changes in students' knowledge structure (Hay, 2007) to examine learning approaches. They commonly categorise learning approaches into two types: *deep* and *surface learning approach*. See

Table 2.2 for detailed descriptions of how different researchers describe the deep and surface learning approaches. The *deep learning approach* arises from students' interest to seek comprehension. This leads them to actively engage in linking, integrating and questioning concepts meaningfully; look for patterns and underlying principles; and examine logic and argument critically (Marton & Säaljö, 1976; Dolmans et al., 2015; Jackson, 2012).

Learning approach	Scale or Description	Source	Instrument/Method
	Seeks meaning, relates ideas, uses evidence, interest in ideas, monitors effectiveness.	Entwistle (1999)	Approaches and Study Skills Inventory for Students, ASSIST
Dccp	Intrinsic interest, maximises meaning	Biggs et al. (2001)	Revised Two-factor Study Process Questionnaire,R-SPQ- 2F
	Ventures ideas spontaneously; questions explanations, causes, predictions and resolved discrepancies in knowledge; engages in interactive theorizing; explains cause-effect relationships; refers to personal experience	Chin & Brown (2000)	Observation of laboratory activities and interviews
	Shows newly learnt concepts and original conceptions; links new knowledge to prior knowledge in meaningfully; improves overall knowledge structure (i.e. organisation, linkages and meaning explication).	Hay (2007)	Comparison of students' before and after concept maps
	Lack of purpose, unrelated memorising, fear of failure, syllabus-boundedness	Entwistle (1999)	Approaches and Study Skills Inventory for Students, ASSIST
Surface	Motive: Fear of failure Strategy: Narrow target, rote-learning	Biggs et al. (2001)	Revised Two-factor Study Process Questionnaire,R-SPQ- 2F
	Reformulates questions and provides obvious descriptions as explanations, questions basic factual or procedural information, insufficient reflection, rigid adherence to instruction	Chin & Brown (2000)	Observation of laboratory activities and interviews
	Introduces significant numbers of new concepts that are not integrated with prior knowledge, creates new concepts that do not increase conceptual linkage of map as a whole, shows no improvements in terms of structural linkages or explanatory power.	Hay (2007)	Comparison of students' before and after concept maps

Table 2.2 Scales for deep and surface learning approaches as measured or described in different studies.

Students projecting the deep learning approach have been found to ask relevant questions on reasoning, causes, and speculation; resolve incongruities; provide elaborate explanations with cause-effect relationships; and theorize at conceptual and analytical levels (Chin & Brown, 2000). The *deep learning* approach has been described as "... an increase in structural complexity (networking), and the meaningful integration of newly acquired knowledge with the pre-existing knowledge structures." (Hay, 2007, p. 52). However, even though deeper levels of processing are demanded from students, it might not be elicited from students when they do not apprehend the deeper processing approaches that are required (Marton & Säaljö, 1976).

When students anticipate that they are required to recall factual information or reproduce lists, even though menial, they would be inclined to adopt a *surface learning approach* (Marton & Säaljö, 1976). This learning approach is associated to students' fear of failure and intention to cope with course requirements. In these situations, students memorise facts and procedures in a routine manner, study without reflection on purpose or strategy, and feel undue pressure and worry about work (Entwistle & Marton, 1989; Biggs et al., 2001; Jackson, 2012). Students inclining toward this learning approach have been found to provide reformulated questions as explanations; make observations that are focussed on physical phenomena; and rarely reflected on their own performance and new processes or information encountered (Chin & Brown, 2000).

Less commonly discussed, but nevertheless can be found in literature is the *strategic learning approach*. This learning approach is driven by students' intention to obtain highest possible grades. Students adopting this learning approach tend to be aware of assessment demands; effectively manage their resources and rely on organised studying to fulfil anticipated demands (Biggs et al., 2001; Entwistle, 1999). Additionally, researchers have also discussed combinatory learning approaches that students might be inclined to adopt. For example, the "deep-surface" learning approach is related to students attaining incomplete understanding (Entwistle, 2001). This is caused by students' inadequacy to give sufficient attention to details and the tendency to generalise and reach conclusions too quickly. It can however, equally be caused by students' unsuccessful use of analogies or personal experiences, and inability to link interconnected ideas (Entwistle, 2001, p. 597).

2.3.1.3 Preference for instruction

Preference for instruction refers not only to the style of teaching, but also the type of course and materials that a student prefers to interact with. Preferences of students may orient toward a dependency on teacher and content or on independent learning (Entwistle, 1999; Hativa & Birenbaum, 2000; Van Rossum et al., 1985) (see Table 2.3). Students inclining towards *teacher-content oriented* instruction favour the

transmission of information. This includes attaining information from a clear and interesting teacher (Hativa & Birenbaum, 2000) or any forms of technology (Van Rossum et al., 1985).

Prefe	erence for Instruction	Researcher(s)					
Category	Sub-categories	Van Rossum et al. (1985)	Entwistle (1999)	Hativa & Birenbaum (2000)			
Teacher- content	Transmitting information/content	Х	Х	Х			
oriented	Depending on teacher	Х	-	Х			
Student- learning	Facilitating understanding and/or personal development	х	х	-			
oriented	Orienting student centeredness	Х	-	Х			

Table 2.3 Categories and sub-categories of students' preference for instruction as measured or described in different studies.

Students that prefer independent *student-learning* incline toward teachers who support them to attain understanding (Entwistle, 1999) and promote self-regulation (Hativa & Birenbaum, 2000). These students favour increased independence and opportunities for constructive activity (Van Rossum et al., 1985). They also favour teachers that actively support their learning process (Hativa & Birenbaum, 2000) and engage in teacher-student dialogues (Van Rossum et al., 1985).

Relatively small differences can be found between the *preferences for instruction* of students from different study disciplines. For example, both engineering and education students showed preference for *teacher-content oriented* instruction (Hativa & Birenbaum, 2000). Primarily, this means that although *preferences for instruction* of design students is not expected to differ from other disciplines, differences within the students themselves are plausible. Secondarily, this indicates that students' *preference for instruction* are inconsistent with the recommendation of educational researchers, where independent learning is considered essential for 21st century learning (Stephenson & Yorke, 2013).

The three variables discussed in Sections 2.3.1.1 to 2.3.1.3 provide a basis for examining mind-sets in design learning. Mind-sets in design learning are hypothesized to encompass two components: internal mental dispositions and external behavioural responses (see Section 1). The internal aspect of mind-set can be examined through the learning conception that a student holds. The external aspect of mind-sets can be examined through the type of instruction and learning approach

that students would prefer. The Approaches and Study Skills Inventory for Students (ASSIST) Questionnaire is used to assess these three variables on the *presage level* (Entwistle, 1999). The ASSIST questionnaire was most highly recommended by "researchers and experts in the field of cognitive and/or learning styles", to assess the way individuals approach learning in education or training (Peterson et al., 2009 p. 519).

2.3.1.4 View of Own Intelligence, Self-efficacy and Tolerance for Ambiguity

The view of own intelligence that an individual holds (more commonly referred to as self-implicit theory) can be referred to either as entity view or incremental view (see Section 1). The entity view is related to an individual perceiving their intelligence as an in-built or natural ability. Individuals that hold this view regarding their intelligence are predicted to disengage and perform poorer when faced with challenges, but succeed and perform better when faced with easy tasks (Grant & Dweck, 2003). These individuals are expected to incline toward setting performance goals for themselves. Performance goals are also known as ego-oriented goals (Miller et al., 1996). These goals are associated to an individual's pursuit of favourable judgements or avoidance of negative judgements regarding their competence (Dweck, 1986). In other words, there is a tendency for these individuals to seek validation from others regarding their abilities.

The *incremental view* is related to an individual perceiving his/her intelligence as developable through effort (Miller et al., 1996; Bråten & Olaussen, 1998; Ablard, 2002; Dupeyrat & Mariné, 2005). These individuals are expected to incline toward pursuing learning goals, which are also referred to as *task-oriented goals* or *mastery goals* (Miller et al., 1996). These goals are associated to an individual's tendency to actively seek improving his/her own skills, knowledge or competence; and developing deeper levels of understanding or mastering new situations (Dweck, 1986; Miller et al., 1996; Dupeyrat & Mariné, 2005). Students face better possibility of coping with adverse conditions and sustaining their own motivation when they set their own learning goals (Grant & Dweck, 2003). However, a study reported that the predicted effects of an individuals' *view of own intelligence* on their *goal orientations* could not be observed (Dupeyrat & Mariné, 2005).

Studies associated to self-implicit theories, goal orientations, and learning approaches have also been examined in conjunction with self-efficacy (Bråten & Olaussen, 1998; Miller et al., 1996; Pintrich & de Groot, 1990; Stump et al., 2009). Self-efficacy pertains to a student's evaluation of his or her capability to accomplish a task successfully (Pintrich & de Groot, 1990). High self-efficacy has been found to be related to positive (deep) learning approaches, (Miller et al., 1996; Pintrich & de

Groot, 1990; Rodriguez, 2009; Stump et al., 2009; Zare-ee, 2010) and higher achievement scores (Grant & Dweck, 2003; Miller et al., 1996; Pintrich & de Groot, 1990). However, students who underestimate their own performance have also been found to produce better outcomes i.e., attain better results in their studies. Christensen et al. (2002) attributes this to students' pessimism in contrast to optimism of their own outcomes, that resulted in self-regulatory behaviour which improved their performance. These contradicting findings suggest that the interpretation of self-efficacy levels to performance or achievements are also dependent on other factors in learning situations.

Performance achievements are not only influenced by an individual's level of selfefficacy, but are moreover mediated by an individual's tolerance for ambiguity (Lane & Klenke, 2004). For example, as the complexity of a task increases, an individual's tolerance for ambiguity has been found to influence the formation of their selfefficacy (Foo & Teoh, 1997). Additionally, individuals that indicate a higher tolerance for ambiguity have been found to convey higher self-efficacy levels, compared to individuals that indicate a lower tolerance for ambiguity (Endres, Chowdhury, Milner, Endres, & Chowdhury, 2015).

Tolerance for ambiguity has been defined as "...the tendency to perceive ambiguous situations as desirable (Budner, 1962, p. 29)". This definition was expanded and follows as "... a range, from rejection to attraction, of reactions to stimuli perceived as unfamiliar, complex, dynamically uncertain, or subject to multiple conflicting interpretations (McLain, 1993, p. 184)". Viewing it from an opposite angle, intolerance of ambiguity has been defined as "...a tendency to perceive or interpret information marked by vague, incomplete, fragmented, multiple, probable, unstructured, uncertain, inconsistent, contrary, contradictory, or unclear meanings as actual or potential sources of psychological discomfort or threat (Norton, 1975, p. 608)". These definitions commonly suggest that it is the perception of the individual with regards to the ambiguity of the stimuli which is salient, as compared to the actual ambiguity of the stimuli. Furthermore, it is an individual's perception of the stimuli that he/she encounters, that also plays a role in influencing his/her reactions.

An individual's inflexibility and tendency to "cling to familiar and precise details" (Frenkel-Brunswik, 1949, p. 141) relates to the tendency to ignore other aspects related to a situation. In turn, this results in a haphazard approach towards reality (Frenkel-Brunswik, 1949). Building on this description and the previous findings, it can be assumed that inflexibility of interpretations related to complex problem solving situations, results in potentially unsystematic design decisions and rationales for design decisions. Students with a low tolerance for ambiguity are stipulated to react aversively in ambiguous situations due to difficulty in accessing risk and making

decisions correctly (Furnham & Ribchester, 1995). Furthermore, students with low tolerance for ambiguity have been reported to show signs of anxiety, evasion, deferring putting an end to things and also rejection (Furnham & Marks, 2013). In contrast, students that are highly tolerant towards ambiguity perceive ambiguous situations as "desirable, challenging and interesting" (Furnham & Marks, 2013, p. 718).

2.3.2 Process and product level variables

Various aspects influence the creativity of design ideas. The manner or way in which students engage in their design tasks are expected to influence the outcomes that they produce. For example, the use of different learning activities (Groenendijk et al., 2013) and different design methods or tools and result in different levels of creativity (Cubukcu & Cetintahra, 2010; Goldschmidt & Sever, 2009, 2011; Goldschmidt & Smolkov, 2006; Gonçalves et al., 2013). By using more creativity tools (e.g. such as analogies, brainstorming, mind-mapping) and by sustaining efforts to generate ideas towards the end of a design project, a variety of unique design ideas can be generated (Bourgeois-Bougrine et al., 2017). Design ideas are also influenced by the active reflection or unreflective inquiry that a student undertakes in relation to the problem space of a design problem (Christensen et al., 2016). Taking these aspects into consideration, focus is directed toward examining the engagement of students in their design tasks in terms of their question–asking tendencies, comprehensiveness of considerations and design activities related to the design task at hand. These aspects are expected to influence the design outputs that are produced by students.

Design outputs have been assessed for the level of creativity. Concurrence on methods of measuring creativity, although not conclusive, have been attempted (Gonçalves, 2016). For example, quality measures from *Decision Support Systems* (DSS) research have been used to consolidate criteria for evaluating creative outputs (MacCrimmon & Wagner, 1994). The criteria recommended consists of five different scales that include novelty, non-obviousness, workability, relevance and thoroughness. These scales were then further developed when the *novelty*, *quality* and *creativity* of ideas were separately defined (Dean et al., 2006).

A novel idea was defined as "...rare, unusual or uncommon...[where it can be] judged in relation to how uncommon it is in the mind of the idea rater or how uncommon it is in the overall population of ideas (Dean et al., 2006, p. 648)". On the other hand, a *quality idea* was defined as an idea that applies to the problem at hand, is an effective and also implementable solution. Finally, a *creative idea* is defined as one that satisfies both novel and quality idea criteria. A *creative idea* fulfils four characteristics: (1) is *novel* and also fulfils three different dimensions of quality: (2) *workability*; (3) *relevance*; and (4) *specificity*. The *novelty* of an idea can be measured through two sub-dimensions: *originality* and *paradigm relatedness* (Dean et al., 2006; Verhaegen et al., 2013). The former relates to the degree to which an idea is not only rare but is also ingenious, imaginative or surprising. The latter refers to the degree to which an idea preserves a paradigm i.e., adapts similar elements of a paradigm, or modifies a paradigm i.e. extends, redesigns or radically transforms elements of a paradigm. The *workability* or *usefulness* (Pluckeret al., 2004; Woodman et al., 2016) of an idea is related to how easily an idea can be implemented while not violating any known constraints. Two sub-dimensions are measured on this aspect: *acceptability* (the degree to which an idea is socially, legally, or politically acceptable) and *implementability* (the degree to which an idea can easily be implemented.

The *relevance* of an idea is related to the *applicability* and *effectiveness* of the idea to the stated problem (Dean et al., 2006; Verhaegen et al., 2013). *Applicability* refers to how clearly the idea applies to the stated problem while *effectiveness* refers to the degree to which the idea will solve the stated problem. The *specificity* of an idea refers to whether the idea has been worked out clearly and in detail. This dimension is also referred to as *thoroughness* (MacCrimmon & Wagner, 1994). *Specificity* can be measured on three sub dimensions: (1) *implicational effectiveness*, (2) *completeness*, and (3) *clarity. Implicational effectiveness* refers to the clarity of articulation regarding the relationship between the recommended action and expected outcome. *Completeness* refers to the number of sub components and breadth of coverage that an idea can be decomposed into. *Clarity* refers to how clearly an idea is communicated with regard to grammar and word usage.

Creativity scales are commonly used in varying and non-uniform ways leading to inconsistent and incomparable findings (Dean et al., 2006). The generality or specificity of contexts that are introduced in design problems also play a role in the plausibility of creativity assessment. The evaluation of quality as compared to novelty is more plausible for design problems that involve specific contexts (Gonçalves, 2016). Keeping these aspects in mind, the interpretation of novel, quality and creative ideas need to be clearly delineated. In addition, clear reporting of the appropriate scales assessed needs to be presented in order to enable comparability of findings across future studies (Dean et al., 2006).

2.3.3 Factors influencing outcomes

Deep-transforming learning conceptions are linked to better outcomes in learning (Christie, 2000; Marton & Säaljö, 1976). The learning approach that students adopt is also expected to influence their achievement (Entwistle & Ramsden, 2015). The deployment of surface learning approaches with intention to reproduce information is expected to hinder the progress of greater levels of understanding (Marton & Säaljö,

1976). However, when students adopt both surface and strategic learning approaches, it is possible that they will achieve high grades, though high grades can be achieved whether students attain understanding, or not (Entwistle, 2001). In essence, researchers suggest that low inclinations toward the surface approach (Entwistle, 1999) and high inclinations toward the deep (Christie, 2000; Grant & Dweck, 2003; Miller et al., 1996; Pintrich & de Groot, 1990; Stump et al., 2009) and strategic learning approaches (Rodriguez, 2009) contribute to better achievement. Additionally, preference for *teacher-content oriented* instruction proves unfavourable to learning (Hativa & Birenbaum, 2000). However, students' learning approaches and preferences should not necessarily be assumed as good or bad. Salient contextual factors should be taken into account during its interpretation (Dinsmore & Alexander, 2012).

The manner in which students view their own intelligence influences the approach students adopt in learning (Dahl et al., 2005; Stump et al., 2009; Yan et al., 2014). Additionally, an individuals' view of their own intelligence influences the levels of achievement that they attain (Bråten & Olaussen, 1998; Burnette et al., 2013; Huang, 2011; Yan et al., 2014). This is because the views that they hold, regarding their own intelligence, influences their proceeding behavioural responses in learning. Individuals holding the entity view of own intelligence are adverse toward positive i.e., deep learning approaches that include inclinations towards collaboration and knowledge building activities (Dahl et al., 2005; Stump et al., 2009). Additionally, individuals that hold an *incremental* view of their own intelligence are inherently motivated to learn and have been found to be more likely to re-study old course materials and re-visit prior information that they come across in their studies (Yan et al., 2014). Incremental views of one's own intelligence are related to resilience in facing challenges, resulting in higher achievement and greater course completion rates (Yeager & Dweck, 2012). This view allows for achievement to be predicted over time, particularly in difficult conditions (Dweck, 2015). This indicates that students who believe their intelligence as malleable are more likely to overcome the complexities inherent in learning design and achieve better outcomes.

Several studies indicate that high self-efficacy leads to better achievement (Grant & Dweck, 2003; Miller et al., 1996; Pintrich & de Groot, 1990). However, high self-efficacy coupled with over-optimism can also lead to the deterioration of subsequent performance (Christensen et al., 2002). Students' subsequent performance can improve when they conservatively predict their level of self-efficacy as below their achieved outcomes, that is, if they also engage in self-regulatory behaviour to improve future outcomes (Christensen et al., 2002). This suggests that careful interpretation of self-efficacy scores should be conducted, taking into account other possibly related factors. Students' evaluation of their self-efficacy should also be interpreted with context dependant factors in mind. Additionally, a high tolerance for ambiguity

enables individuals to overcome barriers and to adapt, by changing plans flexibly in problem solving activities (Binkley et al., 2012). This indicates that students' tolerance for ambiguity also plays a role in mediating their behaviour in complex design learning situations.

2.4 Conclusion

Individual differences that prevail within students play a role in influencing their approaches in learning (Entwistle & Ramsden, 2015). In this chapter, an adapted conceptual framework that includes several distinct variables is proposed to investigate and, furthermore, to test an aspect of students' individual differences: their mind-set in design learning. A more comprehensive view of students' interpretations and responses in learning design is focussed upon in order to understand: (1) the prevalent mind-sets that students have towards design learning and how they can be measured; and (2) what other factors are characteristic of these mind-set types. This will eventually contribute to the identification and testing of the collective mind-sets of students in a design learning context. Existing literature related to variables that are proposed in the adapted conceptual framework were reviewed and discussed. This review provides some fundamental guidelines for the investigation and testing of mind-sets in design learning in the following studies of this thesis.

Firstly, certain patterns of interactions within variables on the presage level can be expected. For example, the conceptions that a student holds regarding learning is related to the learning approach that they would prefer to adopt (Dinsmore & Alexander, 2012; Entwistle & Ramsden, 2015; Sadler-Smith, 2010). Students holding surface learning conceptions are more likely to adopt surface learning approaches, while students with deep learning conceptions are more likely to incline towards deep learning approaches (Rossum & Schenk, 1984; Dart et al., 2000; Purdie & Hattie, 2002; Chiou et al., 2012). Additionally, these learning conceptions and approaches are connected to the type of instructions that students would prefer to engage with throughout their learning. Students who adopt different approaches toward learning are inclined to prefer different types of instruction, favouring instruction that fulfils their particular needs in learning (Hativa & Birenbaum, 2000). Students that incline toward the deep learning approach will prefer teachers that will facilitate their personal development and understanding, while students that incline toward the surface learning approach will prefer instruction that focusses on the transmission of information (Entwistle, 1999; Entwistle & Smith, 2002).

Secondly, the view that students hold regarding their own intelligence are related to their adoption of distinct learning approaches, which in turn influences the quality of their outcomes (Bråten & Olaussen, 1998; Dweck, 2015; Zeng, Hou, & Peng, 2016).

When students view their own intelligence as a malleable trait i.e., *incremental view* they are more likely to incline toward deep learning approaches. On the other hand, when they view their own intelligence as a fixed and unchangeable trait i.e., *entity* view they are more likely to incline toward the surface learning approach (Bråten & Olaussen, 1998; Mangels et al., 2006; Yeager & Dweck, 2012). Students who are pessimistic of their own performance i.e., perceive that their self-efficacy is lower compared to their actual performance, adopt positive regulatory behaviour in learning that is characteristic of the deep learning approach (Christensen et al., 2002). These students are expected to have lower tolerance for ambiguity as individuals that have a higher tolerance for ambiguity show higher self-efficacy levels, compared to individuals' that have lower tolerance for ambiguity (Endres et al., 2015). Individuals with low tolerance for ambiguity are expected to avoid ambiguous situations (Furnham & Ribchester, 1995). In design learning, the manner in which students react, in their attempt to avoid ambiguity, will play a big role to the success of their learning. It can be conjectured that one can avoid ambiguity by evading or clarifying the situation, and it is this response that influences the activities that students engage in throughout their learning.

The perceptions that students have, regarding learning and their own intelligence and capabilities, influences their preferences and behavioural responses in learning situations. The interactions between these variables, on the *presage level*, are expected to facilitate the investigation of mind-sets that prevail within students in design learning. In turn these individual differences are expected to influence the behavioural responses and quality of outcomes produced by students. In the following chapters, three studies that examine different parts of the adapted conceptual framework are presented.

In Chapter 3, the first study examines three variables of the *student factors* on the *presage level.* These variables relate to the learning conception, preferred learning approaches and preference for instruction of design students. Based on the findings of this study, two distinct *design learning mind-set* categories are developed and presented in this chapter. In Chapter 4, all variables in the *student factors* of the *presage level* and its relation to outcomes on the *product level* that was investigated in the second study are presented. Further findings to describe the characteristics of the different mind–sets are discussed. In Chapter 5, variables on all three levels of the conceptual framework that is examined in the third study are presented. Compelling findings related to the characterization of the different mind-set types and its influence on outcomes on the *product level* are discussed. At the outset, how can mind-sets in design learning be described? This is investigated and discussed in the following chapter.

3

Discerning and opportunistic mind-sets in design learning

In the previous chapter, factors underlying mind-sets in design learning were presented. To examine these ideas, three variables within the presage level of Biggs' 3P model (as discussed in Section 2.3) are examined in this chapter. The three variables pertain to student-related factors. They encompass students' learning conception (the internal aspect of mind-set); and preference for instruction and preferred learning approach (the external aspects of mind-set). Data was collected using the ASSIST Questionnaire (Entwistle et al., 1997) and semi-structured interviews. Qualitative findings from the semi-structured interviews were used to provide further insights and complement results yielded from the quantitative data. Based on the results, two categories of mindsets in design learning are proposed: the discerning and opportunistic mind-sets. Distinguishing characteristics related to the two mind-sets are presented.

3.1 Research aims, hypotheses and questions

Following the discussions in the previous chapter, the prime interest of this research lies in examining the nature of mind-sets of design students that influence their learning in design. Thus, the main research question considered in this study is framed as follows:

What is the nature of mind-sets in design students?

It is expected that the nature of mind-set in design students can be examined by firstly exploring their learning conceptions, which are related to their mental state i.e., an internal aspect of their mind-set. This mental state, in turn, determines the responses that they bring forth in their design learning activities. It is assumed that their learning conceptions influence their preferences for instruction and learning

approaches (the external aspects of mind-set). Therefore, the influence of students' learning conceptions on their preferences for instruction and learning approaches is also examined. These three variables lie on the presage level of Bigg's 3P model (see Figure 2.2 in Chapter 2).

Learning conceptions are related to how students perceive knowledge structures (see Chiou et al., 2012; Marton & Säaljö, 1976; Purdie & Hattie, 2002; Rossum & Schenk, 1984). Knowledge structures can be perceived as something to be reproduced (surface-reproducing conception) or transformed (deep-transforming conception) (Marton & Säaljö, 1976; Rossum & Schenk, 1984; Purdie et al., 1996; Purdie & Hattie, 2002). *Preference for instruction* refers to the style of teaching and the type of course and materials that a student would prefer to interact with. On the two extremes, it is expected that design students that incline toward the opportunistic mind-set will favour teachers and course material that emphasizes the transmission of information, while students that incline toward the discerning mind-set are concerned with developing their personal understanding (Entwistle, 1999; Hativa & Birenbaum, 2000; Van Rossum et al., 1985). *Learning approaches* refer to the "level of engagement or depth of processing [that a student applies] during learning" (Cassidy, 2004, p. 433).

Learning approaches can be categorised into deep, surface and strategic learning approaches. The deep learning approach is related to actively engaging in linking, integrating and questioning concepts meaningfully; looking for patterns and underlying principles; and examining logic and argument critically (Marton & Säaljö, 1976; Dolmans et al., 2015; Jackson, 2012). The surface learning approach is related to students' fear of failure and intention to cope with course requirements. In these situations, students memorise facts and procedures in a routine manner, study without reflection on purpose or strategy, and feel undue pressure and worry about work (Entwistle & Marton, 1989; Biggs et al., 2001; Jackson, 2012). The strategic learning approach is related to students' intention to obtain the highest possible grades. Students adopting this learning approach tend to be aware of assessment demands, effectively manage their resources and rely on organised studying to fulfil anticipated demands (Biggs et al., 2001; Entwistle, 1999).

It is expected that when students hold a surface conception toward learning, they will incline toward instruction that emphasizes the transmission of information, and they will prefer a surface approach toward learning such as memorising facts and information. It is also expected that when students hold a deep conception toward learning, they will incline toward instruction that emphasizes the development of their personal understanding, and they will prefer a deep approach toward learning, such as actively seeking meaning between concepts and relating ideas. It can be expected that differences in learning conceptions will also influence design students.

To answer the main research question stated previously, and test the hypothesized relationships between these variables, the following research sub-questions will be addressed:

1. What are the learning conception, preference for instruction and learning approach that design students incline toward?

2. How do the learning conceptions of design students relate to their preference for instruction and learning approach?

3.2 Methods

The use of multi-method approaches such as combining quantitative and qualitative evidence to draw conclusions and build rationale, has been recommended in the evaluation of empirical data (Johnson & Onwuegbuzie, 2004). The use of different data sources can be used to improve the validity of the results as "independent measures of the same objective" can be converged as a check on validity (Cohen et al., 2007 p. 143). In this study, these recommendations are implemented by collecting quantitative data from the Approaches and Study Skills Inventory for Students (ASSIST) (Entwistle, 1999), and qualitative data from semi-structured interviews. The three variables assessed in the ASSIST questionnaire include students' learning conception, which encompasses the internal aspect of mind-set; and preference for instruction and preferred learning approach, encompassing the external aspects of mind-set. The quantitative data, derived from the ASSIST questionnaire, forms the main data point of this study. It provides an indication of the mind-sets that design students adopt in design learning. The qualitative data derived from the semistructured interviews was collected as an additional measure to validate the quantitative data.

3.2.1 Participants

The main purpose of this study was to identify the mind-sets of students that are involved in design learning. Thus, considerable emphasis was given to collecting data from students that were enrolled in design courses. The ASSIST questionnaire was distributed to 191 undergraduate students from industrial, product and automotive design courses. Responses from all 191 participants were received. 146 of the students were from three different universities in Malaysia while 45 of them were from a university in the Netherlands. 106 of the participants were male, 81 were female, and four participants did not report their gender. The age of participants ranged between 18 to 25 years old (M=21.67, SD=1.48).

The semi-structured interviews were conducted with 12 out of the 191 participants from two of the universities in Malaysia. The design programmes of these two

universities differ from one another, where one is a technical design programme while the other focusses on the arts. Six participants were interviewed from each university, with three participants in their first year and the other three in the final year of their studies. Four of the participants were male while the remaining eight were female. The participants were selected using the "selective sampling" technique where respondents are selected based on prior rational criteria (Coyne, 1997). These criteria relate to the difference in years of study and how participants currently performed in their class. Participants who had low, mediocre and high performance from each year were selected based on recommendations from their teachers. The range of students are expected to provide a more generalizable range of insights to the learning conceptions, preference for instruction and learning approaches of the design students.

3.2.2 Quantitative data

Data collected using the ASSIST consists of 66-items, assessed on a 5-point Likert scale, that were used in its original form. This was done to preserve the validity and reliability of the instrument (Korb, 2013). These items assess three variables related to participants' learning conception (6 items), participants' preference for instruction (8 items), and their preferred learning approach (52 items) (see Appendix A).

To examine the learning conception, preference for instruction and learning approach that design students incline toward (RQ1) and how these variables relate to the design learning mind-set of students (RQ 2), these variables are first examined using separate *Principal-component analyses* with *Varimax rotation* (Field, 2013). This analysis was conducted to identify the structure of the learning conceptions, preferences of instruction and preferred learning approaches variables as indicated by the design students (Field, 2013). Next, the resulting scales for the three variables are tested using Cronbach's Alpha, α to test the reliability of the items within each scale (see Appendix B).

Items were removed from the learning approach scales to increase its internal reliability (Field, 2013). In other words, only items that "consistently reflect[s] the construct that it is measuring" are retained (Field, 2013, p. 706). The reliability of the three *learning approach* scales (*deep, strategic* and *surface*) and the *deep-transforming learning conception* scales range from marginally to highly reliable values with Cronbach's α , ranged from 0.60 to 0.79. The remaining *preference for instruction* scales (*transmitting information* and *supporting understanding*) and *surface-reproducing learning conception* scales yielded reliability values of just under 0.60. These values indicate lower reliability scores. Although this shows that the related items are less closely linked as a group, the value of Cronbach's α is also dependent on the number of items in the scales (Field, 2013). On the whole, although higher α -

values would have been preferred, the scales are used in the subsequent analysis, due to the given circumstances. In light of the moderately low α -values, and as an additional measure of validity, items in each scale were carefully scrutinised and discussed for logical consistency with two other research experts with more than 30 years of experience in the field of research in psychology and design. See Appendix B for the Cronbach's alpha of each scale, its original number of items and the final number of items retained.

Items in each scale were next computed for further analysis. To examine how these variables relate to each other, the correlations between these scales were tested using Spearman's correlational analysis (Field, 2013). Through this test, the author assumes that she can examine what these relations mean for the design learning mind-set of students, as hypothesized in Section 3, and assumed in Section 2.3.1.

As indicated in Section 2.3.1.3, it is assumed that the internal aspect of mind-sets can be examined through the learning conception that a student holds, while the external aspect of mind-sets can be examined through the type of instruction and learning approach that students would prefer. To test this assumption, participants were first clustered according to their responses on the deep learning conception scale (*M*=4.05, *SD*=0.71, *Median*=4.33). Participants that indicated scores above the median value were grouped as belonging to a high-deep learning conception (high DTLC) cluster (*M*=4.57, *SD*=0.29). Participants that indicated scores below the median value were grouped to belong to a low-deep learning conception (low DTLC) cluster (*M*=3.52, *SD*=0.61). Next, these two clusters were compared to the external aspects of mindsets i.e., their preferences for instruction and preferred learning approaches.

Results yielded from the questionnaire forms the quantitative data used to interpret mind-sets in design learning. In addition to the quantitative data, qualitative findings from the semi-structured interviews are used to validate the quantitative findings. Transcriptions from the semi-structured interviews were used to cross-validate the quantitative results and enabled a systematic description of the mind-set categories in design learning. This was done using the thematic coding method of analysis (Miles, Huberman, & Saldana, 1994; Saldana, 2009). Details of the qualitative data collection and analysis are discussed in the following section.

3.2.3 Qualitative data

An interview guideline was prepared for the semi-structured interviews. This was done to ensure that the "same basic lines of inquiry" could be conducted for each participant interviewed (Patton, 2002, p. 343) (see Appendix C for the interview guideline). Questions in the interview guideline were asked to provide further insights on participants' responses on the ASSIST questionnaire. Questions were

formulated to include learning situations such as their design studio-based courses and courses related to other subjects. Questions were sequenced to inquire firstly, about participants' present and subsequently, about their past learning experiences. This assists the transition from simpler to more difficult questions as it is easier for respondents to answer questions that are related to the present, compared to the past (Patton, 2002, p. 353). Additionally, questions were kept open-ended. Leading questions were avoided to encourage participants to candidly describe their experiences. Probing questions were also included to assist in obtaining clarification and more in-depth information (Charmaz, 2006b). Participants were given the freedom to talk about situations in any other courses that contributed to their learning in a meaningful way. This enables observable behaviours as well as interpretive responses of the participants' to be drawn (Patton, 2002).

The interview audios amounted to a total of 778 minutes and were fully transcribed on a verbatim basis. The transcriptions of the semi-structured interviews form substantial verbatim material that provide a solid basis to corroborate claims related to mind-sets in design learning (Charmaz, 2006a). Additionally, it allows for thorough search and recognition of each participant's points of view, and also for comparisons between participants (see Patton, 2002). The transcriptions were examined in two cycles of coding. Codes in the first and second cycle were made by the author and subsequently cross-checked by an expert with approximately 30 years of experience in the area of protocol analysis.

The first cycle of coding was conducted using the *incident-by-incident* method and *process coding* technique to assign codes to data chunks in the transcript (Saldana, 2009). 772 codes were generated in this cycle of coding. Observable and conceptual actions in the transcriptions were coded with gerunds ("-ing" words) to achieve a strong sense of action and sequence (Miles et al., 1994). This is referred to as the *process coding* technique where participants' actions and perceptions of learning in design are extracted (Charmaz, 2006b). By using this method, the activity of coding is directed by the development of ideas and information encountered throughout the transcriptions (Charmaz, 2006b, p. 51). For example, the following quotation was coded as "*extracting knowledge for personal adaptation*":

Quotation 1

I think, for my final year project, I understand what I did before because... I think... and like, I will look at other projects, and I will also listen (during critique sessions) then I can see the whole thing... then I start to understand the previous project, then I understand what I need to do (in my project)... (Respondent ID: 5)

The next quotations were coded as "*executing assignments based on lecturers*' *dictation*":

Quotation 2

Me...? What the lecturer tells me to do, I'll do that because... that is for the future... (Respondent ID: 2)

Quotation 3

This lecturer... he likes ideas that are based on 3D... so we will make lots of mock-ups... he definitely likes things in 3D compared to sketches... up to this stage, we are making actual size mock-ups... after that, only then... will proceed to make the model... when he says that its ok to... (Respondent ID: 10)

In the second cycle of coding, codes generated in the *First Cycle* are amalgamated into "more meaningful and parsimonious units of analysis" which are referred to as *pattern codes* (Miles et al., 1994, p. 90). The scales of the ASSIST questionnaire were referenced in the process of creating these *pattern codes*. New pattern codes were generated when codes from the first cycle did not fit into any of the scales that were referenced from the ASSIST questionnaire. For example, some codes (e.g. *extracting knowledge for personal adaptation;* and *seeing connections between what is being done in classes and how it fits as a whole into the project itself*) were merged into a *pattern code* named *Deep learning: Relating ideas.* The code "relating ideas" is a scale of deep learning that can be found in current literature (Entwistle, 2001; Entwistle et al., 1997). On the other hand, some codes (e.g. *executing assignments based on lecturers' dictation; correcting objectives of project in a contrived manner; fulfilling lecturers' preferences*) were merged into the *pattern code* named *Surface learning: Taking convenient measures.* See Appendix D for the code list generated in the second cycle.

As a means of generating meaning, plausible interconnections that "makes good sense, and fits" within the pattern codes were firstly regarded as initial impressions (Miles et al., 1994, p. 244). These initial impressions are next verified by tallying the frequencies of the pattern codes to avoid bias (Miles et al., 1994). The interactions of pattern codes generated in the second cycle, which similarly relates to the preference for instruction and learning approach variables as in the quantitative data, were used to designate the names of the two design learning mind-sets and also describe their fundamental differences. The interactions between the pattern codes are mapped out and visualized in a *network display* (Miles et al., 1994) (See Figure 3.1).

3.3 Results

The results of this study firstly address the learning conception, preference for instruction and learning approach that design students incline toward (RQ 1). Secondly, the results address how these three variables relate to the design learning mind-set of design students (RQ 2). In doing so, both the results of the qualitative and quantitative data points are taken into account. This is especially so for students' preference for instruction and learning approaches, but not for their learning conception. Results related to students' learning conception are derived only from the main quantitative data point, as data from the semi-structured interviews were not available.

3.3.1 Learning conception (RQ 1)

From literature, *learning conceptions* are assessed on two scales: the *deep-transforming* or *surface-reproducing* scale (see Section 2.3.1.1). The *deep-transforming* scale is related to perceiving knowledge structures as something to be transformed, while the *surface-reproducing* scale is related to perceiving knowledge structures as something to be reproduced (Marton & Säaljö, 1976; Rossum & Schenk, 1984; Purdie et al., 1996; Purdie & Hattie, 2002). From the principal-component analysis method with Varimax rotation, the two scales as indicated in literature could also be found in this study (see Appendix F). Five out of six of the items remained, consistent with Entwistle et al's. (1997) proposition. The five items yielded high factor loadings of above 0.40, indicating strong associations between the items that loaded on each factor. The Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin measure of sampling adequacy was above 0.6 at KMO=.64. The five items loaded onto two factors that account for 35.04% and 24.09% of the total variance.

Three items loaded on Factor 1 are related to the *deep-transforming learning* conception (M=4.05, SD=0.71). The three items include: (1) Seeing things in a different and more meaningful way; (2) Understanding new material for yourself; and (3) Developing as a person. The two items that loaded onto Factor 2 are related to the surface-reproducing learning conception (M=3.87, SD=0.68). The two items include: (1) Making sure you remember things well; and (2) Building up knowledge by acquiring facts and information. As only two items were clustered onto Factor 2, a Spearman's correlational analysis was also conducted to verify the relation between the two items. This analysis indicates that the two items were significantly and positively correlated to one another, r(190)=.19, p=.009. This means that as students indicated higher agreement toward the notion that knowledge is related to making sure that they remember things well, they also indicated higher agreement toward the notion that knowledge is built up by acquiring facts and information.

3.3.2 Preference for Instruction (RQ 1)

From the literature, *preference for instruction* is assessed on the *supporting understanding* (PFI: U) or *transmitting information* (PFI: I) scales (see Section 2.3.1.3). From the principal-component analysis method with Varimax rotation, the two scales as indicated in literature could also be found in this study (see Appendix G). The eight items yielded high factor loadings of above 0.40, indicating strong associations between the items that loaded on each factor. The Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin measure of sampling adequacy was above 0.6 at KMO=.63. The five items loaded onto two factors that account for 23.77% and 19.61% of the total variance.

Four items loaded on Factor 1 are related to preference for instruction that focusses on transmission of information (M=3.57, SD=0.88). The four items include: (1) Courses in which it's made very clear just which books we have to read; (2) Lecturers who tell us exactly what to put down in our notes; (3) Exams or tests which need only the material provided in our lecture notes; and (4) Books which give you definite facts and information which can easily be learned. Four items loaded on Factor 2 are related to preference for instruction that supports the development of personal understanding (M=3.87, SD=0.71). The four items include: (1) Exams which allow me to show that I've thought about the course material for myself.; (2) Books which challenge you and provide explanations which go beyond the lectures.; (3) Lecturers who encourage us to think for ourselves and show us how they themselves think; and (4) Courses where we're encouraged to read around the subject a lot for ourselves.

From the second cycle coding of the qualitative data, further insight related to preferences for instruction can also be found. Participants had indicated instances where their teachers focussed on transmitting information. From these instances, it can be observed that the transmission of information may entail situations where design teachers would (1) dictate the design directions that participants should pursue in their design projects; (2) focus on tangible outcomes generated by participants; and (3) depart knowledge in an obscure way. Dictation of design directions is related to instances where the decision making-processes in designing are made by the design teachers. An example of a quotation extracted from a participant related to the pattern code "dictating design direction" is as follows:

Quotation 4

"...the lecturer will explain what we need to do, then we will conduct our research... once the research is complete, we will present it to the lecturer... depending on whether the lecturer likes it or not, we will design it... if the lecturer accepts everything, right... we will proceed to make the thing..." (Respondent ID: 9)

Focus on outcomes is related to teachers placing importance on tangible outputs such as sketches, prototypes, visually interesting designs, and required formats and deliverables. An example of a quotation extracted from a participant related to the pattern code *"focus on outcome"* is as follows:

Quotation 5

"...what the lecturer thinks is interesting... the design is interesting, the lecturer will immediately accept, if the design is not interesting, the lecturer will not accept... " (Respondent ID: 9)

Departing knowledge in an obscure way is related to conveying knowledge in an unclear or unsystematic manner, which leads to students receiving unintegrated and separate pieces of information. An example of quotations extracted from participants related to the pattern code *"departing knowledge in an obscure way"* is as follows:

Quotation 6

"... the lecturer wants to explain something to us... but we don't get it... we're still lost... so most students are lost compared to proceeding forwards... " (Respondent ID: 4)

Quotation 7

"...it's different with the normal subject... like I also don't know what need to be teach because... like it's not systematic like... today, we want to learn this, learn that... it's like very random, the process..." (Respondent ID: 5)

(nespondent iD: 5)

Participants had also indicated instances where their teachers focussed on supporting their personal development and understanding. From these instances, participants indicated that they draw support from their teachers when their teachers (1) conveyed ideas coherently; (2) monitored participants' understanding throughout their course; and (3) promoted reflection in their interaction. Participants' indicated that their understanding toward a topic area increases when their teachers conveyed their ideas coherently. One such quotation that illustrates the pattern code *"conveys ideas coherently"* is as follows:

Quotation 8

"...then I learnt a lot from the critique sessions, when we discussed about my friend's project... although our projects are different, but I learn from everybody's project... there are more examples... like it's easier to understand what the design process is about... overall..."

(Respondent ID: 5)

When their teachers stopped to check whether students understood, these instances were coded as *"monitors understanding"*. An example of a quotation denoting this pattern code is as follows:

Quotation 9

"...each time before giving us the assignment, the lecturer will ask whether we understand how to go about... if we're all quiet, it means that it's the first time we've heard about it... so, when the lecturer knows that it's new for us, he will explain how we should do it..." (Respondent ID: 11)

When their teachers propagate reflection through questioning or encouraging exploration, these instances were coded as *"monitors understanding"*. An example of a quotation denoting this pattern code is as follows: (see Appendix D for the codebook).

Quotation 10

"...for example, when I present my project, the lecturer questioned, what did I mean by small, medium or large... for the event... and what programmes were they doing on the stage... ? I didn't look into that aspect... that was one thing that helped... the lecturer suggested to look at this ,this ,this..."

(Respondent ID: 4)

3.3.3 Learning approaches (RQ 1)

From the literature, *learning approaches* are assessed on three scales: the *deep*, *strategic* and *surface* learning approaches (see Section 2.3.1.2). From the principalcomponent analysis method with Varimax rotation, the three scales as indicated in literature could also be found in this study. A fixed number of three factors were used to categorise the *deep*, *surface* and *strategic learning approaches* as suggested by Entwistle et al. (1997). Extraction based on eigenvalues larger than 1 were used. The Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin measure verified the sampling adequacy for the analysis, KMO=.77. This value indicates that the three factors are distinct and reliable as it is well above the acceptable limit of .5 (Field, 2013). The three factors accounted for 12.18%, 10.99% and 10.62% of the total variance respectively (see Appendix E).

Items that loaded on Factor 1 are related to the *deep learning approach* (M=3.90, SD=0.48). These items are related to students' interest in ideas that they encounter in learning, their preference for relating ideas, seeking meaning and using evidence in their learning activities together. Additionally, items indicating students' inclination to do well in courses, monitor the effectiveness of the work that they have done, and their alertness toward assessment demands are also loaded onto Factor 1. Items that loaded on Factor 2 are related to the *strategic learning approach* (M=3.27, SD=0.78). These items are related to students' inclination to organise their studying and

managing their time for study-related activities. Items that are loaded onto Factor 3 are related to the *surface learning approach* (M=3.26, SD=0.66). These items indicate participants' lack of purpose in doing the course they are enrolled in, their tendencies to engage in unrelated memorising activities, and their inclinations to be bounded by their course syllabus.

From the second cycle coding of the qualitative data, further insight related to learning approaches in design learning can be found. Deep learning approaches that participants conveyed about similarly illustrated their tendencies to be interested in ideas, to relate ideas, seek meaning and use evidence in their learning activities (as found in the quantitative data). However, apart from those aspects, that is characteristic of the deep learning approach, participants also mentioned that they would overcome or rise up to the task, when faced with challenging situations. Similar instances such as this, were regarded as a deep learning approach toward learning, and assigned as the pattern code *facing challenges* (see Quotation 11 and Quotation 12).

Quotation 11

"I will... like try and error... Try out everything possible. And then try to see whether it will... look nice in this position, this arrangement, if it's not, then I will try it in another arrangement. Because this... we need to try it on our own." (Respondent ID:1)

Quotation 12

Hmmm.... because our lecturer is always letting us experience [things for] ourselves. He won't like.... if you want to try, he will say, go ahead... then if we make any mistakes, we can straight away learn from it. So, I don't know, I do like that kind of... like we experience our self so that we can like remember it. Really, really remember it... And to me, that's interesting... (Respondent ID: 1)

The surface learning approach that participants mentioned in the semi –structured interviews distinctly relate to three aspects. This includes their tendencies to (1) take convenient measures; (2) use limited evidence in their design projects; and (3) perform routine actions. When participants conveyed that they would take convenient measures, this refers to their tendencies to engage in actions that would compromise deeper levels of processing in order to decrease their work load (see Quotation 13). When participants indicated that they would use limited evidence, this refers to their tendencies to utilize information or methods that are easily accessible to them, without considering imperative requirements as required by task/situation (see Quotation 14). When participants indicated their tendencies to perform routine actions, this relates to their execution of customary actions that includes memorising, executing instructions or actions with limited understanding (see Quotation 15).

Quotation 13

"...I was doing the research on the tree....so if I changed the subject matter, I would have to conduct all of my research all over again... so I changed to [looking at] its fruit, I didn't take the branch [anymore]... I used the branch for the lighting project and the fruit for the furniture project... so I don't have too much research that I needed to do as I had already researched about the tree..."

(Respondent ID: 10)

Quotation 14

"...I would think of my own logics, what I am fond of... I pick the living room for the family so that my own family can use it later on... besides, compared to the toilet and kitchen, users don't use the space as frequently as they do the living rooms... so there is more opportunity for me to research for problems... "
(Respondent ID: 11)

Quotation 15

"...we will need to complete last week's assignments... for example, if the lecturer asks to make thumbnails or development, so we will do a little bit of development... so before the class, we will prepare the development that we've done... so during class, show it to the lecturer and get approval to proceed... "

(Respondent ID: 12)

3.3.4 Inter-relations between the learning conceptions, preference for instruction and learning approaches of design students (RQ 2)

The inter-relations between the three variables are examined using the Spearman's correlational analysis. Results of this analysis provide evidence that the *surface-reproducing learning conception* is related to participants' preference of instruction that focusses on the transmission of information, r(190)=.72, p<0.01 and the *surface learning approach*, r(186)=.32, p<0.01, as hypothesized in Section 3.

This analysis also shows that the *deep-transforming learning conception* is related to the *deep learning approach*, r(187)=.36, p<0.01, as hypothesized in Section 3. However, it does not show the hypothesized relation between the *deep-transforming learning conception* and preference for instruction that supports the development of personal understanding. Conversely, no significant correlations can be found between the *surface-reproducing learning conception* and *deep learning approach*, and between the *deep-transforming learning conception* to the *surface learning approach*. This strongly supports the notion that the *surface-reproducing learning conception* is exclusively related to the *surface learning approach*, while the *deep-transforming learning conception* is exclusively related to the *surface learning approach* (see Table 3.1).

Interesting to note is that the learning approach scales are positively correlated to one another. A positive correlation was found between the *deep learning approach* to the *strategic learning approach*, r(186)=.40, p<0.001. Additionally, a positive correlation was found between the *surface learning approach* and the *strategic learning approach*, r(190)=.29, p<0.001. A positive correlation was also found between the *deep learning approach* to the *surface learning approach*, r(184)=.38, p<0.001. The strategic learning approach is not significantly correlated to any of the learning conception scales. However, the strategic learning approach is positively correlated to preference for instruction that supports the development of personal understanding. This means that preference for the strategic learning approach is not related to students' internal mental disposition, unlike the deep and surface learning approaches.

	1	2	3	4	5	6
Learning approach						
1. Deep	-					
2. Strategic	.40***	-				
3. Surface	.35***	.29***	-			
Learning conception						
4. Surface-reproducing	.09	.04	.32**	-		
5. Deep-transforming	.36**	.07	.03	10	-	
Preference for instruction						
6. Transmitting information	.11	.02	.36**	.72**	09	-
7. Supporting understanding	.26**	.20**	.14	.05	.14	.08

Table 3.1 Correlations between learning approaches, learning conceptions and preference for instruction from ASSIST

**Correlation is significant at p< 0.01.

***Correlation is significant at p< 0.001.

These results also indicate that combinatory preferences of learning approaches are possible within participants, which provide good insights for interpreting mind-sets in design learning. For example, it can now be noted that two external responses are observable within the participants. Firstly, these participants strategically manage their time and study activities to either relate ideas, seek meaning and use evidence (deep learning approach), or to engage in unrelated memorising activities (surface learning approach). Secondly, and more importantly, the stronger inclination toward either the deep or surface learning approach within these participants are the relevant factors toward interpreting the different mind-sets in design learning.

Similar relationships between the three learning approaches can be observed within the semi-structured interviews. Participants 4, 5, 6 and 12 related highest frequencies of instances where they engaged in both deep and surface learning activities. Participants 1 and 3 related highest frequencies of instances where they engaged in both deep and strategic learning activities. Participants 2, 7, 8, 9, 10 and 11 related highest frequencies of instances where they engaged in both surface and strategic learning activities (see Appendix H). To illustrate how combinations of learning approaches can come to occur within participants, an example of extracts of the interview transcripts from one participant is presented as follows. Participant 5 related 57 instances that were related to the deep learning approach, 6 instances related to the strategic learning approach and 16 instances related to the surface learning approach (see Appendix H). During the interview, Participant 5 conveyed an instance of the deep learning approach where she displayed the tendency to relate ideas (see Quotation 16). She also indicated an instance where she displayed the tendency to organise her studying. This is related to the strategic learning approach (see Quotation 17). Participant 5 also conveyed the tendency to memorise, which is an instance of the surface learning approach (see Quotation 18).

Quotation 16

" What I think is important, I [will] take down what he [the design teacher] says, what he writes and also what he says, that I think is important. Sometimes he asks, what do you want to observe...? What do you want to design...? I will jot down what he asks or the things that he reminds us. After that I will look back and then relate it with my project, asking [back] the same questions to myself." (Respondent ID: 5)

Quotation 17

" If I have the time, I will revise the lecture again. During the lecture, I will jot down everything that I think is important. Then, when I need to revise [for exams] again, I will go through my notes again." (Respondent ID: 5)

Quotation 18

" I start to memorise the lecture because there is no time for me to understand it. For me to understand the lecture, is very time consuming. Then if last minute, I will need to memorise." (Respondent ID: 5)

The extracts from Participant 5 clearly illustrate how the three learning approaches can occur within one design student. However, these inter-relations seem to entangle with one another, and the question arises as to whether significant differences in terms of learning approaches can be described. Thus, an exploratory comparison of the frequencies in terms of percentages was carried out to delineate any possible patterns from the frequencies of instances related to the three learning approaches.

Respondents were first grouped as belonging into high deep learning approach cluster or high surface learning approach cluster, depending on their more frequent indication of instances related to the deep or surface learning approach. When participants indicated high instances on both deep and surface learning approaches, they will be clustered either into the high deep or high surface learning approach cluster, depending on the higher amount of frequencies they indicated. For example, Participant 6 was clustered into the high surface learning approach cluster as she indicated 15 instances coded as the surface learning approach, and 13 instances coded as the deep learning approach (see detail of frequencies in Appendix H). Next, the percentage of instances related to each learning approach of both clusters are calculated for between clusters and within each cluster (see columns 1 to 4 in Table 3.2). The percentages of differences between the clusters are also calculated (see Column 6 in Table 3.2).

Table 3.2 Percentages of occurrences for the learning approach pattern codes between participants clustered as higher deep and higher surface clusters. (D): Deep learning approach, (SF): Surface learning approach, (ST): Strategic learning approach. Values in the "Between clusters" columns indicate the percentage of differences <u>BETWEEN</u> the high deep and high surface clusters. Values in the "Within cluster" columns indicate the percentage of differences within the high deep cluster <u>OR</u> within the high surface cluster.

proach	High dec cluster Participan 1, 3, 4, 5, 1	ep nts: 12	Hi Pa 2, 6, 2	gh surface cluster rticipants: 7, 8, 9, 10, 11	High dec cluster Participar 1, 3, 4, 5,	;p its: 12	High surface cluster Participants: 2, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11		
L carning ap	Percentage appro	of instat	nces where menti	ere learning oned	Percentage of differences				
	Comparison between clusters	Within cluster		Comparison between clusters	Within cluster	Comp betw clus	arison veen sters	Within cluster	
	(1)	(2	2)	(3)	(4)	(5)		(6)	
(D)	76%	54	%	24%	17%	52	%	37%	
(ST)	34%	20	%	66%	38%	32	?%	18%	
(SF)	36%	26	%	64%	45%	28	3%	19%	

76% instances related to the deep learning approach are mentioned by participants in the high deep cluster, when compared to the high surface cluster. Participants in the high surface cluster only mentioned 24% instances related to the deep learning approach. A difference of 52% can be observed between these two clusters. This reveals that participants in the high deep cluster, mentioned approximately 3.2 times the amount of instances related to the deep learning approach compared to

44

participants in the high surface cluster. In contrast, participants in the high surface cluster mentioned 64% instances related to the surface learning approach, while participants in the high deep cluster mentioned 36% instances related to the surface learning approach. A difference of 28% can be observed between these two clusters. This shows that participants in the high surface cluster mention approximately 1.8 times or almost double the amount of instances, related to the surface learning approach, compared to participants in the high deep cluster.

Participants in the high surface cluster also mentioned 66% instances related to the strategic learning approach, while participants in the high deep cluster mentioned 34% instances related to the strategic learning approach. A difference of 32% can be observed between these two clusters. This reveals that participants in the high surface cluster mention approximately 1.9 times or almost double the amount of instances, related to the strategic learning approach, compared to participants in the high deep cluster.

Within the high deep cluster, participants mentioned 54% instances related to the deep learning approach, 20% instances related to the strategic learning approach and 26% instances related to the surface learning approach. In comparison, participants within the high surface cluster mentioned 17% instances related to the deep learning approach, 38% instances related to the strategic learning approach and 45% instances related to the surface learning approach. This means that approximately half of the instances that the participants indicated regarding the learning approaches are related to their cluster style; deep learning approach to high deep cluster and surface learning approach to the high surface cluster. This provides useful indicators for the more distinctive adoption of deep and surface learning approaches by the participants. Additionally, in relation to the strategic learning approach, the percentage of instances indicated by participants in the high surface cluster is slightly higher, compared to that indicated by participants in the high deep cluster. Within the high surface cluster, the participants also mentioned almost double the amount of instances related to the strategic learning approach, compared to participants within the high deep cluster. This suggests that the participants in the high surface cluster are more acquainted with the strategic learning approach, compared to participants in the high deep cluster.

Following up on the quotations of Participant 5 as previously presented in this section, the deep learning approach that she mentioned, revealed another critical aspect of design learning: the design teacher. In Quotation 16, the design teacher is highly involved in enabling Participant 5 to start reflecting and relating ideas within her design project. This phenomena was also observed within the quantitative data. The deep learning approach was found to correlate to participants' preference for

instruction that supports the development of personal understanding. Additionally, the surface learning approach was found to correlate to participants' preference for instruction that focusses on transmitting information (see Table 3.1). The qualitative data resonates with these quantitative findings (see Table 3.3).

Table 3.3 Summary of interrelations between participants' preference for instruction and learning approaches across all 12 respondents. PFI: U refers to preference for instruction and teachers that emphasize support understanding. PFI: I relates to preference for instruction and teachers that focus on transmitting information.

	Based on frequencies of occurrences						
Cluster	Total PFI:I	Total PFI: U					
High deep cluster Participants: 1, 3, 4, 5, 12	18	22					
High surface cluster Participants: 2, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11	47	23					

Participants in the high deep and high surface clusters were compared in terms of their PFI:I and PFI:U. Participants in the high deep cluster, that mentioned more instances related to the deep learning approach, indicated 22 instances related to PFI:U and 18 instances related to PFI:I in total. Additionally, participants in the high surface cluster, that mentioned more instances related to the surface learning approach, indicated 47 instances related to PFI:I and 23 instances related to PFI:U in total. This means that they clearly mention more instances related to PFI:I. As a matter of fact, they mentioned approximately double the amount of instances related to PFI:I. compared to PFI:U. These last numbers provide supporting evidence, to the quantitative data, of the interaction between the type of learning approach and type of instructions that participants would indicate to prefer.

3.3.5 Distinguishing mind-sets in design learning (RQ 2)

In order to distinguish mind-sets in design learning, the relation between the internal aspect of mind-sets (learning conception) and the external aspect of mind-sets (the type of instruction and learning approach that students would prefer) are tested. Participants in the high and low 'deep-transforming learning conceptions' (DTLC) were compared using the Independent T-test. Participants belonging to the high-deep learning conception (high DTLC) cluster (M=4.57, SD=0.29) indicated their responses as above the median-value of all participants, on the deep learning conception scale. In contrast, participants indicating their responses below the median-value were grouped as belonging into the low-deep learning conception (low DTLC) cluster (M=3.52, SD=0.61)(see Section 3.2.2). The two clusters consist of 93 and 97 participants respectively. This test reveals that participants can be differentiated in terms of their low and high deep-transforming learning conceptions.

Although no differences in terms of the surface-reproduction learning conception, preference for instruction that focusses on transmitting information and surface learning approach can be observed between these two cluster of participants, participants differed on, their preference for instruction that supports the development of personal understanding and deep learning approaches (see Table 3.4).

Participants in the high DTLC cluster (M=4.57, SD=0.29) indicated significantly higher learning conceptions related to deep-transforming compared to participants in the low DTLC cluster (M=3.52, SD=0.61); t(188)=-15.28, p=0.000. A large effect size of Cohen's d=2.20 indicates a large difference between the two groups with regard to their DTLC (see Table 3.4). Participants in the high DTLC cluster (M=4.02, SD=0.74) indicated higher preference for instruction that supports the development of their personal development (PFI:U) compared to the low DTLC cluster (M=3.72, SD=0.76); t(184.77)=-2.77, p=0.006. Participants in the high DTLC cluster (M=4.05, SD=0.43) also indicated higher preference for the deep learning approach compared to the low DTLC cluster (M=3.75, SD=0.49); t(185)=-4.49, p=0.000.

	Cluster 1: Low DTLC <i>N=93</i> (<i>Mean, SD</i>)	Cluster 2: High DTLC <i>N=97</i> (Mean, SD)	Effect size, Cohen's <i>d</i>
Learning Conception			
Surface-Reproducing	3,77 (0,70)	3,95 (0,65)	0.27
Deep-transforming**	3,52 (0,61)	4,57 (0,29)	2.20
Preference for instruction			
Transmitting information	3,61 (0,82)	3,55 (0,93)	0.07
Supporting understanding*	3,72 (0,76)	4,02 (0,74)	0.40
Learning approach			
Deep **	3,75 (0,49)	4,05 (0,43)	0.65
Strategic	3,30 (0,74)	3,25 (0,82)	0.06
Surface	3,26 (0,61)	3,24 (0,70)	0.03

Table 3.4 T-test between high and low DTLC clusters

* T-test on average scores over two clusters was significant at p<0.05.

** T-test on average scores over two clusters was significant at p<0.001.

Within the qualitative data, two pattern codes that were generated, reveal distinct differences between the 12 participants who were interviewed. These pattern codes are related to the deep and surface learning approaches. The pattern code related to the deep learning approach is referred to as *faces challenges*. The pattern code related to the surface learning approach is referred to as *takes convenient measures* (see Table 3.5). The pattern code "*faces challenges*" is related to rising up to challenges that participants encounter in design learning, and it is regarded as characteristic of the deep learning approach (see Quotation 11 and Quotation 12Quotation 12). The pattern code "*takes convenient measures*" is related to participants' tendencies to

engage in actions that would compromise deeper levels of processing in order to decrease their work load (see Quotation 13). This pattern code is regarded as characteristic of the surface learning approach.

Pattern code:	-	Respondent No											
Learning Approach	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	Total
Deep: Faces challenges	4	0	4	0	6	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	14
Surface: Takes convenient measures	0	11	0	6	0	9	1	2	1	3	2	2	37

Table 3.5 Frequencies of occurrences for the two pattern codes across all 12 respondents.

Across the 12 participants, three of the participants (Participants 1, 3 and 5) that had conveyed instances where they rose up to challenges, had not indicated any instances where they would take actions to decrease their workload and compromise deeper levels of thinking (related to the pattern code: *takes convenient measures*. In contrast the remaining nine respondents that had indicated instances where they took actions that would decrease their workload and compromise deeper levels of thinking, these respondents did not indicate any instances related to *facing challenges*. This suggests that these two pattern codes uniquely characterises the deep and surface learning approaches. A network display was generated to map out and visualize the exclusive characteristic of the two pattern codes: its interactions between the learning approach and preference for instruction pattern codes; and its influence on the development of new pattern codes to describe the design learning mind-sets (Miles et al., 1994) (see Figure 3.1). The network display is divided into four parts. The exclusive pattern codes are situated within the second part of the network display.

Interactions between the learning approaches are situated within the first part of the network display. From the interview transcriptions, participants related instances where their deep learning approaches related to their surface and strategic learning approaches. In instances where their deep learning approach related to their surface learning approach, participants conveyed that they related ideas, used evidence, sought for meaning and took an interest in ideas, in conjunction to using limited evidence and executing unperceptive actions. This means that although they engaged in deep learning approaches, their actions were done in a limited and routine manner. However, in instances when their deep learning approach related to their strategic learning approach, participants engaged in deep learning activities in conjunction to monitoring their own effectiveness, organising their study activities and time; and


being alert toward assessment demands. This means that when they engaged in deep learning approaches, they would also monitor and organise their studying. This was done either through systematic management of their time or organisation of their study activities.

The third part of the network display contains two pattern codes related to participants' preference for instruction: (1) teachers that focus on transmitting information and (2) teachers that support understanding. The tendency to *take convenient measures* is found to closely relate to preference for *teachers that transmit information*. This can be observed from the following instance, where the participant discloses her tendency to seek out lecturers who will provide design decisions so that she does not have to make the decision by herself (see Quotation 18 and Quotation 19). When participants expressed instances where they rose up to challenges, they also expressed preference for teachers that focussed on guiding and developing self-reflection. Thus the inclination to *face challenges* as conveyed by participants are found to closely relate to their preference for *teachers that support understanding* (see Quotation 12).

Quotation 19

I have been in [ambiguous] situations... I will go and ask other lecturers... I will go and ask Lecturer 1... or go and ask other lecturers... because sometimes, some lecturers do not tell us... they won't tell us directly... so in that case, I will go and ask other lecturers [lecturers that will provide direct answers] (Respondent ID: 6)

The interactions observed between pattern codes on the first three parts of the network display triggered the development of two new pattern codes to describe mind-sets in design learning. These two new pattern codes are situated within the fourth part of the network display, and referred to as the *opportunistic mind-set* and the *discerning mind-set*. The *opportunistic mind-set* pattern code emerged from (1) the counter-active interaction between deep and surface learning approaches; (2) the pattern code *takes convenient measures*, and (3) the association to the pattern code emerged from (1) the positive interactions between strategic and deep learning approaches; (2) the pattern code *taces challenges*, and (3) the association to the pattern code emerged from (1) the positive interactions between strategic and deep learning approaches; (2) the pattern code *teachers that support understanding*.

3.3.6 The discerning and opportunistic mind-sets

The *discerning mind-set* is uniquely characterised by tendencies to discern ambiguity and raise up to the challenges they encounter. Participants inclining toward this mindset disclosed through the semi-structured interviews that they tried to deeply engage with design problems that they encountered. They indicated instances where they sought to seek meaning between concepts, relate ideas and information, and use corroborative evidence to support the development of their design ideas and/or decisions. Additionally, participants indicated higher preference for teachers that supported the development of their personal understanding. This is associated to preferring teachers that focus on developing their self-reflection and guiding their design processes.

The *opportunistic mind-set* is uniquely characterised by participants' inclination to take convenient measures. Participants inclining toward this mind-set disclosed through the semi-structured interviews that they did not delve as deeply into design tasks that they were engaged in. They related instances where they contrived convenient strategies that are easily accessible to them, and avoided undesirable or difficult situations. This includes engaging in design tasks at a surface level and making superficial connections with non-corroborative evidence. Additionally, these participants indicated preference for teachers that focussed on transmitting information. This is associated to depending on teachers to make design decisions and focus on producing tangible artefacts that are required.

3.3.7 Cross-validating the mind-set categories in design learning

The associations that emerged from the qualitative data are used to validate the quantitative findings of the ASSIST questionnaire and summarized in Table 3.6 to corroborate the two proposed mind-sets. Quantitative and qualitative findings related to learning approach, preference for instruction and learning conceptions are illustrated in columns 1 to 9. From the quantitative data, participants were clustered according to their deep-transforming learning conceptions (DTLC). Participants in the high DTLC cluster (see column 8) represent the discerning mind-set category, while the low DTLC cluster represents the opportunistic mind-set category. From the qualitative data, five out of 12 of the participants for the semi-structured interviews (Participants 1, 3, 4, 5, and 12) represent the *discerning mind-set* group. Additionally, the seven remaining participants (Participants 2,6,7,8,9,10 and 11) represent the *opportunistic mind-set* group.

The *discerning mind-set* can thus be characterised by high preferences toward the: (1) deep transforming learning conception (see Column 8); (2) deep learning approach (see Columns 1 and 2); and (3) instruction and teachers that support understanding (see column 1 for correlations, Columns 5 for T-test, and Column 6 for qualitative evidence). Additionally, the *discerning mind-set* is uniquely characterised by inclination to rise up to challenges (see Column 4). In contrast, the *opportunistic mind-set* is characterised by low preference toward these same three variables. Qualitative evidence indicating that *opportunistic mind-sets* incline toward teachers that transmit information can also be found (see Column 6). Additionally, indirect

s.
Set
Ę
nir
ic.
nist
Ē
od
do
pu
പ്പ
'n.
Sei
dis
he
Эft
ĕ
en
kist
6
Ę
ų
-dd
t sı
tha
Ita
ğ
цvе
lita
lual
р р
an
ive
itat
anti
duŝ
of
ion
lati
ŋg
riar
E
3.6
ble
Tal
-

	Lea	arning Approa	ch		Preference for	instruction	Learning	Conception
			Qualitative da	ta				
			(s) tuəpuoc	gnidsingni c				
	Quantitative data	Categorie s	Kcsi	Dist	Quantitative data	Qualitative data	Qualitative data	Quantitative data
Design learning mind-sets	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
Discerning	**T-test:: Higher deep learning approach	Deen	1,3,4,5,12,	Rises up to	*T-test: Higher preference for instruction that	More evidence for: Teachers that	л/а	** T-test: : High Deen-
	<pre>**Deep LA is correlated to: 1. PF1: (U) 2. LC: Deep-transforming</pre>			challenges	supports understanding	support understanding		transforming
Onnormierie	**T-test:: Lower deep learning approach		2,6,7,8,9,	Takes	* T-test: : Lower preference for	More evidence for:		** T-test: :
OPPOND	**Surface LA is correlated to: 1. PFI: (1) 2. LC: n/a	Surface	10,11,	convenient measures	instruction that that supports understanding	Teachers that transmit information	n/a	Low deep- transforming
**/Orrelat	ion is significant at n< 0.01							

**Correlation is significant at p< 0.01.</p>
***Correlation is significant at p< 0.001.</p>

* T-test on average scores over two clusters was significant at p<0.05. ** T-test on average scores over two clusters was significant at p<0.001.

evidence for the opportunistic mind-set to prefer the surface learning approach and instruction that focusses on transmission of information can be observed (see Column 1). Additionally, the *opportunistic mind-set* is uniquely characterised by tendencies to take convenient measures.

3.4 Discussion and Conclusion

The nature of mind-sets in design learning can be described by the learning conception, learning approach and instruction that a design learner prefers to incline toward. Participants that indicated higher preference for the *deep learning approach* had also indicated higher preference for instruction that supports understanding. Therefore, although the *deep-transforming learning conception* is not directly correlated to the hypothesized preference for instruction (see Table 3.1), it is significantly correlated to the *deep learning approach*, which in turn, is significantly correlated to preference for instruction that supports understanding. This strongly implies that participants' conception of learning can influence the learning approach that they would prefer to adopt in learning. When they hold a *surface-reproducing learning approach*. When they hold a *deep-transforming learning conception* of learning approach.

These results also provide evidence that the learning approaches that participants prefer to adopt are related to the type of instruction that they prefer to receive. When participants indicated higher preference for adoption of the *surface learning approach*, they also indicated higher preference for instruction that focusses on transmitting information. On the other hand, when participants indicated higher preference for the *deep* and *strategic learning approaches*, they indicated higher preference for instruction that supports understanding (see Section 3.3.4).

The *discerning learning mind-set* associates more strongly to the preference of teachers or instruction that support understanding, the conception of learning as related to the development of personal understanding, and the deep learning approach. The *opportunistic learning mind-set* category associates more strongly with preference for instruction or teachers that focusses on the transmission of information, the conception of learning as a means of reproducing knowledge, and the surface learning approach. The strategic learning approach which is relates to the strategic management and organisation of time and studying, varies from low to high levels of the strategic learning approach between the two mind-sets.

The notion of *discerning* and *opportunistic* mind-set in design learning have been shown to closely associate to the learning conception that a learner holds, the learning

approach that a learner would prefer to adopt and the type of instruction that they would prefer to receive or engage in. The *discerning mind-set* associates learning for understanding and personal development. This in turn, relates to the types of instruction that they would prefer to engage with, and the distinct approaches that they would prefer to adopt in learning (Entwistle & Ramsden, 2015). Students that incline toward the *discerning mind-set* prefer to receive instruction that supports understanding and engage in deep and strategic-monitoring learning approaches. This means that students in the *discerning mind-set* cluster prefer to seek meaning and relate ideas when presented with information. They would also be motivated to do well in their studies and incline toward the *discerning mind-set* have also been found to develop design ideas or making decisions based on corroborative evidence (see Section 3.3.5).

The inclination to take mental shortcuts in preference to thinking things through causes fallacies in thinking (Corno & Anderman, 2016). The effects of these fallacies can be observed within students that gravitate toward the *opportunistic mind-set*. These students associate learning to the reproduction of information. Consequently, students that incline toward this mind-set prefer to receive instruction that focusses on the transmission of information, and engage in surface learning approaches, and minimal strategic learning approaches. This means that students in the opportunistic mind-set cluster incline toward memorising when presented with information. They also become bounded to a course syllabus and are prone to experiencing a lack of purpose throughout their education. Students inclining toward the opportunistic mind-set have also been found to take convenient measures and not delve deeply into the design tasks that they engage in (see Section 3.3.5). They indicated tendencies to contrive upon convenient strategies that are accessible, and would avert undesirable or difficult situations. This includes engaging in design tasks at a surface level and making superficial connections with non-corroborative evidence.

Consistent findings within the quantitative and qualitative data sets have been consolidated within this study. However, the validity of these proposed mind-sets must be assessed and further tested. The validity of the proposed mind-sets are externally validated and tested in the next two empirical studies presented in Chapters 4 and 5. The current findings provide a platform to enable a systematic investigation. Knowledge gained from this chapter raises interesting issues regarding the implications of the distinct mind-sets, which are yet to be investigated. For example, what other individual attributes or dispositions are related to the *discerning* and *opportunistic* mind-sets? In other words, what other aspects can be taken into consideration to better understand these mind-sets? Additionally, does the *discerning learning mind-set* necessarily enable students to achieve better performance in their

learning? Furthermore, building on that assumption, does this also mean that the students that incline toward the *opportunistic learning mind-set* will attain poorer results in accomplishing a design task? Given these points, can the design learning experience be improved? These aspects are investigated to achieve a better understanding of the two design learning mind-sets. The characteristics of these design learning mind-sets are expected to be clarified through the rigorous experimental design that was set-up for the second empirical study. Findings are presented in the subsequent chapters of this thesis.

4

Differences between the discerning and opportunistic mind-sets

In the previous chapter, two mind-sets were proposed: the discerning and opportunistic mind-sets. These two mind-set clusters are however, still a tentative clustering of the way students feel, think and behave in learning that requires validation. Subsequently, key differences between the two mind-sets are investigated in this chapter, using a quasi-experimental study. In this chapter, results of this study are presented. Design students filled in a questionnaire and solved a design problem. Data collected relates to (1) students' individual dispositions that include their perceived self-efficacy, tolerance for ambiguity, view of their own intelligence and preferred learning approaches; (2) the prevalence of difficulties and types of questions students ask when solving a design problem; and (3) the quality of design solutions that the design students produce. This study reveals the differences between design students that incline toward the discerning and opportunistic mind-set, on these three variables. Next to this, an intervention to promote reflection is also introduced to test if better quality design solutions can be produced, depending on the mind-set that a student inclines toward. This intervention however, did not result in any significant differences. Results from this study provide further insight regarding the different design learning mind-set types and reveal persuasive evidence for the two design learning mind-sets proposed in Chapter 3.

4.1 Research aims, hypotheses and questions

The primary aim of this empirical study was to externally validate the individual differences between students that incline toward the discerning and opportunistic mind-sets, as proposed in the previous empirical study. These individual differences include four variables in the presage level of the 3P model, that are assumed to inherently exist within students (Biggs, 2012; Cruickshank, 1986; Huitt, 2003) (see also Figure 2.2 in Chapter 2). In view of the fact that design students have to deal with

unstructured and open-ended problems in learning to design (Rittel & Webber, 1973; Buchanan, 1992; Coyne, 2005), four variables were selected. These variables are related to design students' perception of their self-efficacy, their tolerance for ambiguity, their view of own intelligence and their preferred learning approaches. These variables, are in turn, anticipated to influence the process and outcomes of a person's design process.

Self-efficacy pertains to a students' evaluation of his or her capability to accomplish a task successfully (Pintrich & de Groot, 1990). High self-efficacy has been found to result in higher achievement scores (Grant & Dweck, 2003; Miller et al., 1996; Pintrich & de Groot, 1990). However, an underestimation of performance has been shown to result in self-regulatory behaviour which improved students' performance (Christensen et al., 2002). Self-regulatory behaviour, requires conscious contemplation and controlled processing of learning activities (McLaughlin, 1990). Results from the previous study demonstrate that the discerning mind-set is closely associated to a deep learning approach, a conception that learning is related to the enhancement of personal understanding and individual development (see Table 3.7 in Chapter 3). The opportunistic mind-set, on the other hand, is associated to the surface learning approach and the tendency to contrive upon convenient strategies that become accessible (Hamat et al., 2015).

Building upon these notions, design students inclining toward a discerning mind-set are expected to associate themselves with lower levels of self-efficacy. This is because lower estimations of self-efficacy possibly occurs due to a more mindful or conscious act of gauging one's own performance. In addition, these students are expected to achieve higher levels of outcome achievements (Christensen et al., 2002). In contrast, design students that incline toward an opportunistic mind-set are expected to associate themselves with higher levels of self-efficacy due to a less mindful deliberation of their own performance. Consequently, these students will be more likely to perform less competently. As design students that incline toward the opportunistic mind-sets are expected to be associated to higher levels of self-efficacy, thus they are also expected to be associated to higher levels of tolerance for ambiguity (Endres et al., 2015). Therefore, it can be expected that students that incline toward the discerning mind-set will have lower tolerance for ambiguity.

Ambiguous situations are more likely to be perceived as a difficult situation, which is in inherent in design learning. Designing is inherently an ambiguous situation (Buchanan, 1992; Coyne, 2005). Individuals with low tolerance for ambiguity tend to avoid ambiguous situations i.e., difficult situations in design learning (Furnham & Ribchester, 1995). This fundamentally contradicts with the assumption that students inclining toward the opportunistic mind-set will have higher tolerance for ambiguity,

as these students were found to avoid difficult situations in design learning (see Section 3.3.6). It is also possible that students inclining toward the opportunistic mind-set will incline toward a low tolerance for ambiguity. Students inclining toward the discerning mind-set showed that they would overcome challenges i.e., difficult situations in their learning tasks (Hamat et al., 2015). This indicates that they are more likely to have a higher tolerance for ambiguity. It is thus possible for varying levels of tolerance for ambiguity between the two mind-sets.

Design students inclining toward the discerning mind-set are also expected to hold an incremental view of their own knowledge. This is because they perceive learning as an enhancement of personal understanding and individual development (Hamat et al., 2015). This means that they would view their intelligence as developable through effort (Miller et al., 1996; Bråten & Olaussen, 1998; Ablard, 2002; Dupeyrat & Mariné, 2005). Design students inclining toward the opportunistic mind-set are expected to hold a contrary view of their own intelligence compared to design students that incline toward the discerning mind-set. They are expected to hold an entity view of their own intelligence. This pertains to students viewing their own intelligence as an in-built or natural ability (Dupeyrat & Mariné, 2005; Dweck, 2006, 2015). To test the hypothesized relationships between the variables discussed the first research questions is formulated as follows:

RQ 1. How do students' individual attributes that include their perception of selfefficacy, tolerance for ambiguity, view of own intelligence and preferred learning approaches relate to the discerning and opportunistic design learning mind-sets?

Individual differences between the two mind-sets are, in turn, expected to influence the design process that students engage in. The type of questions students ask throughout the process of solving design problems are considered to be closely related to decisions that they subsequently make (Eris, 2003; Aurisicchio et al., 2007). The activity of question asking also forms an essential component that relates to deeper levels of processing, required in learning design (Graesser & Person, 1994). Throughout their design process, the question-asking tendencies of the discerning and opportunistic mind-sets are expected to differ. The types of questions that students ask throughout their design process can be categorised into a range of levels from low to high standing questions (Eris, 2003; Graesser & Person, 1994). Low level questions are related to clarifying missing or incomplete information in relation to the design context, while high level questions include (1) deep reasoning questions that seeks to find rational explanations by converging onto facts related to design context; and (2) generative design questions that diverge away from facts, to possibilities that can be generated (Eris, 2004). The proper ordering and incremental formulation of questions across these levels yield more reliable forms of knowledge (Dillon, 1984;

Eris, 2002). This means that when students attempt to, firstly, clarify the missing information that are relevant to their design projects, secondly, proceed to increase their understanding of the related design contexts through deeper inquiry, and finally, proceed to explore the various range of possibilities that are related to the design context, they will be able to generate more plausible knowledge that would enable the generation of better design solutions.

Based on these notions, it is more likely that the discerning mind-sets would engage in proper incremental question-asking formulations. Additionally, abrupt or expeditious question-asking formulations can be expected from the opportunistic mind-sets that incline toward making superficial connections with non-corroborative evidence (Hamat et al., 2015). Equally important is the level of difficulty of a problem perceived by participants, which can potentially influence their performance when solving design problems (Frenseh & Funke, 2014). It has been suggested that the average level of task difficulty as opposed to lower or higher levels of difficulty correlates highest with better performance (Frenseh & Funke, 2014). For these reasons, these two variables are examined to gain insight into students' problem solving process. These variables include, firstly, the type of questions that participants would ask related to the design task that they were given and, secondly, whether they faced any difficulties while working on the task. In practice, these aspects would similarly exist within a design project. By examining these aspects, better insights of their processes can be obtained.

The design outcomes that design students produce, are also expected to differ in terms of quality when they incline toward the discerning or opportunistic mind-sets. Good quality solutions are expected to have high *relevance* and *specificity* (Dean et al., 2006). Relevance encompasses the applicability and effectiveness of a solution. Applicability refers to "the degree to which the idea clearly applies to the stated problem". Effectiveness refers to "the degree to which the idea will solve the problem". Hence, students inclining toward a discerning mind-set are expected to produce solutions that applies to the problem and will solve the problem to a higher degree, compared to students that incline toward an opportunistic mind-set. Specificity encompasses the completeness and implicational effectiveness of a solution. Completeness refers to the breadth of coverage that the solution addresses. It encompasses the number of independent sub-components into which the solution can be decomposed into. Implicational explicitness refers to "the degree to which there is a clear relationship between the recommended action and the expected outcome". Thus, students inclining toward a discerning mind-set are expected to produce solutions that solves a wider range of related aspects to the problem. That is, to a higher degree compared to students that incline toward an opportunistic mindset. To test the hypothesized relationships of the discerning and opportunistic mind-

sets in terms of their design process and outputs, the second research question is formulated as below:

RQ 2. Does the design process that students engage in and the quality of design solutions they produce differ between students with a discerning and opportunistic mind-set?

It has been suggested that skill and meta-skill can be induced through instruction to promote successful problem solving in academic settings (Mayer, 2001). In design learning, this refers to knowledge of design methods or theories (skill) and the knowledge of strategies to manage the design methods (meta-skill). The design process and, subsequently, design outcomes that a student produces are thus also expected to be positively affected by these forms of stimulations. It has been suggested that deeper modes of reflection manifest within a reader as he or she starts to deliberate and contextualise the content of a text (Hochman, 2016). Depending on the content of the text that a student reads, it is expected that skills and meta-skills related to designing can be stimulated. Skill refers to the ability to draw upon knowledge which is specific to the required domain of the task or problem at hand (Mayer, 2001; McCombs, 1988). For example in design learning, this relates to knowledge of design processes and design methods. Meta-skill relates to the knowhow of "when to use and how to coordinate" the skills in designing (Mayer, 2001, p. 91). This similarly refers to the understanding of when and how to use design methods throughout the design process. Consequently, it is expected that when design students are introduced to texts that contain relevant information regarding design processes and methods, along with the "when and how's" of this knowledge domain, the quality of solutions that they produce will improve. In order to test this assumption, the third research question is formulated as follows:

RQ 3. Can the quality of students' design outputs be improved by introducing design theory-oriented stimuli?

4.2 Conceptual framework

To answer the research questions posed in the previous section, the conceptual framework proposed in Chapter 2 is used (see Figure 4.1). The conceptual model consists of three levels. These levels include the presage, process and product levels.



Figure 4.1 Theoretical model. This model shows the different variables on the Presage-Process-Product levels of the 3P model and the expected influences

On the presage level, four variables are assessed. This includes students' preferred learning approach, self-efficacy, tolerance for ambiguity and view of own intelligence. On the process level, two variables are examined. This includes the types of questions that students asked regarding the design task that they had to solve, and the occurrence of difficulties they faced throughout the task of designing. On the product level, the quality of solutions generated by students are examined.

4.3 Methods

A quasi-experimental study with control group design was used in this study (Kumar, 2011; Cohen et al., 2007). This experimental set-up is chosen as the control group design set-up allows to examine any prevalent effects of the planned intervention by comparing the *control* and *experimental group*. This research design is required to answer the third research question. Additionally, it allows to obtain data related to all three *presage*, *process* and *product* levels. This is essential for answering the first and second research questions.

4.3.1 Participants

91 design students from two universities in Malaysia were recruited for this study. The focus on Malaysian students allows to control for the cultural differences that were observed in the prior study (compare Hofstede, 2011; Hofstede & Jan, 2014). The participants were enrolled in their first or final year of the industrial, product or automotive design programmes. Out of all but one of the participants that reported their age and gender, 49 were male and 41 were female. Participants ranged between 20 to 27 years old.

4.3.2 Experimental procedure

The duration of the experiment ranged from one and a half to two hours. Slightly different procedures for the experimental and control group were used (see Figure 4.2). In both groups, participants were given a design brief related to transportation problems in the city of Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia (see Appendix K). This design problem was developed based on an example presented in a book entitled Design Methods (Jones, 1992). Further discussion on the choice of this design brief will be discussed later on in this section.



Figure 4.2 Overview of the procedure for the control and experimental groups

Prior to receiving the design brief and task-related information, participants in the experimental group were given a visual stimuli, followed by the design theoryoriented stimuli. The visual stimuli is meant to prevent participants from thinking of the subsequent design task, as they were reading the design theory-oriented stimuli. This visual stimuli was adopted based on suggestions by two research experts, with more than 30 years of experience in the field of research in psychology and design, and familiarity with experiment designs. They suggested this visual stimuli as an attempt to equalize the mental onset between control and experimental groups at the start of the design task. The visual stimuli contained the pictures of current electronic gadgets available in the market question. In addition, it contained the question "What should be developed next?". The design theory-oriented stimuli is a hand-out that participants had to read. It contains information on a design theory and a design theory-oriented stimulus was developed based on content from the book entitled Design Methods (Jones, 1992).

Except for the abovementioned stimuli, the remaining procedure for the experimental group was same to that of the control group. Participants were given a handout which contained information related to the design problem, such as issues related to public, private and non-motorised forms of transportation (see Appendix K), along with the design brief. Participants were then asked to produce conceptual solutions to the

given design problem. A template was provided for participants to work out their solutions (see Appendix L).

The template was developed based on an existing template that was used within a Massive Open Online Course (MOOC) called "Product Design: The Delft Design Approach" (Daalhuizen & Schoormans, n.d.). This MOOC was developed in the Industrial Design Engineering Faculty of TU Delft University, the Netherlands. This template was used as suggested by the two previously mentioned research experts. The use of the template was meant as a measure to control for the possible immense disparities within the solutions that participants would provide. Participants were required to develop around five solutions to completely solve the transportation problem. They were next asked to pick their best solution and suggest concrete ways for its realisation and implementation. This procedure worked well within the MOOC, and was adopted for this study.

After solving the design problem, participants were subjected to a Q&A session. Questions were asked by trained interviewers and responses given by the participants were noted down on a prepared template (see Appendix L). This was done with participants in one university, while participants from the second university were asked to read through the questions individually and note down their responses on the prepared templates themselves, due to unavoidable logistical constraints. Questions in the Q&A session were formulated to elicit students' evaluation of the task. For example, students were asked about how they felt about the task, whether the task was difficult, and whether they learned anything new. Finally, participants were asked to fill in a 40-item questionnaire. Entwistle et al.'s (1997) ASSIST questionnaire was adopted to measure students' preferred learning approaches (15items) and perceived self-efficacy (1-item). Norton's (1975) MAT-50 was adopted to assess students' tolerance for ambiguity (18-items). And finally, questions inquiring about students' view of their own intelligence were adopted from Dweck (2006) (6items). Items were mainly used in their original form. Apart from 1-item that assesses the self-efficacy of students on a scale of 1 to 9, all other items were measured using a Likert-scale of 1 to 5.

4.3.3 Questionnaire scales and items

Entwistle et al's (1997) ASSIST questionnaire was adopted to measure the learning approaches that students preferred along with their perceived self-efficacy. This questionnaire originally consists of 52-items. Items related to the learning approaches that participants prefer are assessed on three scales. These scales include the deep, surface and strategic learning approaches. These scales have prevailed in several other studies that yielded appropriate validity levels (Duff, 1997; Speth et al., 2007; Reid et al., 2012; Brown et al., 2015). However, based on the previous study that used all 52-

items originally in the ASSIST questionnaire, the factor analysis reveals that 15-items with high factor loadings were sufficient to measure learning approaches on the three scales (see Section 3.3.1 in Chapter 3) (see also Hamat et al., 2015). Thus, these 15-items were used (see Table 4.1). All of these items were used in its original form and kept unchanged.

Learning Approaches (Scale 1: Strongly Disagree to 5: Strongly Agree)						
Deep LA	Surface LA	Strategic LA				
1. When I read, I examine the details carefully to see how they fit in with what's being said.	6. I concentrate on learning just those bits of information I have to know to pass.	11. I don't find it at all difficult to motivate myself.				
2. When I am reading, I stop from time to time to reflect on what I am trying to learn from it.	7. I gear my studying closely to just what seems to be required for assignments and exams.	12. I usually plan out my week's work in advance, either on paper or in my head.				
3. Often I find myself questioning things I hear in lectures or read in books.	8. Much of what I'm studying makes little sense: it's like unrelated bits and pieces.	13. I generally make good use of my time during the day.				
4. Regularly I find myself thinking about ideas from lectures when I'm doing other things.	9. There's not much of the work here that I find interesting or relevant.	14. I'm pretty good at getting down to work whenever I need to.				
5. Before tackling a problem or assignment, I first try to work out what lies behind it.	10. I find I have to concentrate on just memorizing a good deal of what I have to learn.	15. I organize my study time carefully to make the best use of it.				
(Sca	Self-efficacy le 1: Rather badly to 9: Very Wel	1)				
Finally, can you please indicate how you scored on your design work, so far?						

Table 4.1 Scales and items to assess students' preferred learning approaches and self-efficacy

Items used to assess the level of tolerance for ambiguity within participants were adopted from Norton's (1975) Measure of Ambiguity Tolerance (MAT-50). This instrument yielded high correlations of *i*>0.80 in terms of internal reliability and test-retest reliability (Norton, 1975). This instrument originally assesses tolerance for ambiguity on eight different scales. Three scales that are assumed to be closely related to the context and situations related to learning in design was selected after discussions with the two previously mentioned research experts in questionnaire (see Table 4.2).

The three scales used in this study include the *Interpersonal communication*, *Problem-solving* and *Job-related* scales. The three scales consist of 18-items out of the original 61-items of the MAT- 50.

(Scale	Tolerance for ambiguity 1: Strongly Disagree to 5: Strong	ly Agree)
Interpersonal Communication	Problem Solving	Initially: Job-related
1.I prefer telling people what I think of them even if it hurts them, rather than keeping it to myself.	6. I do not like to get started in group projects unless I feel assured that the project will be successful.	15. I function very poorly whenever there is a serious lack of communication in critique sessions.
2. It irritates me to have people avoid the answer to my question by asking another question.	7. Complex problems appeal to me only if I have a clear idea of the total scope of the problem.	16. When I'm being evaluated in assessments, I feel a great need for clear and explicit evaluations.
3.I really dislike it when a person does not give straight answers about himself.	8. In a problem-solving group it is always best to systematically handle the problem.	17. If I am uncertain about my responsibilities in a design team, I get very anxious.
4. It really disturbs me when I am unable to follow another person's flow of thought.	9. In a decision-making situation in which there is not enough information to process the problem, I feel very uncomfortable.	18. At the end of the semester, I might become frustrated because my design would never be completed (design will never be perfect)
5.I tend to be very frank with people.	10. Once I start a task, I don't like to start another task until I finish the first one.	
	11. Before any important job, I must know how long it will take.	
	12. I don't like to work on a problem unless there is a possibility of coming out with a clear-cut and unambiguous answer.	
	13. A problem has little attraction for me if I don't think it has a solution.	
	14. A group meeting functions best with a definite agenda.	

Table 4.2 Scales and items to assess students' tolerance for ambiguity

Slight modifications were made to the items in order to make explicit reference to specific design learning activities. Modifications of the items were discussed together with the two previously mentioned research experts. Items were re-worded to convey a design-related context. For instance, an item originally structured as *"If I am uncertain about the responsibilities of a job, I get very anxious"* was modified into *"If I am uncertain about my responsibilities in a design team, I get very anxious"*. In this case, the job-related item was modified to fit the context of a design team.

Six items were adapted from Dweck (2006) to assess participants' view of their own intelligence. These items have been tried and tested yielding high internal reliability values (Dweck et al., 1995). These items are assessed on two scales, which are the growth and fixed scales (see Section 2.3.1.4). Three items are assessed in each of these scales, on a 5-point Likert-scale. High agreement to the growth scale is related to an individual perceiving his/her intelligence and design capability as developable through effort. High agreement to fixed scale is related to an individual perceiving their intelligence and design capability. Disagreement on either the growth or fixed scale, reflects an affinity for the opposite scale. This means that when an individual scores themselves low on the growth scale, it also indicates a high score on the fixed scale. The opposite case stands for the fixed scale (see Table 4.3).

Mind-set (Scale 1: Strongly Disagree to 5: Strongly Agree)				
Growth	Fixed			
1.You can always significantly change how intelligent you are.	4. Your intelligence is something very basic about you that you can't change very much.			
2.No matter how much design capability you have, you can always change it quite a bit.	5. You can learn new things but you can't really change how your design capability is.			
3.If you are given another opportunity, you would like to try a much more challenging task.	6. If you are given another opportunity, you would like to try to do the same task again.			

Table 4.3 Scales and items to assess students' view of their own intelligence

4.3.4 Pre-analysis: Reliability of the scales

The reliability of the scales used in this study are analysed using Cronbach's alpha, α . Cronbach's alpha, along with the original and final numbers of items, are presented in the following Table (see Table 4.4). The scales originally comprised of 15 items for

⁶⁷

learning approaches, 18 items for tolerance for ambiguity and 6 items for view of own intelligence.

Scale	Cronbach's Alpha, α	Original number of items	Final number of items
Deep Learning Approach	0.62	5	2
Surface Learning Approach	0.70	5	3
Strategic Learning Approach	0.65	5	2
Tolerance for ambiguity	0.72	18	16
Fixed View of Own Intelligence	0.73	3	2
Growth View of Own	0.20	2	2
Intelligence	0.39	5	2

Table 4.4 Reliability of subscales

High reliabilities of Cronbach's α =0.70, 0.72 and 0.73 can be calculated for scales of the surface learning approach, tolerance for ambiguity and fixed view of own intelligence subscales respectively. Relatively low reliability, Cronbach's α =0.62 and 0.65 is calculated for the deep and strategic learning approach scales correspondingly. Additionally, the growth view of own intelligence scale yielded an extremely low reliability of Cronbach's α =0.39. Spearman's correlational analysis reveals a small positive correlation between the two growth scale items, *r* (87)=.26, *p*=0.013. Spearman's correlational analysis for the fixed view of students' own intelligence scale yielded a moderately strong positive correlation, *r*(87)=.55, *p*=0.000.

4.3.5 Pre-analysis: Design process variables

Variables related to the design process of participants were assessed based on the responses that were recorded on a template during the Q&A session (see Appendix L). Responses were first deductively coded based on a "provisional start list of codes" (Miles et al., 1994, p. 81) for the types of questions that participants asked throughout their design process (see Appendix Q). This list consisted of low level and high level questions. High level questions encompass deep reasoning and generative design questions (Eris, 2002). According to Eris (2002), low level questions primarily relate to the clarification on missing or incomplete information. An example of a low level question is "What type of metal is this part made of?" On the other hand, deep reasoning questions are related to finding or judging causal explanations of a phenomenon. An example of a deep reasoning question would be "Why did this structure fail?" Finally, generative design questions leads to the reframing of contexts and concept generation. An example of a generative design question is "How about if we try it in that context?"

Low level, high level and generative design questions can be regarded as an incremental form of classification, where the questions are ordered from lower to higher levels. Proper ordering and incremental formulation of questions across the levels yield more reliable forms of knowledge (Dillon, 1984; Eris, 2002). Furthermore, when participants indicated facing a problem/problems during their engagement with the design task, these responses were also calculated. Some participants indicated facing and incrementated form the design task and the design task of the design task of the design task.

4.3.6 Pre-analysis: Solution quality

The solutions that participants produced consisted of sketches and textual explanations. Some students sketched out and partially described their solutions with textual explanations while others fully described them in textual form (see Figure 4.3).



Figure 4.3 Examples of solutions provided by students. Top: Graphical and textual. Bottom: Textual only.

Each participant generated between one and five solutions for the design task, accumulating a total of 285 solutions. This number of solutions were obtained subsequent to the removal of repetitive ideas or statements. Additionally, when participants provided both general and detailed versions of an idea, only the detailed versions were taken into account (Bouchard and Hare, 1970 as cited in Dean et al., 2006; Connolly et al., 1993). These methods of streamlining the data are commonly used in the assessment of idea quantities (i.e. idea counting approaches), and are considered suitable for determining the overall number of solutions per participant for this study. Short textual descriptions of students' solutions were typed in identical formats for subsequent assessment of their quality (Gallupe et al., 1992; Garfield et al., 2001).

The 285 solutions that were generated by the participants were assessed on the four sub-scales. The *relevance* of a solution is measured on two sub-scales: *applicability* and effectiveness. The specificity of a solution is measured on two sub-scales: completeness and implicational effectiveness. All solutions were assessed by the author as a first rater, using a Likert-scale of 1 to 5 to assess each sub-scale (see for details of the scales). Subsequently, as a measure of reliability, 21% of the solutions were cross-checked by two independent coders, as second and third raters, using the same four sub-scales assessing quality. The scores on all four sub-scales of quality were next correlated using Spearman's correlation to assess the level of inter-rater reliability between the three raters. The two independent coders are both industrial design students with a BSc in Industrial Design who volunteered for the assessment. Prior to the actual evaluations, the two independent coders were given solution samples and trained on the procedure for scoring the solutions (Dean et al., 2006). This step was taken to ensure high inter-rater reliability between the raters. On the four scales of quality, moderate to high Spearman's correlations ranging from r=.55 to *r*=.90 are found between all three raters (see Table 4.5).

On the *completeness* scale, positive correlations could be found between raters 1 and 2; r(60)=.85, p<0.01, between raters 1 and 3; r(60)=.76, p<0.01, and between raters 2 and 3; r(60)=.90, p<0.01. On the *implicational explicitness* scale, positive correlations could also be found between raters 1 and 2; r(60)=.82, p<0.01, between raters 1 and 3; r(60)=.75, p<0.01, and between raters 2 and 3; r(60)=.81, p<0.01. On the *effectiveness* scale, positive correlations could be found between raters 2 and 3; r(60)=.81, p<0.01. On the *effectiveness* scale, positive correlations could be found between raters 1 and 2; r(60)=.73, p<0.01, between raters 1 and 3; r(60)=.69, p<0.01, and between raters 2 and 3; r(60)=.76, p<0.01. Finally on the *applicability* scale, positive correlations could be found between raters 1 and 3; r(60)=.62, p<0.01, and between raters 2 and 3; r(60)=.55, p<0.01, between raters 1 and 3; r(60)=.62, p<0.01, and between raters 2 and 3; r(60)=.58, p<0.01. Although lower correlations could be observed for the *applicability* and *effectiveness* scales as opposed to the former two

scales, these moderately high to high correlations still support the reliability of the ratings.

Quality Sub-scale (Mean, SD)	Rater	Rater 1	Rater 2
Completeness	1	-	
(M 13 72 CD 2 80)	2	.85**	-
(M=13.72, SD=2.00)	3	.76**	.90**
Implicational auplicity and	1	-	
$(M_{16} 5A_{16} CD_{15} 520)$	2	.82**	-
(M=16.54, SD=5.20)	3	.75**	.81**
Effectiven and	1	-	
(M 11 9 (CD 1 92))	2	.73**	-
(M=11.80, SD=1.82)	3	.69**	.76**
Applicability	1	-	
Applicadility	2	.55**	-
(<i>M</i> =13.44, <i>SD</i> =4.33)	3	.62**	.58**

Table 4.5 Spearman's correlations between the three raters

**Correlation is significant at p< 0.01.

4.4 Results

The results of this study are primarily meant to externally validate the tentative mindset clusters that were proposed in the previous study. This is done by firstly identifying how students' individual attributes, which include their perception of selfefficacy, tolerance for ambiguity, view of own intelligence and preferred learning approaches, relate to their discerning and opportunistic design learning mind-sets (RQ) 1). In Section 4.4.1, a Spearman's correlational analysis that tests these inter-relations is discussed. Subsequently, to validate these inter-relations, participants are grouped using a hierarchical cluster analysis, into high surface and low surface learners. Based on previous findings, the two mind-sets are found to prefer different learning approaches (Hamat et al., 2015). The discerning mind-set is associated to higher preference for a deep learning approach i.e., low preference for surface learning approach. In contrast, the opportunistic mind-set is associated to higher preference for a surface learning approach i.e., low preference for deep learning approach. Next, the high surface and low surface clusters are next compared using an Independent T-test. Differences between the two clusters in terms of perceived tolerance for ambiguity, view of own intelligence and self-efficacy are presented. Nevertheless, no differences in terms of the quality of solutions could be observed when participants were grouped based on these self-reported questionnaire data.

In Section 4.4.2, the new clusters of participants that were formed using the scores of their solution quality were used for further analysis. These clusters are expected to be a more reliable source compared to the previous cluster as it comprises behavioural data, and not only on self-reported data. Furthermore, as discussed in Section 4.1,

participants that incline toward a discerning mind-set are expected to perform better in a design task than those inclining toward an opportunistic mind-set. To test this proposition, participants were next grouped based on the quality of their solutions. Two new clusters of participants were formed. The first cluster consists of the top 25% participants that achieved the highest scores for in terms of solution quality. The second cluster consists of the bottom 25% participants that achieved the highest scores for in terms of solution quality. Differences between the two clusters in terms of perceived tolerance for ambiguity, view of own intelligence and self-efficacy are presented.

Secondly, the relation between mind-sets and the students' design processes are addressed in Section 4.4.3. The relation between design process and design outcomes is addressed in Section 4.4.4 (RQ 2). This is done by comparing students in the top and bottom 25% of their quality scores, using an Independent T-test. Results of the relation between the two mind-sets and students' design process and design outcomes are described. Thirdly, the effect of design theory-oriented stimuli is addressed in Section 4.4.5. Negligible effects of using reading materials related to design theories towards the quality of solutions generated by the participants are presented.

4.4.1 Individual differences between the two mind-sets: When participants are clustered based on their preferred learning approaches (RQ1)

The Spearman's correlational analysis reveals a strong positive correlation between the fixed view of own intelligence scores to the adoption of surface learning approaches t(82)=.53, p<0.01. Next, moderate correlations were found between tolerance for ambiguity and the surface learning approach t(85)=.38, p<0.001; surface learning approach to the strategic learning approach t(85)=.31, p<0.01 and between fixed view of own intelligence to self-efficacy t(74)=.30, p<0.05. Finally, low correlations were found between the strategic learning approach and self-efficacy scores t(77)=.29, p<0.05; strategic learning approach and fixed view of own intelligence t(82)=.28, p<0.05; deep learning approach scores to the surface learning approach scores t(85)=.26, p<0.05; fixed view of own intelligence and tolerance for ambiguity t(82)=-.25, p<0.05; and tolerance for ambiguity to deep learning approach t(85)=.23, p<0.05 (see Table 4.6).

These results indicate that when participants viewed their design capability or intelligence as something that is inbuilt and cannot be changed, they would be likely to incline toward preferring a surface and strategic learning approach. The surface and strategic learning approach items of the survey are associated to concentrating on memorizing information or learning seemingly unrelated bits and pieces of

information, in order to pass exams, as well as the need to carefully organize study time. Additionally, these participants indicated higher tolerance for ambiguity related to avoiding confrontations during interpersonal communication; accepting unclear circumstances in problem solving and decision making situations, and lastly feeling unpressured in job-related conditions.

Based on the first three significantly moderate to strong correlations observed, when participants indicated higher surface learning approach scores, they also indicated:

- 1. Higher fixed view of own intelligence;
- 2. Higher tolerance for ambiguity;
- 3. Higher strategic learning approach.

These results indicate that when participants viewed their design capability or intelligence as something that is inbuilt and cannot be changed, they would be likely to incline toward preferring a surface and strategic learning approach. The surface and strategic learning approach items of the survey are associated to concentrating on memorizing information or learning seemingly unrelated bits and pieces of information, in order to pass exams, as well as the need to carefully organize study time. Additionally, these participants indicated higher tolerance for ambiguity related to avoiding confrontations during interpersonal communication; accepting unclear circumstances in problem solving and decision making situations, and lastly feeling unpressured in job-related conditions.

Table 4.6 Spearman'	s correlations	between fixed	l view of	f own ii	ntelligence,	prefe	erred
learning approaches,	tolerance for	ambiguity and	self-eff	icacy			

	1	2	3	4	5	
	Fixed	Deep	Surface	Strategic	ТА	
	VI	LA	LA	LA		
1. Fixed view of own intelligence	—					
2. Deep LA	.20	—				
3. Surface LA	.53**	.26*	—			
4. Strategic LA	.28*	.13	.31**	—		
5. Tolerance for ambiguity	25*	23*	38***	21	—	
6. Self-efficacy	.30*	.09	.22	.29*	04	

*Correlation is significant at p< 0.05.

**Correlation is significant at p< 0.01.

***Correlation is significant at p< 0.001.

A hierarchical cluster analysis (SPSS) using the *Between-Groups Linkage* and *Squared Euclidean Distance* method (Field, 2013) was used to group students into low and high surface learners. This means that participants who scored themselves higher on the surface learning approach scale are grouped into the high surface cluster, and participants who scored lower on the surface learning approach scale are grouped into the low surface cluster. With reference to the types of design learning mind-sets proposed in the previous chapter, these two groups are comparable to the discerning (low surface) and opportunistic (high surface) mind-set types. These two groups of students were compared using an Independent T-test.

The learning approach that they preferred, their view of their own intelligence, their perceived level of self-efficacy and their tolerance for ambiguity were compared. The two groups comprised of 43 participants in the low surface and 36 participants in the high surface clusters (see Table 4.7). The mean scores of the surface learning approach scale was compared to assess the relevance of the two clusters. The surface learning approach scores were significantly lower for the low surface (M=7.7, SD=1.5) as compared to the high surface (M=11.5, SD=1.5) cluster; t(77)=-11.0, p=0.000.

The strategic learning approach scores were significantly lower for the low surface (M=6.2, SD=1.5) as compared to the high surface (M=7.1, SD=1.9) cluster; t(77)=-2.4, p=0.020. This indicates that high surface learners would be more likely to adopt the strategic learning approach. With respect to the deep learning approach, the independent T-test did not reveal any significant differences between the low surface (M=8.1, SD=1.0) and high surface (M=8.2, SD=0.9) cluster; t(77)=-0.5, p=0.642.

	Cluster 1: Low Surface N=43	Cluster 2: High Surface N=36	Effect size, Cohen's D
Deep LA	8.1	8.2	0.11
Surface LA***	7.7	11.5	2.53
Strategic LA*	6.2	7.1	0.53
Fixed View of own intelligence **	5.2	6.7	0.77
Self-efficacy*	5.2	6.0	0.53
Tolerance for ambiguity**	40.3	35.4	0.75

Table 4.7 Comparison between participants in the low surface and high surface clusters

*T-test on average scores over two clusters was significant at p<0.05.

**T-test on average scores over two clusters was significant at p<0.01.

****T-test on average scores over two clusters was significant at p<0.001.

The fixed view of own intelligence between the high and low surface clusters were also compared. The Independent T-test indicates that the fixed view of own intelligence scores were significantly lower within the low surface (M=5.2, SD=1.8) compared to the high surface (M=6.7, SD=2.1) cluster; t(74)=3.4, p=0.001. Subsequently, scores of tolerance for ambiguity and self-efficacy were compared. In the low surface cluster (M=40.3, SD=6.1), the tolerance for ambiguity scores were significantly higher compared to the high surface cluster (M=35.4, SD=6.9); t(77)=3.3, p=0.001. With regards to self-rates of design learning performance, participants in the low surface cluster rated themselves significantly lower (M=5.2, SD=1.4) as compared to the high surface (M=6.0, SD=1.6) cluster; t(69)=-2.3, p=0.023. Notably, the independent T-test reveals that:

- 1. Participants in the high surface cluster are more tolerant towards ambiguity and would rate their self-efficacy higher.
- 2. Participants in the low surface cluster are less tolerant of ambiguity and would rate their self-efficacy lower.

4.4.2 Individual differences between the two mind-sets: When participants are clustered based on the quality of their solutions (RQ1)

This Independent T-test reveals several significant differences between participants in the bottom and top 25% clusters (see Table 4.8). Participants in the bottom 25% cluster had significantly lower mean scores (M=10.03, SD=1.83) compared to participants in the top 25% cluster (M=14.41, SD=2.36); t(29.28)=-.05, p<0.001. Their lowest scores (M=8.61, SD=2.33) were also significantly lower compared to participants in the top 25% cluster (M=10.70, SD=4.03); t(44)=-2.15, p<0.05. Furthermore, their highest scores (M=11.43, SD=1.88) were significantly lower compared to participants in the top 25% cluster (M=18.65, SD=0.78); t(44)=-17.03, p<0.001. The effect sizes of the mean scores, lowest scores and highest scores were relatively big. This is especially so with regards to the mean scores and highest scores that participants achieved. The sample effect sizes contain values of Cohen's d that are larger than 2.0. This indicates that exceptionally large differences between the two clusters, in terms of their mean scores and highest scores (see last right column of items 13 to 15 in Table 4.8

Solutions produced by participants in the bottom 25% cluster scored significantly lower in terms of *relevance* and *specificity*. In terms of *relevance*, the *applicability* (M=2.36, SD=0.65) and *effectiveness*(M=2.03, SD=0.41) of their solutions were lower compared to the *applicability* (M=3.80, SD=0.60); t(44)=-7.76, p<0.001, and

Item/Scale	Cluster 1: Bottom 25% N=23	Cluster 2: Top 25% N=23	Effect size, Cohen's D			
Presage level	variables					
Items on tolerance for ambiguity						
1. It really disturbs me when I am unable to follow another person's flow of thought. (interpersonal communication) *	3.04	3.74	0.46			
2. A group meeting functions best with a definite agenda. (Problem solving) *	4.35	3.87	0.62			
Item on Self-efficacy						
3. Finally, can you please indicate how you scored on your design work, so far? *	5.90	4.90	0.71			
Process level variables						
4. Low level questions (LLQ) **	0.48	0.83	0.77			
5. Generative design questions (GDQ) *	0.17	0.00	0.62			
6. Faced difficulties *	1.04	0.83	0.70			
Product level (outcome) variables						
7. Relevance *	25.06	29.45	1.20			
8. Specificity **	25.11	36.35	1.83			
9. Mean: Applicability ***	2.36	3.80	2.29			
10. Mean: Effectiveness ***	2.03	3.01	1.68			
11. Mean: Completeness ***	2.85	3.63	1.03			
12. Mean: Implicational Effectiveness ***	2.79	4.00	1.26			
13. Mean score of all solutions generated by student ***	10.03	14.41	2.08			
14. Solution with lowest score generated by student *	8.61	10.70	0.63			
15. Solution with highest score generated by student ***	11.43	18.65	5.02			

Table 4.8 Differences between top 25% and bottom 25% scoring students on the three different levels

*T-test on average scores over two clusters was significant at p<0.05. **T-test on average scores over two clusters was significant at p<0.01.

***T-test on average scores over two clusters was significant at p<0.001.

effectiveness (M=3.01, SD=0.72); t(44)=-5.70, p<0.001 of participants in the top 25% cluster. In terms of *specificity*, the *completeness*(M=2.85, SD=0.83) and *implicational effectiveness* (M=2.79, SD=1.09) of their solutions were lower compared to the *completeness*(M=3.63, SD=0.66); t(44)=-3.51, p<0.001 and *implicational effectiveness* (M=4.00, SD=0.82); t(44)=-4.26, p<0.001 of solutions produced by participants in the top 25% cluster. This means that participants in the top 25% cluster were able to generate solutions that were more *relevant* and *specific*. In terms of *relevance*, this means that their solutions are more applicable and effective. In other words, their solutions apply more clearly to the stated problem and solves the problem to a better degree. In terms of *specificity*, this means that the completeness and implicational effectiveness of their solutions are higher. To put it differently, their solutions covered more independent sub-components with regard to who, what, where, when, why, and how. Additionally, their solutions clearly conveys their recommended action to the expected outcome.

In terms of individual differences, observations related to tolerance for ambiguity and self-efficacy can be found. Firstly, with regards to their *tolerance for ambiguity,* participants in the bottom 25% cluster showed significantly lower scores for an item related to *interpersonal communication* (M=3.04, SD=1.11) as compared to participants in the top 25% cluster (M=3.74, SD=0.96), t(44)=-2.2, p<0.05. On the other hand, participants in the bottom 25% cluster showed significantly higher scores (M=4.34, SD=0.78) on an item related to problem solving as compared to students in the top 25% (M=3.87, SD=0.76); t(44)=2.12, p<0.05. Medium to high effect sizes can be observed for these two items at Cohen's d=0.46 and 0.62 respectively.

This means that participants in the bottom 25% cluster tolerate ambiguity with regards to interpersonal communication better than they do compared to situations related to problem solving. More precisely, they prefer to have a definitive agenda when involved in group meetings as they are less tolerant of ambiguity in this situation. However, they perceive that it is less important for them to be able to follow another person's trail of thought, as compared to participants in the top 25%, as they are more tolerant of ambiguity in this type of situation. Secondly, participants in the bottom 25% cluster showed significantly higher self-efficacy scores (M=5.90, SD=1.44) as compared to the top 25% (M=4.90, SD=1.37); t(39)=2.28, p< 0.05. This means that although they indicated higher self-rates on their own previous design works, i.e., they are optimistic of their previous design performance, they actually produced solutions that are of lower quality compared to students in the top 25%.

4.4.3 Influence of mind-sets on question-asking strategies and perception of difficulties faced throughout design process (RQ2)

In terms of design process, it could be observed that participants in the bottom 25% cluster, that are representative of participants that incline toward the opportunistic mind-set, asked significantly fewer low-level questions (M=0.48, SD=0.51) as compared to students in the top 25% (M=0.83, SD=0.39); t(23)=-2.60, p<0.05, that are representative of participants that incline toward the discerning mind-set. Moreover, they asked significantly more generative design questions (M=0.17, SD=0.51) as compared to students in the top 25% (M=0.00, SD=0.39); t(23)=2.15, p<0.05 (see also Table 4.8). In addition, participants in the bottom 25% cluster showed that they faced significantly more difficulties (M=1.04, SD=0.21) compared to participants in the top 25% cluster (M=0.83, SD=0.39); t(23)=2.37, p<0.05. Relatively strong effect sizes, Cohen's d=0.77, 0.62 and 0.70 can be founded for these three observations respectively. These strong effect sizes illustrate the large differences between the two clusters in relation to the types of questions they asked and perceived difficulties that they faced throughout their engagement in the design task.

4.4.4 Relation between design process and design outcomes (RQ2)

The relationship between the types of questions that students asked and quality of their solutions were tested using the Chi² test. Questions were categorised as either low level, high level or generative design questions. The quality of students' solutions were categorised as either "high" or "medium and low". The results indicated that such a statistically significant relationship exists between the quality of students' solution and the type of low level questions that they asked (x^2 (1)=9.052, p<0.01, n=91). An inspection of the standardized residuals reveal that as students asked more low level questions, the quality of solutions that they produced also increased. Additionally, it reveals that when students did not ask low level questions, the quality of solutions they produced were not likely to be of high quality (see Appendix P for table of Chi² test). No relationships between the high and generative design questions to the quality of outcomes can be observed.

4.4.5 Effect of design theory-oriented stimuli (RQ3)

The relationship between the quality of students' solutions and whether they received the hand-out related to design theories was also examined with a Chi² test. However, no statistically significant relationship can be found ($x^2(2)=1.667$, p>0.005, n=91). This means that the related design theories that students read did not have any effect on the quality of their solutions (see Appendix P for table of Chi² tests).

4.4.6 Summary of findings

The interaction between individual differences, design process and quality of design solutions are summarised in Figure 4.4. Attributes on the presage level that are associated to participants in the discerning mind-set cluster are positively related to the quality of solutions that they produce. This shows that participants in the discerning mind-set cluster displayed the capability to produce higher quality solutions. Results indicate that participants in the discerning mind-set cluster showed higher tolerance for ambiguity in problem solving situations, but not in interpersonal situations. They also associated themselves to lower levels of self-efficacy. Additionally, questions that they queried regarding the task inclined toward low level questions. In contrast, participants in the opportunistic mind-set cluster are associated to a contrasting set of attributes. These attributes include indicating a higher tolerance for ambiguity in situations that are related to interpersonal situations, and not in problem solving situations. Further more, they perceive themselves as having higher self-efficacy compared to their counterparts. Further evidence related to differences in terms of engagement in the design process can be observed.



Figure 4.4 Connections between variables on the three different levels of the 3P model

Participants inclining toward an opportunistic mind-set implied that they faced difficulties throughout completing the design problem. Furthermore, they posed more generative design questions compared to participants in the discerning mind-set cluster. However, there was no evidence to indicate that asking generative design questions was positively or negatively related to the quality of their solutions.

Conversely, low level questions are positively correlated to the quality of solutions produced, and participants in the discerning mind-set cluster are associated to asking these low level questions. Attributes connected to the opportunistic mind-set type have been found to be associated with lower quality solutions. That is, high self-efficacy and tolerance for ambiguity in interpersonal related situations are negatively related to the quality of solutions that participants produce. This provides evidence that students would be more likely to produce solutions with lower quality. In this study this means that their solutions scored lower in terms of relevance and specificity.

4.5 Discussion and Conclusion

Distinct differences between the opportunistic and discerning mind-sets have been found in this study. These differences can be found across all three presage, process and product levels of the 3P model. These differences are discussed in the subsequent sub-sections.

4.5.1 Mind-sets and individual differences in design learning

The first research question in this study was formulated to test "how individual attributes that include perception of *self-efficacy, tolerance for ambiguity, view of own intelligence* and *preferred learning approaches* relate to the discerning and opportunistic design learning mind-sets". With regards to preferred learning approaches, the opportunistic mind-set cluster was found to be closely linked to high surface and strategic learning approaches. Students in the discerning mind-set cluster, however, indicated a significantly lower preference for the surface learning approach.

No statistical significance related to the deep learning approach can be observed. The design students scored equally high on the deep learning approach scale when grouped in the discerning mind-set (M=8.1, SD=1.0) and opportunistic mind-set (M=8.2, SD=0.9) clusters. It can be anticipated that students who have managed to be enrolled in the university (i.e. tertiary education) would indeed display high levels of analytical reasoning, which are closely associated to the deep learning approach. A high or low indication of preference for a surface learning approach becomes a key variable to differentiate the two mind-set types. These results are consistent with and further support the findings from the previous study, presented in Chapter 3. In other words, the assessment of preference towards the surface learning approach proves a more suitable measure to identify the discerning or opportunistic mind-set types.

Previous studies have shown that the deep learning approach is negatively correlated to a fixed view of own intelligence (Dahl et al., 2005; Stump et al., 2009) and positively correlated to a growth view of own intelligence (Stump et al., 2009). However, significant correlations between a fixed view of own intelligence to the

surface learning approach could not be found. In this study however, it was discovered that the adoption of high surface learning approaches are indeed related to the fixed view of own intelligence (see Section 4.4.1). The correlations and Independent T-test indicate that design students that viewed their own intelligence and design capabilities as an unchangeable trait, indicated a high preference for the surface learning approach. On the other hand, design students that viewed their own intelligence and design capabilities as a developable and changeable trait indicated a low preference for the surface learning approach. This strongly suggest that design students that incline toward an opportunistic mind-set would also tend to have a fixed view of their own intelligence and design capabilities. On the other hand, design students that incline toward a discerning mind-set would not view that their intelligence and design capabilities are a fixed and unchangeable trait.

Students in the opportunistic mind-set cluster showed higher tolerance for ambiguity and higher self-efficacy scores (see Independent T-test in Section 4.4.1). In terms of tolerance for ambiguity, this indicates that the opportunistic mind-set student would avoid confrontations during inter-personal communication, accept unclear circumstances in problem solving and decision making situations; and feel unpressured in job-related conditions. This is in contrast to the discerning mind-set students who showed low tolerance for the same abovementioned situation. In a problem solving or design based situation, it is highly likely that a tolerance for such a situation would impede the seamless course of the project. This is especially so when ambiguous or uncertain conditions that need to be clarified are left unattended. Furthermore, individuals with a low tolerance for ambiguity tend to avoid ambiguous stimuli (Furnham & Ribchester, 1995). Similar findings can be observed in the subsequent analysis (see Independent T-test in Section 4.4.2), when students were clustered in terms of the quality of their outcomes. Two items were statistically significant. The opportunistic mind-set cluster indicated through these items that they would tolerate not being unable to follow another person's flow of thought. However, they indicated that they would have low tolerance in problem solving situations. More specifically, they would not be able to tolerate having meetings without a definitive agenda.

Students in the discerning mind-set cluster indicated adverse preferences for the two items. This suggests that, firstly, students that incline toward a discerning mind-set would be more likely to avoid ambiguous conditions by clarifying the situation i.e., possibly by facing confrontations during interpersonal communication in order to avoid the ambiguity. Secondly, as these students are able to tolerate ambiguity in a problem solving situation, this also indicates that they would be able to flexibly adapt and better manage within problem solving situations. On the other hand, students inclining toward an opportunistic mind-set would be less analytical in a design or

problem solving situation. They would also be less likely to engage in interpersonal confrontations to communicate any impending ambiguities.

The design process is however an iterative logical process that is realized by different modes of reasoning (Takeda et al., 1990) i.e., throughout the different stages of design, different modes of reasoning are required. Thus, in an idea generating phase where creativity and judgements should be deferred, a high tolerance for ambiguity is highly likely to be of value. It can then be anticipated that opportunistic mind-set students would fare better in this stage of the design process. However, it might prove to be a disadvantageous attribute to adopt in a detail design phase where higher analytical modes of reasoning are required. It is however necessary for students to have tolerance for ambiguity as the process of designing in itself is highly associated to complex and wicked problems i.e., problems that are not well-defined and are subject to various re-interpretations (Buchanan, 1992; Coyne, 2005). Ultimately, design students will be and are required to deal with ambiguity.

In terms of higher self-efficacy scores associated to the opportunistic mind-set cluster, this demonstrates that these design students are able to regulate their coping behaviours (Bandura, 1982) when dealing with complexities associated to design learning that require high reasoning capabilities. In this study, significant correlations between students' surface and strategic learning approach scores could be observed. This indicates that opportunistic mind-set students are highly likely to cope by organizing their time and learning activities towards memorizing information and fulfilling course requirements.

It is propagated that students who formulate high expectations about their prior performance do perform better (Bandura, 1982; Miller et al., 1996; Pintrich & de Groot, 1990; Grant & Dweck, 2003; Richardson, et al., 2012), however, this is not the case in this study. Design students who had showed higher levels of self-efficacy generated solutions that were of lower quality. Their solutions were less relevant and specific to the problem given. Coupled with their inclinations towards surface learning approaches (e.g., unrelated memorising, being bounded to syllabus and not being able to connect knowledge, concepts or information), it is possible that these students are actually unaware of the complex reasoning processes that are required of them. On the other hand, discerning mind-set students had showed lower levels of self-efficacy, although they had generated better quality solutions. This finding supports the notion that lower levels of self-efficacy can result in better performance (Christensen et al., 2002). However, it can be expected that this situation occurs only when students adopt self-regulatory behaviours, such as consciously contemplating and controlling the processes involved in their learning activities (McLaughlin, 1990).

4.5.2 Question formulations, design theory-oriented stimuli and quality of solutions

The second research question in this study addresses how the design process that students engage in and the quality of design solutions they produce relate to the two mind-sets. The discerning mind-set cluster of design students asked more low level questions, while opportunistic mind-set students asked more generative design questions. More notably, it was statistically significant that students inclining toward the opportunistic mind-set, rarely asked low level questions compared to their counterparts. No significant differences could be observed between these two clusters of design students with regards to the high level questions that they asked. The amount of high level questions for both opportunistic and discerning mind-set students were comparable. It has been recommended that the process of question asking be sequentially ordered from low level to high level and generative design questions in order to establish more reliable forms of knowledge (Dillon, 1984; Eris, 2002).

This is clearly evident in the high quality of solutions that are generated by discerning mind-set students. These students asked significantly more low level questions. In other words, students that incline toward a discerning mind-set did not jump to generative design questions without establishing a strong foundation of the design problem through low level questions first. On the other hand, students inclining toward an opportunistic mind-set jumped to generative design questions without formulating such lower level questions. However, no statistically significant results can be reported with regards to generative design questions to the quality of solutions.

The third research question in this study was formulated to test whether "the quality of students' design outputs be improved by introducing design theory-oriented stimuli". The results (see Section 4.4.5) clearly indicate that the stimuli did not have any notable effect on the quality of design solutions that students produced. Important to keep in mind is the short amount of time that was allocated for the design task. Thus it may be challenging to expect immediate and noticeable effects on the solutions that are produced in terms of quality. Possibly, students need to internalize and make sense of the design theories presented, before they can apply the design theories to their design process.

4.5.3 Recommendations and Limitations

Findings from this study provide potential implications for design education. Most importantly, design students should be made aware of their individual dispositions that exist prior to engagement in learning. These factors influence the way they engage in learning and the outcomes of their learning. These dispositions include

their mind-sets, perception of self-efficacy, view of own intelligence, tolerance for ambiguity and preference of learning approach. Secondly, students should be motivated and be taught ways of managing and harnessing their individual dispositions. This includes developing their mind-sets towards a more discerning learning mind-set, and motivating them to view their own intelligence and capabilities as a developable trait, as opposed to a fixed trait that cannot be changed. Students should also be made aware of their own levels of self-efficacy so that they can regulate their own learning activities. Furthermore, students can also be made aware of the ambiguity in solving design problems and be trained as to how to manage these situations. Design students should also be taught about the types and strategies of formulating questions. Questions that are better structured can establish more reliable forms of knowledge. Besides, it also enables students to better understand the design problems they engage in and enables them to formulate imminent actions. These notions may possibly extend to designers, as a better understanding of the design problems that they attempt to solve is also essential in producing more applicable, relevant and possibly, even novel solutions.

Results obtained in this study are derived from an experimental situation and there are limitations to generalising these results to the actual design studio setting (Cohen et al., 2007). Although it would be expected that these results can be collectively attributed to design students from similar backgrounds or training, such an estimation should be cautiously attempted due to the limitations of the sampling method that was used (see Section 4). Apart from that, data was gathered at only a single point in time, thus process data were not available in this study. Participants were not informed to reflect on specific phases of their design process during the data collection sessions. The learning approaches adopted by the participants throughout or at specific points of the complex design process could not be fully captured. Still, the information obtained was very rich and allowed detailed analysis which raises confidence in the findings.

Future studies should take into consideration the possibility of isolating distinctly different parts of the design process. The types of activities that a student engages in when he or she is in a conceptual design phase differs as compared to when they are engaging in a detailed design phase. These different activities require different mindsets, levels of tolerance toward ambiguity etc. By differentiating the distinct parts of the design process, a clearer delineation of students' design learning is possible through comparisons between the different phases. Additionally, the method of intervention that was used in this study did not yield any differences toward the quality of solutions that were produced. Other methods of intervention should be taken into consideration. For example, this study has shown that the different types of questions that students asked possibly yield different quality in terms of the design

outcomes. Could this be a way to induce reflection within students? If students are stimulated with deeper reasoning questions, will they engage in design activities that would lead them to create solutions with better design quality? In the following Chapter, this method of intervention is investigated next to distinguishing the design phases that students engage in throughout their design process.
5

The effects of mindsets in designing

In the previous chapter, the discerning and opportunistic mind-sets that exist within design students were externally validated. Differences between design students inclining toward the discerning and opportunistic mind-sets, on the three presage-processproduct levels of Biggs's (1993) 3P model were found. On the presage level, students' tolerance for ambiguity and perceived self-efficacy were found to differ. On the process level, the types of questions that students asked were different. On the product level, the quality of solutions that they produced were also different. However, the designoriented stimuli that was used in the previous research study did not yield any results. Subsequently, a third research study with improved study design was undertaken to further test the two mind-sets. The results of this study are presented in this chapter. A new design problem and intervention was incorporated into this study. Additionally, better behavioural data were collected. Design students were asked to fill in a questionnaire and solve a design problem. In the questionnaire, 22-items were specifically developed, based on the characteristics identified from the prior two studies, to assess students' mind-sets. Additionally, a reflection-oriented stimuli was used for the intervention, to test whether the design activities and design outputs produced by design students that incline toward the two different mind-sets, could improve. By analysing students' design activities, different approaches of the two mind-sets when engaging in a design task can be observed. Differences in the quality of design solutions produced by students inclining toward the two different mind-sets can also be observed. Insights obtained from this study allow to the derivation of recommendations on how to potentially support design teaching and learning.

5.1 Research aims, hypotheses and questions

The primary aim of this empirical study was to expand upon current understanding of the two mind-sets and its effect on design behaviour and outcomes. This expansion is undertaken by testing the differences between the discerning and opportunistic mind-sets on their learning approach, design processes and quality of outcomes of

their design work. It is hypothesised that the two mind-sets can influence the approach that students prefer to adopt and the external behavioural responses that they would choose to apply in learning. Furthermore, these predispositions are expected to influence the quality of outcomes that the design students produce. Findings from the two previous studies have indicated that deep learning approaches are closely connected to the discerning mind-set, while surface learning approaches are connected to the opportunistic mind-set (see Chapters 3 and 4). Based on these findings, these learning approaches are also expected to influence the design activities that students engage in along with the quality of design solutions that students produce.

Designing requires interaction with unclear, inexplicit and ambiguous problem solving situations that are also complex, non-routine and ill-defined (Dorst & Cross, 2001; Lawson, 2006). In the context of a complicated design task, students inclining toward a discerning mind-set are expected to deeply engage with the design problem. This includes seeking meaning between concepts, relating ideas and information, and using corroborative evidence to support the development of design ideas and/or decisions. It is also expected that discerning mind-set students will engage in comprehensive design activities and that they will thoroughly consider the aspects of a design problem. Furthermore, discerning mind-set students are expected to make more comprehensive considerations when engaged in a design problem compared to the opportunistic mind-set students. In contrast, students inclining toward an opportunistic mind-set are expected to take convenient measures and not delve as deeply into design tasks at hand. They are expected to contrive upon more convenient strategies that are easily accessible, and avoid undesirable or difficult situations. This includes engaging in design tasks at a surface level and making superficial connections with non-corroborative evidence (Hamat et al., 2015; Hamat et al., 2016).

In this study, students that incline toward the discerning and opportunistic mind-sets are expected to considerably differ in terms of their engagement in their design processes. This is tested by introducing an element of ambiguity in the experiment. Students were asked to redesign their local national zoo where they are required to engage in contemplating large spatial areas on a macro-level. Being trained as product designers, these students are more familiar with designing on a micro scale. Thus, their behaviour when engaged in solving an unfamiliar design problem can be compared when they incline toward a discerning or opportunistic mind-set. It is expected that students inclining toward a discerning mind-set will engage in deeper reasoning with the design problem, even though it is unfamiliar. They would thus consider the problem more comprehensively. As aspects related to a design students

produce are also expected to increase. Hence students inclining toward a discerning mind-set are expected to produce solutions with better quality. This is in concurrence with other studies on mind-sets where mediating behavioural variables were found to affect outcomes (Armor & Taylor, 2003; Burnette et al., 2013; Zeng et al., 2016).

Based on the prior discussions, this study aims to answer the following research questions:

- *1.* Do opportunistic and discerning mind-set students prefer to approach their learning differently?
- 2. What is the relationship between students' design processes and the quality of design solutions they produce?

Outcomes are assessed by evaluating the creativity of design solutions produced by students. A creative solution is defined as a solution that is of high quality and is novel (Dean et al., 2006). A high quality solution is a solution that is effective, implementable and applies to the problem at hand, while a novel solution is a unique and uncommon solution compared to the overall population of solutions (Dean et al., 2006). The creativity of solutions produced by students are assessed for its quality in terms of *clarity, completeness, usefulness,* and *feasibility*; and its novely in terms of *originality* (see Section 5.2.3 for full description of scales). Therefore as students incline toward a discerning mind-set, they are expected to produce more clear, complete, useful, feasible and original design solutions.

The quality of solutions produced by students is expected to increase when they engage in deeper modes of reasoning. One way to create deeper reasoning is by presenting reflection-oriented stimuli (Dym et al., 2001). By stimulating the students with deep reasoning questions, it is expected that students would engage in design activities that leads to better quality design solutions. To stimulate reflection and deeper modes of reasoning, questions related to the design problems are posed to students in the experimental group. It is anticipated that students will engage more actively i.e., reflect more deeply with the design problem when questions related to the design problem are posed to the design problem are posed to them. It is anticipated, however, that this increase will be more apparent within discerning mind-set students as compared to opportunistic mind-set students. This is because students that incline toward the discerning mind-set prefer deep learning approaches. Additionally, their question-asking strategy and low tolerance for ambiguity indicates that they are more likely to clarify and avoid ambiguous situations (see Section 4.5.1 and 4.5.2).

Based on the prior discussions, this study also aims to answer the following research questions:

- *3.* What is the inter-relation between the two mind-sets and the design processes that they engage in? Furthermore, are there differences between discerning and opportunistic mind-set students, in terms of their design processes, when they are introduced to reflection-oriented stimuli?
- 4. What is the inter-relation between the two mind-sets and the quality of design solutions that they produce? Furthermore, does the quality of design solutions differ between discerning and opportunistic mind-set students when they are introduced to reflection-oriented stimuli?

An adapted version of Biggs's (1993) 3P model is used as a conceptual framework to test the abovementioned research questions and speculated hypotheses (see Chapter 2). The conceptual framework for this research study is presented in the following section.

5.2 Conceptual framework

The 3P model provides a general framework to test the research questions and hypotheses formulated (see Figure 5.1). The model consists of three different levels: the *presage*, *process* and *product levels*. The research questions and hypotheses formulated tests the distinct variables and its inter-relations on these three levels.

The first research question is related to whether opportunistic and discerning mindset students prefer to approach their learning differently. To examine this question, variables within the *presage level* are tested. The second research question relates to examining the inter-relation between the two mind-sets and the design processes that they engage in, and further, the inter-relations when students are introduced to reflection-oriented stimuli. To examine this question, interactions between the two mind-sets, as variables on the *presage level*, and design processes that students engage in, as variables on the *process level*, are tested.

The third research question concerns the inter-relation between students' design processes and the creativity of design solutions they produce. This question requires the testing of interactions between the variables on the *process level* and *product level*. Finally, the fourth research question is related to the inter-relation of the two mind-sets and the creativity of design solutions that they produce, and further, the inter-relations when students are introduced to reflection-oriented stimuli. To examine this question, mind-sets on the *presage level* are tested against variables on

the *product level.* The description of each variable on the different levels are discussed in the following sub-sections.



Figure 5.1 Variables in the adapted "3P" model of students' learning used in this research study

5.2.1 Variables on the presage level

Variables within students that "exist prior to actual engagement in learning" (Biggs, 1993, p. 8) are situated in the *presage level*. Two variables assumed to be prevalent within students are focussed upon in this study. These encompass *mind-sets* and the *learning approaches* that students would prefer to adopt. As discussed in Chapters 2 and 3, the mind-sets are categorised as either discerning or opportunistic. As for the learning approaches, three types of learning approaches that students prefer are assessed. This includes their preference for deep, strategic or surface approaches in learning design (see section 2.3.2 in Chapter 2).

5.2.2 Variables on the process level

In total, eight variables are situated at the *process level*. Out of the eight variables, the first four are related to the considerations that students take into account and the remaining four are related to the design activities that students engage in when

designing. To obtain insights regarding the considerations that students took into account, four variables were assessed.

Firstly, the number of considerations that students made were tallied throughout all the design activities that students engaged in prior to working on their design solutions. Secondly, the number of considerations that students made in their very first design activity were tallied. By assessing students' considerations in these two instances i.e., in total and in the beginning, an idea of the breadth of students' considerations throughout and in the earlier part of their design process can be obtained. Thirdly, the number of *specialised topics* that related to the design task which students considered were tallied. Specialised topics that students considered include the *safety of guardians; feeding of animals; facilities of zoo; and climate.* Fourthly, the comprehensiveness of students' considerations in regard to these specialised topics are assessed.

The remaining four variables are assessed to obtain insights regarding the design activities that students engaged in. Firstly, the number of *phases* that students go through during their entire design process is assessed. These phases account for the different design activities that they engage in, in a sequential manner. These design phases are very well-aligned with the existing phases of the design process (Howard et al., 2008; Lawson, 2006). The phases that students engaged in include *exploring problems; identifying connections;* and *proposing solution* etc. (see Table 5.1). Next, the comprehensiveness of the design activities within these phases are assessed. These two variables shed light on the breadth and depth of design activities students immerse themselves in. In general, some students direct their attention towards the problem space, while others spend more time in the solution space. However, in some cases, there are also students who direct their attention equally to both the problem and solution spaces. The seventh and eight process variables are related to assessing the number of design activities that students engaged in which are related to the problem and solution space respectively (see Section 5.3.7).

5.2.3 Variables on the product level

The creativity of solutions generated by students is assessed on the *product level* of the 3P model. Creativity here means that a solution has both quality and novelty (Dean et al., 2006) (see Section 5.1 for descriptions of quality and novelty). The creativity of solutions produced by students is assessed on five sub-scales: *clarity, completeness, usefulness, feasibility* and *originality*. These sub-scales are the outcome of adaptations based on Dean et al's. (2006) scales for idea evaluation. These adaptations were made to the original scales based on discussions with a design teacher from the Industrial Design Engineering faculty of TU Delft. This teacher was a course co-ordinator for one of the undergraduate design programme with

approximately nine years of experience in co-ordinating design courses. The creativity scales along with the outputs produced by students were reviewed by this teacher. These scales were refined based on feedback received from this discussion (see Table 5.1).

The first and second scales are related to *clarity* and *completeness* respectively. *Clarity* refers to the degree to which the solution is communicated well. In this study, *clarity* is rated highly when the solution is easily understood by the evaluator. This includes clarity in terms of grammar and word usage, and clarity of the solution idea that is being conveyed. The second scale is related to *completeness*. *Completeness* refers to the degree to which the solution will thoroughly solve the problem. When an evaluator rates a solution as more complete, this means that he perceives the solution as solving a bigger part of the problem posed. This encompasses the number of independent sub-components into which the solution can be decomposed. This includes the breadth of coverage with regards to who, what, where, when, why, and how the solution solves the design problem.

Creativity scale	Definition
Clarity	The degree to which the solution is communicated well.
Completeness	The degree to which the solution will thoroughly solve the problem.
Usefulness	The degree to which the solution benefits the stakeholders involved (the animals, the guardians and visitors)
Feasibility	The degree to which the solution can easily be produced/implemented (in terms of manufacturing, technology and existing facilities)
Originality	The degree to which the solution is rare, completely new and surprising (among other solutions produced).

Table 5.1 Definition of creativity scales used in this study

The third scale is related to the *usefulness* of the solution that students produce. *Usefulness* refers to the degree which the solution benefits the stakeholders involved. Solutions are considered more useful when more advantages for the stakeholders arise. Positive correlations between these three scales have previously been reported (Dean et al., 2006). Based on these results, positive correlations between the *clarity* and *completeness* to the *usefulness* of solutions can be anticipated in this study. The fourth scale is related to the *feasibility* of solutions. *Feasibility* refers to the degree which the solution can be easily produced and implemented. Solutions are considered as less feasible when the level of difficulty to implement the solution increases.

93

The fifth and last scale is related the *originality* of solutions. *Originality* refers to the degree to which the solution is rare, completely new and surprising. The originality of the solution is compared between the solutions that are produced within the sample students. Solutions are considered more original when they are unexpected and surprising. Studies have shown that the *feasibility* of solutions are negatively correlated to *novelty* (Dean et al., 2006). In other words, as a solution is more original or breaks convention, the solution will be more difficult to be actualized. This means that the *originality* of solutions can be expected to negatively correlate to *feasibility* in this study.

5.3 Methods

A quasi-experimental study with control group design was chosen for this study (Kumar, 2011). The control group design allows for two different conditions to be tested within the respondents. One group of respondents was presented with reflection-oriented stimuli (experimental group) while the other group of respondents was not (control group). Before the actual design task, respondents filled in a first questionnaire to assess their learning approaches and mind-sets in design learning. They were next given a design task to redesign their local national zoo. Subsequently, they filled in a second questionnaire after they engaged in the design task (see Figure 5.2). The second questionnaire was related to their perception of the design task.



Figure 5.2 Experiment procedure for control and experimental groups

5.3.1 Participants

45 respondents from a public university in Malaysia voluntarily participated for the study. They received a book voucher at the end of the experiment as an incentive and compensation for their participation. 25 respondents were enrolled in the second year of their education while the remaining 20 were enrolled in the third year of their study. 20 of them were male and 25 were female. 91.1% of the respondents were

between 21 and 23 years old while the remaining respondents were 24 to 25 years old. To equally distribute the respondents between the control and experimental group, 23 of them received the reflection-oriented stimuli while the remaining 22 respondents did not receive the reflection-oriented stimuli.

Two sessions were conducted where 20 respondents participated in the first session and 25 respondents participated in the second session. The sessions were conducted in an enclosed studio within the premise of the university that originally serves as a studio room for the respondents. Respondents were informed that the aim of the experiment was to uncover their individual learning approaches. Hence, they should work on the design task individually and not engage in discussions or actions that could influence their design process.

5.3.2 Data collection: Questionnaire and graphical output

Data collected for this study comprised questionnaire items that were filled in by the respondents and graphical outputs that were produced when solving the given design problem. The respondents filled in a questionnaire at the beginning and at the end of the study. Items in the first questionnaire relate to variables on the *presage level* (see Appendix R). It assesses respondents' self-reporting regarding their design learning mind-set and preferred learning approaches. Prior to answering the questionnaire, respondents were asked to think of the design course that they had previously or are currently undertaking as a context for the questionnaire items. Respondents were asked to answer the questionnaire items as honestly as possible, according to how closely they relate to the scales as opposed to what they reckon as the "right" answer should be.

Items assessing design learning mind-sets were developed based on the two prior studies. The design learning mind-set of students was assessed on the discerning and the opportunistic mind-set scales. The discerning mind-set scale assesses students' interest in knowledge (3-items) and inclination for active experimentation (4-items), while the opportunistic mind-set scale assesses students' inclination to take convenient measures (5-items), administer routine actions (5-items). Another 5-items assess students' inclination for active or inactive reflection that measure the discerning or opportunistic mind-sets respectively. Scales for these items are reversed where necessary in the analyses. Examples of items in each scale are as follows:

1. Interest in knowledge:

- I make an effort to understand new knowledge and concepts quickly.
- It is important to me that I come to class so that I can interact with my teachers directly.

2. Active experimentation:

- When in doubt, I will search for resources on my own.
- I continue to implement tasks my way even if it is done differently by others.

3. Taking convenient measures:

- I abandon design ideas if I realize that the final presented model cannot be constructed easily.
- I often depend on teachers to tell me what to do next.

4. Administering routine actions:

- *I usually follow the teachers' instruction without questioning the reasons behind them.*
- I often find inspiration on the internet, books, etc. while designing but I don't spend a lot of time researching these ideas thoroughly.

5. Active or inactive reflection:

- I usually examine closely the goal of the task that I am supposed to complete thoroughly before starting to design.
- Critique sessions help me see different ways of looking at things.

The second questionnaire assessed respondents' perception of the design problem (see Appendix S). This questionnaire provides insights regarding how difficult the design problem was perceived and how satisfied respondents' were with the design solutions that they had produced. Respondents rated all questionnaire items on a Likert scale (1–5). Respondents were given an unlimited amount of A3 papers to work out their solutions. They were also requested to use a new piece of paper when they started to do something new in their process, according to their own perception. Such as when they start to sketch out solutions, subsequent to noting down aspects from the brief. Respondents were also asked to number the pages according to their sequence. The outputs produced ranged from a minimum of one to a maximum of seven sheets of A3 papers per respondent. The outputs that respondents produced consisted of combinations of images and textual notes.

The textual notes made by the respondents consists of the English and Malay language. These notes were kept in their original form as the people involved in evaluating or coding the data were fluent with both the English and Malay languages. An example of an output produced by Respondent 15 is shown in Figure 5.3). Respondent 15 worked out his solution on five pieces of A3 paper. The first three pages are related to considerations regarding the design problem. The last two pages are related to the solution that the respondent generated for the design problem. At



the end of the experiment, every respondent produced one best final design solution. In the example of Respondent 15, his final design encompasses pages 4 and 5.

5.3.3 Design brief and stimuli

The design problem was conveyed through a design brief requiring a new design for the local national zoo that has remained unchanged since its initiation in 1963. This design problem introduces an element of ambiguity for the respondents as the design of the zoo requires them to contemplate large spatial areas on a macro-level. These students are trained as product designers and are more familiar with designing product and components on a micro-level. By introducing a complex and unfamiliar problem, it is expected that differences between the mind-sets will be more observable (see Section 5.1). A short description related to the zoo, its managing body and funding source was provided in the brief. Respondents were then requested to come up with a new design and suggest ways to enable their solutions to be realized i.e., implemented. Respondents in both the control and experimental groups received the same brief. Respondents in the experimental group received additional questions at the bottom of the design brief as their experimental treatment (see Appendix T), that acted as the reflection-oriented stimuli as discussed in section 5.1. Four questions were posed to respondents in the experimental group. Each of these questions are preceded by general facts related to the questions. This was done to vividly describe and avoid any forms of misunderstanding regarding the context of the questions (Graesser & Person, 1994). In the first question, the general fact that was stated prior to the question is:

Malaysia's tropical climate experiences hot and humid weather. Can you think of zoo animals that will have difficulties living in such climate?

The statement made prior to the question was meant to clarify the context of the question. In this case, it refers specifically to the local tropical climate which was hot and humid. The question next addresses the possible difficulties that the animals would face in such a climate. This formulation invites the respondent to diverge their thinking and take into consideration the needs of the various animals in the zoo. The formulation of the next three questions are as follows:

Zoo Negara is located near the city centre and has no possibilities of expanding. How will this affect the planning of habitat for animals that naturally live in large open areas e.g. savannah?

Most animals require different care-taking e.g. bathing, feeding, exercise. Some animals like interacting with humans while others don't. How will this affect the design of the zoo's utilities?

What other things can you take into consideration to help come up with a good design?

Respondents were asked to take the questions into consideration while designing. The questions were kept open-ended to elicit further consideration as opposed to short or close-ended "yes-no" answers (Charmaz, 2006b). The fourth and final question suggests that there could be other aspects that can be taken into consideration, apart from aspects posed by the previous questions. This question invites respondents to reflect more thoroughly of any other impending elements to consider during their design process. This approach was taken in order to induce reflection within the respondents in the experimental group.

5.3.4 Data analysis

Data collected for this study are analysed using both qualitative and quantitative analysis methods. The questionnaire data is analysed quantitatively. The outputs produced by the respondents are qualitatively analysed, prior to the quantitative analyses. The procedure taken to analyse the outputs is illustrated in Figure 5.4.

As previously indicated, the total number of pages produced by Respondent 15 is five pages. The first three pages are categorised as the respondents' considerations and the remaining two pages as his solution. In reality, the number of pages produced by the respondents differ individually, ranging from a minimum of one to a maximum of seven pages. Depending on the amount of pages generated by respondents, the total number of pages that they individually produced, were used in this analysis. The process of categorising were subjectively done by the author to the best of her judgement. However, as explained in Section 5.3.2, respondents were asked to use a new piece of paper when they decided to start something new in their design process. This additional information on the respondents' own judgement of the "jumps" in their own design process supported and substantiated the conducted categorisation.

The outputs are divided into two parts and categorised either as the respondents' *considerations* or *solution*. This was to done to differentiate between the two types of data. Respondents' considerations are extracted and visualised into their *considerations network (CN)*. The *CN* displays the inter-relations of considerations that were made by the respondent. Additionally, respondents' solutions are digitalised and original texts written by the respondents in their solutions were re-typed. These solutions were next evaluated by two designers. Both designers are trained as industrial designers and have a minimum of eight years of experience practicing designing after their bachelor education. They scored the solutions on the five scales that assess creativity (see Section 5.2.3).



Figure 5.4 Phases of analysis for the outputs

The outputs are also used to identify the different design activities conducted by the respondents. These data were thematically coded and visualized into their *design* phases (DP). Variables extracted from the DP(respondents' overall design process), CN (considerations prior to proposal of solution) and the quality of solutions were next quantitatively analysed. Details of the DP, CN and the method of analysis for the three different categories of data are described in the following sections.

5.3.5 Coding the Design Phases (DP)

Respondents' outputs were thematically coded with regards to their design activities. Parts of respondents' outputs were classified into discrete categories that describe their distinct design activities (Cohen et al., 2007). The design activities were next represented in visual diagrams, depicting the respondents' design processes. This visual diagram is referred to as their *design phases* (DP). This analysis was done by an independent rater pursuing her Master's degree at TU Delft. The independent rater is fluent in both the Malay and English language, and has prior knowledge of qualitative coding methods. The design activities that the respondents conducted

were first coded thematically using an inductive coding method (Miles et al., 1994; Saldana, 2009). This means that the codes developed progressively during the analysis.

From this process, 35 codes were generated describing the design activities respondents engaged in. However, after a review of the codes by the author, some codes were found to overlap with each other. For example, the code "explore solution" and "explore ideas" was used for two separate occurrences that were similar to one another. The difference between an idea and solution were too subtle, as an idea could also be considered as a solution. Subsequently, a discussion was held between the author and the independent rater to review the existing codes. The outcome of the discussion resulted in the subsuming of similar design activities. In this case e.g. all occurrences coded as "exploring ideas" were subsequently coded as "exploring solutions". Several other codes were also merged and renamed, while others were retained in their original form. This method connotes actions well and was thus used for this purpose (Miles et al., 1994; Saldana, 2009). The final codebook of design activities consists five main codes that capture the activities conducted by the respondents in the form of gerunds ("-ing" words) (see Table 5.2).

The five main codes include activities such as *exploring*, *identifying*, *proposing*, reflecting and detailing out. These design activities are very well-aligned with the existing phases of the design process (Howard et al., 2008; Lawson, 2006). Several sub-codes were generated for each of these activities. The sub-codes generated for exploring consists of eight aspects that the respondents explored. This includes: topics, objectives, problems, solutions, approaches, insights, needs and implementation. A design activity that was conducted by the respondents were coded using a combination of the main code and a sub-code. For example, the activities that respondents conducted would be coded as "exploring topics" or "exploring approaches" etc. The other main codes had five (*identifying*), two (*proposing*), two (reflecting) and two (detailing out) sub-codes respectively. As an example, the activity exploring approaches refers to "examining the ways or means of possibilities on how to proceed with the given problem". See an extract of a respondent's output that was coded as *exploring approaches* in Figure 5.5. The respondent began by questioning the method or way to improve the problem and the aspects to be taken into consideration. She next distinguished two aspects to be focussed upon (inhabitants and guardians) for the artificial ecosystem. The whole input-output like diagram generated by Respondent 2 is coded as exploring approaches.

Table 5.2 Codes an	d sub-codes of	f design activities

Code	No.	Sub-codes	Description		
	1	Topic(s)	Exploration of specialised topics that are related to the design problem.		
	2	Objective(s)	Exploration of goals of the project or other outcome based intentions that the student aims to achieve.		
	3	Problem(s)	Exploration related to the design problem i.ebreaking down aspects of design problem.		
	4	Solution(s)	Exploration of solution ideas.		
Exploring	5	Approach(es)	Exploration of possibilities on how to proceed on the project.		
	6	Insight(s)	Exploring aspects that were gained from own considerations that were made on the design problem.		
	7	Need(s)	Exploring the requirements of stakeholders involved in the design problem.		
	8	Implementation	Exploring on how to realize the solution i.e. how to make their solution work.		
	1	Problem(s)	Determining aspects of the problem.		
Identifying (differs from explore. When	2	Connection(s)	Distinguishing relations between aspects involved in the design problem.		
identifying. students already	3	Insight(s)	Makes critical aspects of observations explicit.		
pointing critical	4	Objective(s)	Determines goals or intentions to achieve.		
aspects)	5	Approach(es)	Determines method, ways or steps to proceed with in the design task.		
D .	1	Solution	Proposes solution to solve the design problem.		
Proposing	2	Concept	Proposes an idea that is not yet finalized as the proposed solution.		
Reflecting	1	Solution	Reflecting on the solution that has been proposed.		
	2	Need	Reflecting on the need of the stakeholders.		
	1	Solution	Expands upon aspects of the solution.		
Detailing out	2	Benefits	Details out benefits that can be obtained by implementing the solution proposed.		

The design activities that were coded are next represented in the form of visual diagrams by the independent coder (see Figure 5.6). This was done to achieve uniformity across the disparate data of the original outputs (Cohen et al., 2007). The condensation of respondents' design activities into these visual diagrams facilitates meaningful comparisons to be made. The coding and diagrams generated by the independent coder were cross-checked by the author and any irregularities between the actual data and coded diagrams were reviewed and re-iterated. These diagrams are referred to as the *design phases (DP)* of respondents. Figure 5.6 illustrates the *DP* of Respondents 2 and 28. The *DP* of Respondent 28 on the right consists of two activities: *exploring problem* and *proposing solution*. Respondent 2 on the left engaged in six design phases, beginning with *exploring approach* to *proposing solution*.

HOW TO IMPPORT? WHAT CON SIDEPATION? THPOUGH INHABITATIS) GUARDIANS APRIFICIAL ELO_SYSEM.

Figure 5.5 Extract from Respondent 2 which was coded as "exploring approaches"

From the *DP*, four variables on the process level are extracted (see variables numbered 3 to 6 in the conceptual framework of Figure 5.1). The first variable is related to the number of specialised topics that respondents considered (Variable 3 in conceptual framework). This is represented by the dark grey boxes in Figure 5.6. Respondent 2 has considered five different topics (environment, guardian, maintenance, human and animal) while Respondent 28 did not consider any specific topics within the problem given. The range of specialised topics that respondents considered ranged between zero and six topics (M=2.35, SD=1.72).

The black dots represent a subjective evaluation of the comprehensiveness of each design activity (see Figure 5.6). The black dots refer to a subjective assessment of the collective depth, expanse and connections that the respondent made in each design activity. They are placed to the left of each design activity. The level of comprehensiveness of design activities ranges from a minimum of one dot (\bullet =low comprehensiveness) to a maximum of four dots ($\bullet \bullet \bullet$ =high comprehensiveness).

Respondent 28 was evaluated as engaging in low level of comprehensiveness (\bullet) on the design activities of *exploring problem* and *proposing solution*. Respondent 2 engaged in medium-low ($\bullet \bullet$) to high ($\bullet \bullet \bullet \bullet$) levels of comprehensiveness in her design activities.



Figure 5.6 Example of diagrams illustrating the "design phases" of Respondents 2 and 28.

The second variable is related to the comprehensiveness of specialised topics considered (Variable 4 in the conceptual framework). By referring to the black dots of the design activity *exploring topics*, Respondent 2 engaged in this activity on a medium-high level (•••). Similar to the assessment of the comprehensiveness of design activities, the level of comprehensiveness that respondents engaged in the specialised topics is assessed as a minimum of one dot (•=low comprehensiveness) to a maximum of four dots (•••=high comprehensiveness) (M=2.16, SD=1.38). The third variable is related to the number of phases in a respondents' design process (Variable 5 in the conceptual framework). Respondent 2 engaged in six different design activities, representing six different phases in her design process. Respondent 28 engaged in two design phases. The number of phases respondents engaged in

range from one to six phases (M=3.18, SD=1.28). The fourth variable is related to the comprehensiveness of design activities that respondents engaged in (variable 6 in conceptual framework). Equally, it refers to the sum of comprehensiveness for all design activities an individual engages in, or the aggregation of all the black dots in each respondents' DP. As illustrated in Figure 5.6, Respondent 2 has a score of 18 dots while Respondent 28 has a score of 2 dots for comprehensiveness of design activities. In this sample of respondents, the score of comprehensiveness ranges between 1 and 22 (M=8.11, SD=4.57, Mcdian=7.00, Mode=4.00 and 8.00).

5.3.6 Coding the Consideration networks (CN)

All items that were considered by the individual respondents, prior to the solution they propose, are mapped into a visual network. This visual network is referred to as the respondents' *consideration network* (*CN*). The consideration networks generated range from simple (see Figure 5.7 top) to more complex (see Figure 5.7 bottom) networks.



Figure 5.7 Example of "consideration networks" for Respondent 30 (top) and Respondent 1 (bottom)

Each box in the *CN* represents an item that was considered by the respondent. Grey lines are used to connect considerations that are taken into account by the respondent. The red dotted lines are used to represent explicit connections that the respondents made themselves. The boxes in the *CN* are colour coded to differentiate the different levels of considerations that were made.

From the *CN*, two variables on the process level are extracted (see variables numbered 1 and 2 in the conceptual framework of Figure 5.1). The first variable is related to the total number of considerations that the respondent considered (see Variable 1 in conceptual framework) i.e., the total number of boxes in each *CN*. The total number of considerations within this sample of respondents range between five and 87 (M=35.14, SD=19.05). As an example, Respondent 30 has a total of 18 considerations and Respondent 1 has 62 (see Figure 5.7).

The next variable extracted from the CN is the number of considerations that respondents commenced with in the *beginning*. This refers to the blue boxes in the CN. In the top example, Respondent 30 starts with one item (blue box) and subsequently considered six other aspects (yellow boxes). In the bottom example, the Respondent 1 starts with five considerations (blue boxes) and breaks each of it down (represented by the yellow boxes). Respondent 30 has one consideration in the beginning while Respondent 1 has five. These considerations are subsequently followed by the various differing coloured boxes. Respondents in this sample considered a minimum of one to a maximum of 11 aspects in the beginning of their design process (M=4.91, SD=2.68).

5.3.7 Coding the Design spaces: Problem and solution spaces

The design activities that respondents engaged in are visualised in the form of diagrams as their *DP*. For the coding of their design spaces, the design activities that respondents were engaged in were subsequently categorised as either problem-related or solution-related. This is because respondents engaged with either the problem or solution throughout the duration of solving the design problem. Design activities such as exploring specialised topics related to the design problem and identifying objectives to be achieved in the design task are related to the problem. Thus it was categorised as a problem-related design activity.

Design activities such as exploring ideas and solutions were related to the solution. Hence it was categorised as a solution-related activity. Some respondents allocated more time toward exploring the problem, while others allocated more time exploring the solution. However, there are also respondents who balanced their attention between the problem and solution. These respondents would have about the same amount of design activities allocated to the problem and to the solution (see Figure

5.8). The number of specific design spaces that each respondent engaged in were tallied. These values are used as Variables 7 and 8 in the *process level*. With reference to Figure 5.6, Respondent 1 engaged in three problem-related design activities (*exploring approaches, exploring topics and identifying objectives*) and two solution-related design activities (*exploring solution and proposing solution*).



Figure 5.8 Categorising problem-related and solution-related design activities: How to calculate the number of problem and solution related design activities. Examples from Respondents 1, 42 and 31.

Respondent 42, engaged in two solution-related design activities (*exploring solution and proposing solution*) compared to one problem-related design activity (*exploring topics*). Finally, Respondent 31 engaged in two design activities for both the problem (*exploring problem and exploring topics*) and solution (*exploring solution and proposing solution*) related design activities. In this sample of respondents, they engaged in a minimum of 0 to a maximum of 4 problem-related design activities (*M*=1.42, *SD*=0.99, *Median*=1.00, *Mode*=1.00) and a minimum of 1 to a maximum of 4 solution-related design activities (*M*=1.76, *SD*=0.83, *Median*=2.00, *Mode*=1).

5.3.8 Evaluating the Quality of solutions

The quality of solutions produced by respondents was evaluated by two experienced product designers. Both designers are trained as industrial designers and have a minimum of eight years of experience practicing designing after their bachelor education. These evaluations are treated as variables within the *product level* for the subsequent quantitative analysis. The evaluators assessed the solutions on five different categories of quality as discussed in Section 5.2.3. This includes the *clarity*, *completeness*, *usefulness*, *feasibility* and *originality* of the solutions. These categories of quality were scored on a minimum of one to a maximum of five. Additionally, the aggregated mean of the five scales is computed as the mean quality score for all respondents.

The evaluators were given digital files containing three items: (1) the design brief respondents received; (2) the scales for assessing the quality and originality of solutions (see Appendix U); and (3) the solutions of all 45 respondents. The evaluators were briefed about the design brief, scales for assessment and solutions. Next, they were asked to evaluate the solutions on their own. The evaluators were not informed of the research study or background information related to the respondents. Thus, they were assessing the solutions purely based on the scales. The evaluators were thus not compelled to evaluate the solutions differently based on any background differences between the respondents i.e., their mind-sets, educational background, gender, etc. The evaluation of the solutions was purely based on the extent to which the solution provides for the problem of redesigning the local zoo.

The Spearman's correlational analysis is used to examine the inter-rater reliability between the two evaluators. The correlation between the individual sub-scales of quality as scored by the two evaluators is reported using the correlation coefficient, *r*. Values of \pm .30 and \pm .5 represents a medium and large agreement effect between the two raters, respectively (Field, 2013). Three scales were significantly positive with medium agreement effects in this analysis. Firstly, on the scale of *clarity*, *r*=0.38, *n*=45, *p*=.011. Secondly on the scale of *usefulness r*=0.46, *n*=45, *p*=.001 and thirdly on the scale of *feasibility r*=0.30, *n*=45, *p*=.043. This means that the two evaluators rated the

clarity, usefulness and *feasibility* of solutions produced by the respondents in positively moderate agreement. Two scales were significantly positive with strong agreement effects. This includes the scale of *completeness, r*=0.39, *n*=45, *p*=0.008 and *originality, r*=.55, *n*=45, *p*=.000. Both of the scales were highly significant with *p*-levels of <0.01.

5.3.9 Evaluating the Clarity of solutions

The *clarity* of solutions is evaluated on a scale of one *(not clear at all)* to five *(very clear)*. Solutions that can be understood more easily would have higher scores in terms of clarity. Solutions that are scored as five in this scale would be solutions that can be understood easily. For example, Respondent 3 received a score of four out of five from each evaluator (see Figure 5.9).



Figure 5.9 Solutions by Respondent 3 (top) and Respondent 20 (bottom)

The solution provided by this Respondent 3 is assessed as coherent but requires effort to be understood. This is possibly due to the considerable amount of information i.e., description provided. However, the descriptions provide clarity regarding the ideas behind the solutions. Thus the degree to which the solution was communicated was

assessed as rather high, although the solution was not immediately deciphered. Solutions that are rated 1 on this clarity scale can be described as solutions that are completely ambiguous and incoherent. This means that respondents were not able to articulate their solution well and that the evaluators would have difficulty to understand the idea behind the solution that they proposed. For example, Respondent 20 (see Figure 5.9) received a score of one out of five from each evaluator.

5.3.10 Evaluating the Completeness and Usefulness of solutions

The *completeness* of solutions are evaluated on a scale of one *(not complete at all)* to five *(very complete)*. A solution that is scored highly on this scale is more likely to solve the problem compared to a solution that scored low. For example, Respondent 15 received a score of four out of five by both evaluators on this completeness scale. In contrast, Respondent 19 received a score of one and two by the respective evaluators (see Figure 5.10).



Figure 5.10 Solutions by Respondent 15 (top) and Respondent 19 (bottom)

The brief required that respondents redesign the zoo for the well-being of the animals and the guardians of the zoo. The solution proposed by Respondent 15 is rated as a reasonable solution that would contribute to a big part of fulfilling this requirement

110

i.e., solving this problem. The solution solves a systems aspect of the zoo that involves most, if not all, of the animals living in the zoo. In comparison the solution proposed by Respondent 19 solves certain conditions for one animal in particular. This solution is rated as being unlikely (score of two) and as not solving (score of one) the given problem of redesigning the zoo. In other words, the solution has a low level of completeness.

The *usefulness* of solutions is evaluated on a scale of one *(not useful at all)* to five *(very useful)*. The cumulative mean scores of both evaluators for this scale is M=3.34, SD=0.80. Solutions that pose considerable benefits to the stakeholders involved are more likely to be scored highly on this scale. In comparison, solutions that are scored low on this scale are deemed to pose considerable disadvantages to the stakeholders involved. Respondent 15 received a score of five and four from the two evaluators. Respondent 19 however received a score of one and two respectively. This means that the solution proposed by Respondent 15 is deemed to pose slight to considerable benefits to the stakeholders involved. In comparison, the solution proposed by Respondent 19 is considered to pose slight to considerable disadvantages to the stakeholders involved.

5.3.11 Evaluating the Feasibility and Originality of solutions

The *feasibility* of solutions is evaluated on a scale of one *(not feasible at all)* to five *(very feasible)*. The more easily a solution can be produced or implemented (in terms of manufacturing capabilities, availability of technology and changes from the existing technology), the more likely that a solution receives a high score on this scale. In contrast, the more difficult it is to implement the solution, the more likely the solution is scored low on this scale (see Figure 5.11).

The solution produced by Respondent 14 is an example of a solution that receives a score of four out of five by both evaluators. In contrast, the solution produced by Respondent 8 was scored as two out of five. The solution proposed by Respondent 14 requires minimal to moderate amount of alterations to the existing system that is adopted in the current zoo. On the other hand, the solution as proposed by Respondent 8 requires an absolute alteration of the existing architecture throughout the entire zoo. This increases the level of difficulty to implement the solution.

The *originality* of solutions is evaluated on a scale of one *(not original at all)* to five *(very original)*. A highly original solution (score of five) is unexpected, imaginative and surprising i.e., questions the problem definition entirely. In contrast, when the proposed solution already exists within the pool of 45 solutions i.e., is commonly proposed by the other respondents, it is considered as mundane or boring, and it's



Figure 5.11 Solutions by Respondent 14 (top) and Respondent 8 (middle) Respondent 17 (bottom)

score on originality decreases. The solution produced by Respondent 8 was rated as four out of five by both evaluators. This solution suggests distinct thematic architectural features to be implemented in the redesign of the zoo. This approach is not suggested by any of the other 44 respondents. The solution is thus considered as unusual and showing some imagination. In contrast the solution produced by Respondent 17 was scored as one and two out of five by the respective evaluators. This solution encapsulates a means of transportation within the zoo that is commonly suggested by other respondents too. More specifically, six other respondents had in a way or other, embedded similar elements into their solutions. The two evaluators considered this solution as common and mundane, differing only slightly from existing solutions (see also Figure 5.11).

5.3.12 Reliability of questionnaire scales

In the first questionnaire, the design learning mind-sets and the preferred learning approaches of respondents are assessed. Design learning mind-sets are assessed on two different scales: the discerning and opportunistic mind-set scale. Preferred learning approaches are measured on three scales: deep, strategic and surface learning approaches. Items on each of the scales are analysed for their consistency to reflect the construct of mind-sets and preferred learning approaches that is assessed (Field, 2013). Reliability analysis using Cronbach's alpha is used for this purpose (see Appendix V).

12 items were originally used to measure the discerning mind-set variable and 15 items were used to measure the opportunistic mind-set variable. The reliability analysis shows high reliabilities of Cronbach's α =0.76 and 0.71 for the discerning and opportunistic mind-set scales respectively. The high reliabilities are acquired after five items were removed from the discerning mind-set scale and two items from the opportunistic mind-set scale. Deletion of the items was done to improve the reliability of the scales (Field, 2013).

Examples of the items retained to assess a respondent's inclination towards a discerning mind-set are as follows: (1) I make an effort to understand new knowledge and concepts quickly; (2) When in doubt, I will search for resources on my own; and (3) I try to associate information I receive with my design ideas in order to develop it further. High agreement to these items reflects a mental inclination to seek understanding and behavioural tendencies that relate to actively reflecting and experimenting in design learning.

Examples of the items retained to assess a respondent's inclination towards an opportunistic mind-set are as follows: (1) I abandon design ideas if I realise that the final presented model cannot be constructed easily; (2) I usually follow the teachers'

instruction without questioning the reasons behind them; and (3) I usually try to explore aspects of a project that are not mentioned by the teacher. The third item is reversely phrased, thus calculated as a reverse item (Cohen et al., 2007; Field, 2013). High agreement to these items reflects a mental inclination to seize opportunities presented and are related to behavioural tendencies that relate to taking convenient measures and administering routine actions.

Six items were originally used to measure the deep learning approach. The reliability analysis shows that the Cronbach's α =0.69 for this scale. A value of 0.70 to 0.80 is commonly regarded as an acceptable value for the Cronbach's α . Examples of items retained to assesses a respondent's preference for a deep learning approach are as follows: (1) I try to relate ideas I come across to those in other topics or other courses whenever possible; (2) When I read, I examine the details carefully to see how they fit together; and (3) It's important for me to be able to follow the argument, or to see the reason behind things. High agreement to these items indicate a preference to relate ideas and use evidence in learning.

The strategic learning approach scale originally consists of 12 items. After removing four items from this scale, a high reliability of Cronbach's α =0.78 is found. Examples of the items retained to assesses a respondent's preference for a strategic learning approach are as follows: (1) I organise my study time carefully to make the best use of it; (2) I'm quite systematic and organised when it comes to revising for exams; and (3) When I finish a piece of work, I check it through to see if it really meets the requirements. High agreement to these items indicate a preference to manage study time, organise study activities, and monitor one's own effectiveness in learning.

Finally, the surface learning approach scale was originally measured using nine items. A reliability of Cronbach's α =0.72 was found for this scale after removing three items. Examples of the items retained to assess a respondent's preference for a surface learning approach are as follows: (1) I like to be told precisely what to do in essays or other assignments; (2) I concentrate on learning just those bits of information I have to know to pass; and (3) I'm not really interested in this course, but I have to take it for other reasons. High agreement to these items indicate a lack of purpose in taking a course. It also indicates a tendency to be bounded by the syllabus and inclination towards memorise unrelated information.

5.3.13 Categorising the respondents into either discerning or opportunistic mind-set groups (using the questionnaire items)

In general, respondents scored themselves more highly on the discerning as compared to the opportunistic mind-set scale. This can be observed from the mean, median and range of scores for the two scales (see Table 5.3).

	Discerning Scores	Opportunistic Scores
Mean	3.70	2.68
SD	0.52	0.40
Median	3.86	2.62
Min	2.29	1.77
Max	4.71	3.46

Table 5.3 Descriptive values for the opportunistic and discerning scales.

On the discerning mind-set scale (*M*=3.70, *SD*=0.52, *Median*=3.86) the scores range from a minimum of 2.29 to a maximum of 4.71. On the opportunistic mind-set scale (*M*=2.68, *SD*=0.40, *Median*=2.62), the scores range from a minimum of 1.77 to a maximum of 3.46. A hierarchical cluster analysis is next used to find similarities between respondents on their self-ratings for the discerning and opportunistic scales. The *Between-groups linkage* cluster method was used with a *Squared Euclidean distance* interval measure. Three clusters emerged from this analysis (see Table 5.4). The three clusters consisted of 19, 21 and five respondents respectively.

Table 5.4 Descriptive values for the three clusters that emerged from the hierarchical cluster analysis and the final two clusters used for subsequent analyses

	Cluster 1: High opportunistic, low discerning (N=19)		Cluster 2: High discerning, High opportunistic (N=5)		Cluster 3: High discerning, low opportunistic (N=21)		Cluster 1 & 2 High opportunistic (N=24)	
	Discerning Scale	Opportunistic Scale	Discerning Scale	Opportunistic Scale	Discerning Scale	Opportunistic Scale	Discerning Scale	Opportunistic Scale
Mean	3.22	2.96	4.10	2.35	3.86	3.00	3.35	2.97
Maximum	3.57	3.46	4.71	2.62	4.00	3.38	4.00	3.46
Median	3.43	2.85	4.00	2.46	3.86	2.92	3.43	2.92
Minimum	2.29	2.46	3.71	1.77	3.71	2.69	2.29	2.46
Standard Deviation	.36	.29	.27	.23	.10	.26	.42	.28

A review of the mean, median, maximum and minimum values reveal that respondents in Cluster 3 are strikingly different from Clusters 1 and 2. The maximum score on the discerning scale for Cluster 2 is fairly higher compared to Clusters 1 and 2. Additionally, the minimum score on the opportunistic scale within Cluster 3 is fairly lower compared to Clusters 1 and 3. On the other hand, in Clusters 1 and 2, the mean, median, maximum and minimum values for the opportunistic scale are fairly comparable. Furthermore, although the values of the discerning scale in Cluster 1 is lower compared to that of Cluster 2, the values in both Clusters 1 and 2 are lower compared to Cluster 3. Clusters 1 and 2 are re-categorised as one high opportunistic-low discerning and cluster. Additionally, Cluster 3 is categorised as a high discerning-low opportunistic cluster and 24 respondents fall into the high-opportunistic-low discerning cluster.

An independent T-test is next used to validate the differences between the discerning and opportunistic mind-set clusters. This analysis validates the differences between the high discerning and high opportunistic mind-set clusters on the two scales. Firstly, respondents in the high discerning mind-set cluster (M=4.10, SD=0.27) have significantly higher scores on the discerning mind-set scales compared to respondents in the high opportunistic mind-set cluster (M=3.35, SD=0.42); t(43)=-6.95. p=.000. A strong effect size can be reported for this differences with Cohen's d=2.11. Secondly, respondents in the high opportunistic mind-set cluster (M=2.897, SD=0.28) have significantly higher scores on the opportunistic mind-set scales compared to respondents in the high discerning mind-set group (M=2.35, SD=0.23); t(43)=48.11. p=.000. A strong effect size can also be reported for this difference with Cohen's d=2.42. The strong effect sizes for both clusters indicate the large differences between the two clusters in terms of respondents' inclination toward a discerning or opportunistic mind-set. These differences are related to the mental inclinations and behavioural tendencies that respondents adopt. Respondents in the high discerning cluster=seek understanding, and actively reflect and experiment in their design learning. Respondents in the high opportunistic cluster however, incline toward taking convenient measures and administering routine actions in their design learning.

5.4 Results

In this section, the results of analyses that tests the inter-connections between presage, process and product level variables are discussed.

5.4.1 The different learning approaches that discerning and opportunistic mind-sets prefer (RQ 1)

RQ 1: "Do opportunistic and discerning mind-set students prefer to approach their learning differently?" is addressed in this section. The Spearman's correlation analysis is used to examine the relationship between the mind-sets of the respondents and the learning approach that they prefer (see Table 5.5). From this analysis, large positive correlations can be found for the deep, r=.53, n=45, p=.000 and strategic, r=.51, n=45, p=.000 learning approach scores with the discerning mind-set scores. No correlations can be found between the surface learning approach scores to the discerning mind-set scores. This means that when respondents rated themselves highly on the discerning mind-set items, they would also rate themselves highly on the deep and strategic learning approach items.

The opportunistic mind-set scores are strongly and negatively correlated to the deep learning approach scores, r=-.57, n=45, p=.000. It is also positively correlated with medium strength to the surface learning approach scores to r=.47, n=45, p=.001. No correlations can be found for the strategic learning approach scores to the opportunistic mind-set scores. This means that as respondents' rating on the opportunistic mind-set items increased, their self-ratings on the surface learning approach items also increased, while their self-ratings on the deep learning approach items decreased.

Table 5.5 Spearman 5 correlations is	Table 5.5 Spearman's conclusions between mind-sets and rearming approaches scores					
	1	2	3	4		
1. Discerning mind-set	_					
2. Opportunistic mind-set	71**	—				
3. Deep learning approach	.53 **	57 **	—			
4. Strategic learning approach	.51**	22	.07	—		
5. Surface learning approach	13	.47**	08	.08		

Table 5.5 Spearman's correlations between mind-sets and learning approaches scores

**Correlation is significant at p< 0.01 (2-tailed).

An Independent T-test is next used to validate these results. The preferred learning approaches of the discerning and opportunistic mind-set groups are compared in this analysis. This analysis reveals significant differences between the two mind-sets on two preferred learning approach scales (see Table 5.6).

Scale	High Discerning mind-set N=21 Mean (SD)	High Opportunistic mind-set N=24 Mean (SD)	Effect size. Cohen's <i>d</i>
Deep learning approach **	4.09 (0.38)	3.57 (0.51)	1.16
Surface learning approach	2.85 (0.95)	3.05 (0.60)	0.25
Strategic learning approach *	3.58 (0.55)	3.12 (0.58)	0.81

Table 5.6 Comparison between discerning and opportunistic mind-set types: Preferred learning approaches

*T-test on average scores over two clusters was significant at p<0.05.

**T-test on average scores over two clusters was significant at p<0.01.

Respondents clustered in the discerning mind-set group (M=4.09, SD=0.38) rated a higher preference for the deep learning approach compared to respondents clustered in the opportunistic mind-set group (M=3.57, SD=0.51), t(43)=-3.47, p=.001. Additionally, respondents in the discerning mind-set group (M=3.58, SD=0.55) rated a higher preference for the strategic learning approach compared to respondents in the opportunistic mind-set group (M=3.12, SD=0.58), t(43)=-3.47, p=.014. Both the deep and strategic learning approach scales showed large sample effect sizes of Cohen's d=1.16 and 0.81 respectively. These large values indicate large differences between respondents in the discerning and opportunistic mind-set groups with respect to their preference in terms of deep and strategic learning approaches.

Scores on the surface learning approach scale were not significantly different between respondents in the opportunistic mind-set group (M=3.05, SD=0.60) compared to respondents in the discerning mind-set group (M=2.85, SD=0.95), t(0.76)=19.80, p=.454. Furthermore, the surface learning approach scale has a small effect size of Cohen's d=0.25. This means that respondents' preference for surface learning approach were not different between the discerning and opportunistic mind-set groups. To conclude RQ1, discerning and opportunistic mind-sets students prefer to approach their learning differently. Students that incline toward the discerning mind-set indicated higher preference for deep and strategic learning approaches. In contrast, students that incline toward the opportunistic mind-set indicated lower preference for the deep and strategic learning approaches.

5.4.2 Inter-relation between the design processes respondents engage in and the quality of their design solutions (RQ 2)

RQ 2: "What is the inter-relation between students' design processes and the quality of design solutions they produce?" is addressed in this section. The Spearman's

correlation analysis is used to examine the relationship between the design processes respondents engage in (eight variables) and the quality of their design solutions (see Table 5.7). Values of \pm .1 represent a small effect. \pm .3 is a medium effect and \pm .5 is a large effect between the process and outcome level variables (Field, 2013). The total number of considerations that respondents make is significantly correlated to all five outcome scales. Positive and medium effects are found between this process variable and clarity, *r*=.39, *n*=43, *p*=.011; completeness, *r*=.44. *n*=43. *p*=.003, usefulness, *r*=.35, *n*=43, *p*=.021; and originality of solutions, *r*=.30, *n*=43, *p*=.048.

	Outcome variables					
Process variables	Clarity	Completeness	Usefulness	Feasibility	Originality	
1. Total number of considerations	.39*	.44**	.35*	32**	.30*	
2. No of considerations students commence with	04	.08	.05	16	12	
3. No. of specialised topics students considered	.05	.40**	.17	24	.16	
4. Comprehensiveness of specialised topics considered	.21	.55**	.35*	41*	.35*	
5. No of phases in design process	.10	.36*	.44**	19	.18	
6. Comprehensiveness of design activities	.31*	.54**	.64**	39**	.34*	
7. Number of design activities related to the problem space	.16	.32*	.35*	07	.09	
8. Number of design activities related to the solution space	11	.17	.23	31*	.19	

Table 5.7	Spearman's	correlations	between	process and	outcome	level	variables
I abic J./	opeannan s	conciacions	Detween	process and	outcome i		variables

**Correlation is significant at p< 0.01.

*Correlation is significant at p < 0.05.

A medium negative effect is found between the total number of considerations that respondents make and feasibility, r=-.32, n=43, p=.036. This means that as respondents made more considerations, the clarity, completeness, usefulness, and originality of their solutions would increase. On the other hand, the feasibility of their solution would also decrease. However, no significant correlations can be found between the number of considerations that respondents make in the beginning of their design process to any of the outcome variables. This means that there is no

relationship between the number of considerations that respondents make in the beginning of their design process to the clarity, completeness, usefulness, feasibility and originality of their solutions.

The number of specialised topics that respondents considered are positively and moderately correlated to the completeness of their solutions, r=.40, n=43, p=.008. Furthermore, the more comprehensively respondents considered the specialised topics, their solutions would also be more complete, r=.55, n=43, p=.000; useful, r=.35, n=43, p=.020; and original, r=.35, n=43, p=.021. However, the feasibility r=-.41, n=43, p=.007 of their solutions would also decrease.

The number of phases that respondents engaged in during their design process are moderately and positively correlated to the completeness, r=.36, n=43, p=.014; and usefulness of their solutions, r=.44, n=43, p=.002. Additionally, the comprehensiveness of the design activities that respondents engage in these phases are firstly, strongly and positively correlated to the completeness, r=.54, n=43, p=.000; and usefulness of their solutions, r=.64, n=43, p=.000. Secondly, it is positively and moderately correlated to the originality of solutions, r=.34, n=43, p=.021. Thirdly, it is negatively and moderately correlated to the feasibility of solutions, r=-.39, n=43, p=.009. This means that the more deeply and more comprehensively respondents engaged in their considerations throughout their design process, their solutions would be more complete and useful. Furthermore, the more comprehensively they engage in their considerations of the design problem, their solutions would be more original, but less feasible i.e., more difficult to be implemented.

The number of design activities that respondents engaged in, that is related to the problem space, is moderately and positively correlated to the completeness, r=.32, n=43, p=.034; and usefulness, r=.35, n=43, p=.018; of their solutions. Furthermore, the design activities that respondents engaged in, that are related to the solution space is negatively and moderately correlated to the feasibility of their solutions, r=.31, n=45, p=.039.

Generally, these results indicate that the clarity, completeness, usefulness and originality of solutions that the respondents produced would increase, as they engaged in their design process more deeply and comprehensively. However, the feasibility of their solutions would also decrease.

5.4.3 Inter-relations between the two mind-sets and design processes (RQ 3)

The first part of RQ 3: "What is the inter-relation between the two mind-sets and the design processes that they engage in?" is addressed in this section. A Spearman's

correlational analysis is conducted to observe the inter-relations between the two mind-sets and the eight process variables (see Table 5.8). In essence, the Spearman's correlational analysis shows that the discerning mind-set scores are more positively correlated to the process variables. In contrast, opportunistic mind-set scores are more negatively correlated to the process variables.

	Presage	Presage variables			
Process Variables	Discerning Mind-set	Opportunistic Mind-set			
1. Total number of considerations	.17	45**			
2. No of considerations students commence with	.07	02			
3. No. of specialised topics students considered	.31*	49**			
4. Comprehensiveness of specialised topics considered	.36*	54**			
5. No of phases in design process	.33*	43**			
6. Comprehensiveness of design activities	.38*	49**			
7. Number of design activities related to the problem space	.31*	50**			
8. Number of design activities related to the solution space	.12	01			

Table 5.8 Spearman's correlations between presage and process level variables

**Correlation is significant at p< 0.01.

*Correlation is significant at p< 0.05.

Discerning mind-set scores are positively and moderately correlated to five process variables (Variables 3 to 7). This includes the number of specialised topics that respondents considered, r=.31, n=43, p=.046; and the comprehensiveness of these specialised topics considered, r=.36, n=43, p=.019. It also includes the number of phases that respondents engaged in their design process, r=.33, n=45, p=.028; and the comprehensiveness of their design activities. r=.38, n=45, p=.011. Finally, it includes the number of problem space levels that respondents engaged in, r=.31, n=45, p=.037. This means that as respondents rated themselves higher on the discerning mind-set scale, they would not only incline towards considering more specialised topics, but they would also consider these topics more comprehensively. Additionally, respondents would not only engage in more design activities more comprehensively. Also,
as respondents rated themselves higher on items in the discerning mind-set scale, they would engage in more design activities that are related to the problem space.

Opportunistic mind-set scores are negatively and rather strongly correlated to six of process variables (Variables 1 and 3 to 7). This includes the total number of considerations that respondents made. *r*=-.45, *n*=43, *p*=.002; the number of specialised topics that respondents considered, r=.49, n=43, p=.001; and the comprehensiveness of these specialised topics considered, r=-.54, n=43. p=.000. It also includes the number of phases that respondents engaged in their design process, r=-.43, n=45, p=.003; and the comprehensiveness of their design activities, r=-.49, n=45, p=.001. Finally, it includes the number of problem space levels that respondents engaged in, r=-.50, n=45, p=.001. This means that as respondents rated themselves higher on items in the opportunistic mind-set scale, the amount of considerations that they make throughout their design process decreases. They would also consider lesser amount of specialised topics and consider these specialised topics less comprehensively. Furthermore, these respondents would engage in a lower number of design activities, and they would engage in their design activities less comprehensively. Finally, as respondents rated higher opportunistic scores, the number of design activities they engage in that are related to the problem space also decreases.

An *Independent T-test* is conducted to compare the different process variables between the two mind-sets (see Table 5.9). Eight process variables are assessed in this analysis. The first four process variables are related to the considerations that respondents make throughout their design process. Respondents clustered in the high discerning and high opportunistic mind-set groups differed on three of these four variables (Variables 1, 3 and 4).

High discerning respondents (M=41.95, SD=22.71) made more considerations compared to opportunistic mind-set respondents (M=28.54, SD=12.01); t(30.01)=-2.42, p=.023. Additionally, high discerning respondents considered more specialized topics related to the problem (M=3.05, SD=1.63) compared to high opportunistic respondents (M=1.68, SD=1.55); t(41)=-2.82; p=.007, and considered the specialized topics more comprehensively (M=2.81, SD=1.17) compared to the high opportunistic respondents (M=1.55, SD=1.30); t(41)=-3.35, p=.002.

The next four process variables are related to the design activities that respondents engaged in. Respondents clustered in the high discerning and high opportunistic mind-set also differed on three of these four variables (Variables 5 to 7). Respondents that inclined towards a high discerning mind-set (M=3.76, SD=1.37) engaged in more design phases compared to respondents that inclined towards a high opportunistic

mind-set (M=2.67, SD=0.96); t(43)=-3.13; p=.003. They also engaged in their design activities (M=10.67, SD=5.01) more comprehensively compared to respondents in the high opportunistic cluster (M=5.88, SD=2.63); t(29.29)=-3.93; p=.000. Additionally, respondents in the high discerning cluster (M=1.91, SD=0.99 engaged in more design activities that were related to the problem space compared to respondents in the high opportunistic cluster (M=1.00, SD=0.78); t(43)=-3.42; p=.001.

High High Effect size, Sig. level, p Discerning Opportunistic Cohen's D (two-tailed) Scale/Variable mind-set mind-set N=21 N=24 Mean (SD) Mean (SD) Regarding considerations 1. Total number of 41.95 (22.71) 28.64 (12.01) 0.73 .023 considerations * 2. No of considerations 5.24 (3.24) 4.60 (2.04) 0.24 .435 students commence with NS 3. No. of specialized topics 3.05 (1.63) 1.68 (1.55) 0.86 .007 students considered ** 4. Comprehensiveness of .002 2.81 (1.17) 1.55 (1.30) 1.02 specialized topics considered **Regarding design activities** 5. No of phases in design 3.76 (1.37) 2.67 (0.96) 0.92 .003 process ** 6. Comprehensiveness of 10.67 (5.01) 5.88 (2.63) 1.20 .000 design activities*** 7. Number of design activities related to the 1.91 (0.99) 1.00 (0.78) 1.02 .001 problem space ** 8. Number of design activities related to the 1.86 (0.96) 1.67 (0.70) 0.23 .449 solution space NS

Table 5.9 Comparison between high discerning and high opportunistic mind-set respondents: Process level variables

^{NS}T-test on average scores over two clusters was not significant.

*T-test on average scores over two clusters was significant at p<0.05.

**T-test on average scores over two clusters was significant at p<0.01.

****T-test on average scores over two clusters was significant at p<0.001.

Large effect sizes ranging from Cohen's *d*, 0.73 to 1.20 can be found for the six variables. This indicates the large differences between the high discerning and high opportunistic clusters with regards to these process variables. However, the number of

considerations that respondents considered at the beginning of their design process, and the number of activities they engaged in that relate to the solution space were not significantly different between the two mind-set groups.

5.4.4 Relation between mind-sets and design processes when receiving and not receiving reflection-oriented stimuli (RQ 3)

The second part of RQ 3: "Are there differences between discerning and opportunistic mind-set students, in terms of their design processes, when they are introduced to reflection-oriented stimuli?" is addressed in this section (quantitative data) and the following section (qualitative data). A One-way ANOVA is used to compare the differences between respondents in the high discerning and high opportunistic mind-set clusters, that either received or did not receive any stimulus, respectively. Comparisons are made to see whether respondents within these clusters engage in their design processes differently when they are introduced to reflection-oriented stimuli as discussed in Section 5.3.3 (see Table 5.10).

Three significant differences related to respondents in the opportunistic mind-set group that did not receive the reflection-oriented stimuli can be found. Firstly, they considered a significantly lower number of specialised topics related to the design problem (M=1.30, SD=1.34), compared to respondents in the discerning mind-set group that received the reflection-oriented stimuli (M=3.40, SD=1.58), F(3,39)=3.31, p=.030. Secondly, they considered the specialised topics less comprehensively (M=1.20, SD=1.14) compared to respondents in the discerning mind-set group that did not receive the reflection-oriented stimuli (M=2.91, SD=1.14), F(3,39)=4.22, p=.011. Thirdly, they engaged in their design activities less comprehensively (M=5.27, SD=2.80) compared to respondents in the discerning mind-set group that did not receive the reflection-oriented stimuli (M=11.18, SD=5.02), F(3,41)=5.71, p=.002.

Three significant differences related to respondents in the opportunistic mind-set group that received the reflection-oriented stimuli can also be found. The ANOVA showed that these respondents engaged in a lesser number of design phases in their design process (M=2.62, SD=0.96) and secondly, engaged in their design activities in a less comprehensive manner (M=6.38, SD=2.47) compared to respondents in the discerning mind-set group that did not receive the reflection-oriented stimuli (M=4.00, SD=1.55), F(3,41)=3.51, p=.024; (M=11.18, SD=5.02), F(3,41)=5.71, p=.002. Thirdly, they engaged in a lesser number of design activities related to the problem space (M=0.77, SD=0.83), compared to respondents in the discerning mind-set group that received the reflection-oriented stimuli (M=1.80, SD=1.03), F(3, 41)=4.64, p=.007, and that did not receive the reflection-oriented stimuli could (M=1.80, SD=1.03), F(3,41)=4.64, p=.007.

Table 5.10 Comparison of design processes between high discerning and high opportunistic mind-set respondents when receiving and not receiving reflection-oriented stimulus

Process level variables	High Opport C1 Without stimulus Mean (SD) N=11	unistic Cluster C2 With Stimulus Mean (SD) N=13	High Discer C3 Without stimulus Mean (SD) N=11	ning Cluster C4 With Stimulus Mean (SD) N=10	Post-hoc comparison (Bonferroni)
Regarding considerations					
1. Total number of considerations ^{NS}	24.10 (11.56)	32.42 (11.47)	43.45 (23.33)	40.30 (23.15)	n/a
2. No of considerations students commence with ^{NS}	4.40(1.96)	4.75 (2.18)	5.36 (2.84)	5.10 (3.78)	n/a
3. No. of specialised topics students considered *	1.30(1.34)	2.00 (1.71)	2.73 (1.68)	3.40 (1.58)	C1 < C4
4. Comprehensiveness of specialised topics considered *	1.20 (1.14)	1.83 (1.40)	2.91 (1.14)	2.70 (1.25)	C1 < C3
Regarding design activities					
5. No of phases in design process *	2.73 (1.01)	2.62 (0.96)	4.00 (1.55)	3.50(1.18)	C2 < C3
6. Comprehensiveness of design activities * *	5.27 (2.80)	6.38 (2.47)	11.18 (5.02)	10.10 (5.22)	C1 < C3, C2 < C3
7. Number of design activities related to the problem space **	1.27 (0.65)	0.77 (0.83)	2.00 (1.00)	1.80(1.03)	C2 < C3, C2 < C4
8. Number of design activities related to the solution space $^{\rm NS}$	1.45 (0.69)	1.85 (0.69)	2.00 (0.89)	1.70 (1.06)	n/a

^{NS}One-way ANOVA test on average scores over two clusters was not significant. * One-way ANOVA test on the average scores over the four clusters was significant at p<0.05. ** One-way ANOVA test on the average scores over the four clusters was significant at p<0.01.

5.4.5 Relation between mind-sets and design processes: Qualitative description between respondents that received and did not receive reflection-oriented stimuli (RQ 3)

The graphical output produced by respondents (see Section 5.3.2) were also qualitatively analysed to answer the second part of RQ 3: "Are there differences between discerning and opportunistic mind-set students, in terms of their design processes, when they are introduced to reflection-oriented stimuli?". The considerations network (CN) (see Section 5.3.6) of respondents that did and did not receive the reflection-oriented stimuli from the two mind-set groups were also examined (see Figure 5.12 and Figure 5.13). These figures illustrate examples of CN's for respondents categorised in the high discerning and high opportunistic groups respectively. Typical examples of respondents' CNs when they received and did not receive the reflection-oriented stimuli, and when they made high and low numbers of considerations are presented. When the number of considerations that respondents made fell below the mean value (M=35.14, SD=19.05), they were clustered as making a low number of considerations. In addition, when the number of considerations they made were above the mean value, they were clustered as making high numbers of considerations.

In the high discerning cluster, no differences can be observed between respondents that received and did not receive the reflection-oriented stimuli. On average, respondents that made a high number of considerations made around 60 considerations. Respondents that made a low number of considerations made around 20 considerations. Similarly, in the high opportunistic mind-set cluster, no differences can be observed between respondents that received and did not receive the reflection-oriented stimuli. On average, respondents that made a high number of considerations made around 50 considerations. Respondents that made a low number of considerations made around 20 considerations made around 50 considerations. This suggests that within both high discerning and high opportunistic mind-set groups, respondents would make approximately the same low or high amount of considerations. The reflection-oriented stimuli did not affect the number of considerations that they would make.

A comparison between the number of high discerning and high opportunistic mindset respondents, when receiving and not receiving reflection-oriented stimulus, however, reveals an interesting result (see Table 5.11). Out of 21 respondents grouped in the high discerning cluster, 11 respondents did not receive the reflection-oriented stimuli while 10 respondents did. Out of the 22 respondents grouped in the high opportunistic cluster, 10 respondents did not receive the reflection-oriented stimuli





mind-set respondents, when receiving and not receiving rations	
cen the number of high discerning and high opportunistic Chances of respondents making a high number of conside	
Table 5.11 Comparison betw reflection-oriented stimulus:	

Receive stimulus?	N) ON	ithout Stimulus)	YES (With Stimulus)
Mind-set cluster	High Discerning	High Opportunistic	High Discerning	High Opportunistic
No of respondents	11 respondents out of 21 high discerning respondents	10 respondents out of 22 high opportunistic respondents	10 respondents out of 21 high discerning respondents	12 respondents out of 22 high opportunistic respondents
Level of considerations made	Low High	Low High	Low High	Low High
No of respondents	6 5	9 1	4 6	5 7
Percentage within mind-set cluster	55% 45%	90% 10%	40% 60%	41% 59%
Chances of making a high number of considerations	Approximately equal chances	Low chances	Approximatel	y equal chances

while 12 respondents did. The comparison reveals that respondents inclining toward a high discerning mind-set have approximately equal chances of making a high number of considerations. 45% of respondents that did not receive the reflection-oriented stimuli made a high number of considerations. However, although the percentage of respondents making a high number of consideration increases to 60% when they did receive the reflection-oriented stimuli, these values are roughly comparable.

The comparison further reveals that high opportunistic respondents have a lower chance of making a high number of considerations when they are not introduced to the reflection-oriented stimuli. Only one respondent in the high opportunistic group, that did not receive the reflection-oriented stimuli, made a high number of considerations. This accounts for only 1 respondent within the high opportunistic cluster that made a high number of considerations. The remaining nine respondents made a low number of considerations. On the other hand, when respondents in the high opportunistic cluster did receive the reflection-oriented stimuli, 59% of the respondents made a higher number of considerations, compared to the remaining 41% that did not. In other words, the likelihood of respondents that incline toward a high opportunistic mind-set to make more considerations throughout their design process increases when they receive reflection-oriented stimuli.

To validate the qualitative findings, an *Independent T-test* was conducted to validate the differences between respondents in the high opportunistic group that did and did not receive the reflection-oriented stimuli. This analysis shows that respondents that received the stimuli (M=36.94, SD=14.06) made a significantly higher number of considerations compared to respondents that did not receive the reflection-oriented stimuli (M=25.50, SD=10.51), t(26)=-2.36, p=.026, F(26, 25.99)=2.395, p=.134. A high sample effect size of Cohen's d=0.92 can be observed for this analysis. This indicates the large differences between the two clusters that received and did not receive the reflection-oriented stimuli. This analysis reveals that respondents in the high opportunistic mind-set cluster indeed made more considerations throughout their design process, when they received the reflection-oriented stimuli, as opposed to when they did not receive the reflection-oriented stimuli.

5.4.6 Inter-relation between the two mind-sets and the quality of design solutions produced (RQ 4)

The first part of RQ 4: "What is the inter-relation between the two mind-sets and the quality of design solutions that they produce?" is addressed in this section. An independent T-test is conducted to compare the outcome level variables between the high discerning and high opportunistic mind-set clusters. Three significant differences between the two clusters can be observed (see Table 5.12). Respondents in the high discerning mind-set cluster (M=3.69, SD=0.78) produced solutions with

higher clarity compared to respondents in the high opportunistic mind-set cluster (M=2.92, SD=0.94), t(43)=-2.98, p=.005. Additionally, respondents in the high discerning mind-set cluster (M=2.98, SD=0.66) produced solutions with higher completeness compared to respondents in the high opportunistic mind-set cluster (M=2.27, SD=0.71), t(43)=-3.44, p=.001.

Scale/Variable	Discerning mind-set N=21	Opportunistic mind-set N=24	Effect size, Cohen's D	Significance level, <i>p</i> (two-tailed)
Clarity **	3.69 (0.78)	2.92 (0.94)	0.89	.005
Completeness **	2.98 (0.66)	2.27 (0.71)	1.04	.001
Usefulness **	3.71 (0.62)	3.02 (0.80)	0.96	.003
Feasibility NS	3.64 (0.71)	3.92 (0.65)	0.41	.185
Originality ^{NS}	2.21 (0.82)	1.96 (0.67)	0.33	.255

Table 5.12 Comparison between discerning and opportunistic mind-set students: Outcome level variables

^{NS}T-test on average scores over two clusters was not significant

** Independent T- test on the average scores over the two clusters significant at p<0.01.

Respondents in the high discerning mind-set cluster (M=3.71, SD=0.62) also produced solutions with higher clarity compared to respondents in the high opportunistic mind-set cluster (M=3.02, SD=0.80), t(43)=-3.21, p=.003. An analysis of the sample effect sizes reveal large effects for the three outcome scales, Cohen's d=0.89 to 1.04. These large effect sizes indicate the big differences between the high discerning and high opportunistic mind-set clusters in terms of the clarity, completeness and usefulness of solutions that they produced.

5.4.7 Relation between mind-sets and design outcomes when receiving and not receiving reflection-oriented stimuli (RQ 4)

The second part of RQ 4: "Does the quality of design solutions differ between discerning and opportunistic mind-set students when they are introduced to reflection-oriented stimuli?" is addressed in this section. A One-way ANOVA is used to compare differences within respondents in the high discerning and high opportunistic mind-set clusters that received and did not receive any stimulus (see Table 5.13). Comparisons are made to see whether respondents within these clusters produced better design outcomes when they are introduced to the reflection-oriented stimuli as discussed in Section 5.3.3. The Bonferroni post-hoc tests were used to compare all the different combinations of the control and experimental groups

	High Opportu	nistic Cluster	High Discen	ning Cluster	
Product level variables	C1 Without stimulus Mcan (SD) N=11	C2 With Stimulus Mcan (SD) N=13	C3 Without stimulus Mean (SD) N=11	C4 With Stimulus Mean (SD) N=10	Post-hoc comparison (Bonferroni)
Regarding considerations					
1. Clarity **	2.91 (1.04)	2.92 (0.89)	3.77 (0.52)	3.60 (1.02)	C2 < C3
2. Completeness ***	2.41 (0.77)	2.15 (0.66)	3.14 (0.74)	2.80 (0.54)	C2 < C3
3. Usefulness **	3.00 (1.00)	3.04 (0.63)	3.77 (0.65)	3.65 (0.63)	C2 < C3
4. Fcasibility **	4.32 (0.51)	3.58 (0.57)	3.55 (0.76)	3.75 (0.68)	C1 >C2, C1 >C3
5. Originality ^{NS}	2.00 (0.74)	1.92 (0.64)	2.45 (0.85)	1.95 (0.72)	n/a

Table 5.13 Comparison of design outputs between high discerning and high opportunistic mind-set respondents when receiving and not receiving reflection-oriented stimulus

^{NS} One-way ANOVA test on average scores over two clusters was not significant. * One-way ANOVA test on the average scores over the four clusters was significant at p<0.05. ** One-way ANOVA test on the average scores over the four clusters was significant at p<0.01.</p>

(Field, 2013). This analysis reveals that firstly, respondents in the high discerning mind-set group that did not receive any stimulus produced solutions that had higher clarity (M=3.77, SD=0.52), completeness (M=3.14, SD=0.74) and usefulness (M=3.77, SD=0.65), compared to the respondents in the high opportunistic mind-set group that received the reflection-oriented stimuli (M=2.92, SD=0.89), F(3,41)=2.89, p=.047; (M=2.15, SD=0.66), F(3,41)=4.65, p=.007; (M=3.04, SD=0.63), F(3,41)=3.33, p=.029.Next, respondents in the high opportunistic mind-set cluster that did not receive the reflection oriented stimuli (M=4.32, SD=0.51) produced solutions that were more feasible i.e., were less complicated or difficult to implement. This is compared to respondents in the high opportunistic cluster that received the reflection-oriented stimuli (M=3.58, SD=0.57), F(3,41)=3.61, p=.021 and the high discerning mind-set cluster that did not receive the reflection-oriented stimuli (M=3.55, SD=0.76), F(3,41)=3.61, p=.021. In addition, no significant differences can be observed in terms of the originality of solutions produced F(3,41)=1.28, p=.293. This means that the originality of solutions produced were approximately equivalent across all respondents.

5.5 Discussion

Considerable differences can be observed between respondents that were grouped into the high discerning and high opportunistic mind-set clusters. These differences are discussed in the following sub-sections. Firstly, the preferred learning approaches of the two mind-set types and their engagement in the design process are discussed. Secondly, the two mind-set types and the quality of solutions they produce are discussed. Thirdly, the discussion relates to the design processes of the two mind-set clusters when respondents receive and do not receive the reflection-oriented stimuli. Fourthly, the relation between the design processes respondents engaged in and the quality of their design solutions are discussed. Finally, the quality of solutions produced by respondents from the two mind-sets clusters, when respondents receive and do not receive the reflection-oriented stimuli are discussed.

5.5.1 Mind-sets and preferred learning approaches

Mind-sets are expected to influence the internal mental dispositions and external behavioural responses that students adopt in design learning (Hamat et al., 2015). In terms of internal mental disposition, this study reveals that design students within the high discerning mind-set cluster have a preference for deep and strategic approaches in learning design. This preference was in contrast to the preference of students in the high opportunistic mind-set cluster. The deep learning approach is related to being highly engaged in design tasks or projects and an inclination towards seeking meaning between concepts. It also relates to connecting ideas and information, and using corroborative evidence to support the development of design ideas and/or decisions.

These inclinations further manifest within the design process that discerning mindset respondents engage in, which encompasses their behavioural responses.

5.5.2 Mind-sets and design processes

An inclination toward a high discerning or opportunistic mind-set have been found to influence the consideration that students make and the design activities that they engage in throughout their design process. Firstly, students in the high discerning mind-set cluster showed more considerations throughout their design process. Secondly, they considered more specialised topics related to the design problem and thirdly, they considered the topics comprehensively. Students in the high opportunistic mind-set cluster engaged in these three aspects of their design process contrastingly. They made lesser considerations, and considered lesser and less comprehensively, specialised topics related to the design problem.

Students in the high discerning mind-set cluster also engaged in more steps/design activities in their design process. They also engaged in their design activities more comprehensively compared to respondents in the high opportunistic mind-set cluster. Further differences can be observed between the high discerning and high opportunistic mind-set clusters in terms of the type of design space that they engage in throughout their design process. Students in the high discerning mind-set cluster engaged in more design activities related to the problem space, compared to respondents in the high opportunistic mind-set cluster. In terms of engagement in the solution space however, both mind-set clusters spend approximately an equivalent number of design activities. The differences between the high discerning and high opportunistic clusters in relation to their design process are summarized in the following illustration (see Figure 5.14).

Design students inclining toward a high discerning mind-set were found to tolerate ambiguity in problem solving situations (see Section 4.3.2 in Chapter 4). In this study, the behavioural responses of how high discerning mind-set students deal with ambiguity can be observed when they are posed with an unfamiliar design task. The results strongly indicate that respondents that incline toward a high discerning mind-set will engage more actively i.e., more broadly and deeply in their design processes. They are more likely to immerse themselves in understanding the context of complex and ambiguous design problems prior to working out a solution.

Respondents inclining toward an opportunistic mind-set can tolerate ambiguity in interpersonal related situations i.e., social communication between persons (see Section 4.3.2 in Chapter 4). By accepting ambiguity in interpersonal communication, this also means that high opportunistic mind-set students avoid conflicts that may arise in situations. The results in this study further supports this notion. When faced



Figure 5.14 Between discerning and opportunistic mind-set respondents: Their preferred learning approaches and design processes

with the unfamiliar design task, respondents inclining toward a high opportunistic mind-set precipitate toward avoiding ramifications that are necessary to explore the design task. They engaged in their design process on a shallow level and are more likely to explore a restricted range of topics or issues related to the design problem.

5.5.3 Mind-sets and design processes: Effects of reflectionoriented stimuli

Reflection through question-asking is advocated to improve design processes (Dym et al., 2005; Reymen, 2001). This method was adapted in the reflection-oriented stimuli used in this study. Findings from this study continues to support this notion. An increase in terms of the amount of considerations that the design students made throughout their design process can be observed within the high opportunistic and high-discerning mind-set clusters. However, the increase was much higher within the high opportunistic mind-set cluster. A 49% increase could be observed (see Table 5.11). This indicates the considerable opportunities of improving design processes of students inclining toward a high opportunistic mind-set.

The increase within the high discerning mind-set cluster was not strikingly apparent. Only a non-significant increase of 15% could be observed. However, this could be due to the fact that students within the high discerning mind-set cluster were already

engaged in their considerations and design activities at a high level. Thus the increase in engagement when they did receive the reflection-oriented stimuli was less observable. However, students in the high discerning mind-set cluster did engage in more design activities related to the problem space when they received the stimuli. Furthermore, students in the high discerning cluster were engaged in their considerations and design activities more comprehensively compared to students in the high opportunistic cluster (see Table 5.14).

Drocess	High opportu	nistic mind-set	High discerning mind-set	
variables	With stimulus	Without stimulus	With stimulus	Without stimulus
1	_	_	_	_
2	-	-	-	-
3	-	\checkmark	\uparrow	-
4	_	\checkmark	_	\wedge
5	\checkmark	_	_	\wedge
6	\checkmark	\checkmark	_	\wedge
7	\checkmark	_	\uparrow	\checkmark
8	-	_	—	-

Table 5.14 Effects of reflection-oriented stimulus on process-level variables between high discerning and high opportunistic mind-set respondents based on One-way ANOVA (\uparrow =higher, ψ =lower)

Process variables:

1. Total number of considerations

2. No of considerations students commence with

3. No. of specialised topics students considered

4. Comprehensiveness of specialised topics considered

5. No of phases in design process

6. Comprehensiveness of design activities

7. Number of design activities related to the problem space

8. Number of design activities related to the solution space

Firstly, students in the high opportunistic cluster that did not receive the stimuli considered a significantly lower number of specialised topics related to the design problem compared to the high discerning cluster that received the stimuli. Secondly, they considered the specialised topics less comprehensively and were engaged in their design activities less comprehensively compared to students in the high discerning cluster that did not receive the stimuli. Thirdly, students in the high opportunistic mind-set cluster that did receive the stimuli were engaged in a lesser of number design activities and they were engaged in these design activities less comprehensively. This is compared to the high discerning mind-set cluster that did

not receive the stimuli. Lastly, students in the high opportunistic mind-set cluster that did receive the stimuli were engaged in a lesser of number of design activities related to the problem space. This is compared to students in the high discerning mind-set cluster that received the stimuli.

These findings provide compelling evidence to indicate that the reflection-oriented stimuli had beneficial effects on the considerations and design activities of respondents in both the high discerning and high opportunistic mind-set clusters. These effects were strikingly observable within the high opportunistic mind-set cluster. These results confer potential implications for design teaching and learning. Evidence shows that the encouragement of reflection through question-asking can promote positive behavioural effects within design students, even within students that incline toward a high opportunistic mind-set. Ultimately, how do these process-related variables relate to the quality of solutions that respondents produce i.e., the outcome? These aspects are further discussed in the following section.

5.5.4 Design process and quality of design solutions

Behavioural variables have been found to affect outcomes in learning (Armor & Taylor, 2003; Burnette et al., 2013; Zeng et al., 2016). This notion is further supported by findings in this study (see Table 5.15). The interaction between students' design process and quality of design solutions were analysed by correlating the process and product-level variables. In general, it can be observed that as the comprehensiveness of considerations and engagement in design activities increased, the quality of solutions also increased.

The completeness and usefulness of solutions increased when students engaged in more design activities in their design process, engaged in their design activities and considerations on specialised topics related to the design problem more comprehensively, and engaged in more design activities related to the problem space. The solutions produced would solve the problem more thoroughly and better benefit the stakeholders involved in the design problem. The completeness of solutions also increased when students considered more specialised topics related to the design problem. The solutions produced solved the problem more thoroughly. Additionally, the originality and clarity of solutions also increased when students were more comprehensively engaged in their design activities. The solutions were more interesting and different compared to other solutions and were communicated in a better way. Furthermore, the originality of solutions increased when specialised topics were considered more comprehensively.

Process variables	Clarity	Completeness	Usefulness	Feasibility	Originality
1	\uparrow	\uparrow	★	\rightarrow	\uparrow
2	-	-	-	_	-
3	—	\uparrow	_	_	-
4	-	\uparrow	\uparrow	\checkmark	\uparrow
5	-	\uparrow	\uparrow	—	-
6	\uparrow	\uparrow	\uparrow	\checkmark	\uparrow
7	-	\uparrow	\uparrow	—	-
8	_	_	_	\rightarrow	_

Table 5.15 Connection between process variables to outcome variables (\uparrow -higher, \downarrow -lower)

Process variables:

1. Total number of considerations

2. No of considerations students commence with

3. No. of specialised topics students considered

4. Comprehensiveness of specialised topics considered

5. No of phases in design process

6. Comprehensiveness of design activities

7. Number of design activities related to the problem space

8. Number of design activities related to the solution space

The feasibility of solutions, however, decreased as the comprehensiveness of considerations and design activities increased. As the clarity, completeness, usefulness and originality of solutions increased, the solutions produced became less feasible i.e., more difficult to implement. The feasibility of solutions decreased when respondents made more considerations, considered on specialised topics related to the design problem more comprehensively, engaged in their design activities more comprehensively, and engaged in more design activities related to the solution space.

These results strongly suggest that as design students increase the considerations and design activities that they engage in, and when they do this more comprehensively, the clarity, completeness, usefulness, and originality of their solutions will also increase. However, the feasibility of solutions that they produce may also decrease. Important to realise is that the students were given a short amount of time to work on this design task. Thus, it stands to reason that the solutions may lack feasibility. The feasibility, i.e., the ease of implementation of a solution, denotes an ensuing step to be considered in the design process and requires more time to be properly incorporated into a solution. The limited amount of time provided within the period of the experiment was probably not sufficient for the application of this additional step. Therefore, the relation found was due to lack of time, not due to the students' ability.

5.5.5 Mind-sets and quality of design solutions

A focus on improving one's own competence and drive to acquire new knowledge have been found to influence outcomes positively (Miller et al., 1993). On the other hand, the tendency to avoid work has been related to poor performance achievements (Harackiewicz et al.,1997). Comparably, these notions relate to the high discerning and high opportunistic mind-sets. Individuals with a high discerning mind-set have a deep interest in knowledge and will actively reflect and experiment in their design activities. Individuals with a high opportunistic mind-set takes convenient measures and administering routine actions. They will also adopt strategies or engage in activities that are easily accessible to them, and they will also avoid undesirable or difficult situations (Hamat et al., 2015, 2016). Thus the notions on the interaction of mind-sets to the quality of outcomes produced by previous studies can be supported by findings in this study.

Design students that inclined toward a high discerning mind-set produced design solutions with better quality compared to those that inclined toward a high opportunistic mind-set, on three out of five scales related to quality. Quality in this study was assessed on five sub-scales. This encompasses the clarity, completeness, usefulness, feasibility and originality of solutions. The three scales that design students with high discerning mind-sets scored better on, compared to their counterparts that inclined toward a high opportunistic mind-set were clarity, completeness and usefulness.

Design solutions produced by those that inclined toward a high discerning mind-set were firstly, communicated well and could be easily understood. In contrast, solutions produced by design students that inclined toward a high opportunistic mind-set were evaluated as having a low degree of clarity. They were more likely to communicate their solutions in an ambiguous or incoherent way. The design solutions produced by high discerning students were more complete. Their solution were considered more likely to thoroughly solve the design problem. Design students that inclined toward a high opportunistic mind-set on the other hand, produced solutions that had a low degree of completeness. Their solutions were more likely to solve unrelated problems or solve the related problem to only a small degree.

The design solutions produced by students that inclined toward a high discerning mind-set were more useful. Their solutions would contribute considerable benefits to stakeholders involved in the design problem. In contrast, design students that inclined toward a high opportunistic mind-set produced design solutions that have a low degree of usefulness. Their solutions would more likely pose disadvantages to the stakeholders involved. In terms of the feasibility and originality of solutions, no significant differences between the two clusters of mind-sets could be observed.

5.5.6 Mind-sets and quality of design solutions: Effects of reflection-oriented stimuli

Interactions between mind-sets and outcome variables are expected to be mediated by process variables (Armor & Taylor, 2003; Burnette et al., 2013; Zeng, Hou, & Peng, 2016). This means that significant differences in terms of outcomes are only expected to be noticeable between behavioural and outcome variables. Interestingly, direct relations between mind-sets and outcomes can be observed within this study. This respectively refers to variables related to the design process that students engage in and the quality of design solutions that they produce (see Figure 5.15).



Figure 5.15 Mind-sets and outcomes: Differences within and between the mind-sets, with and without stimuli.

Significant differences could be observed between the high discerning mind-set cluster without stimuli and the high opportunistic mind-set cluster with stimuli. Solutions produced by design students in the high discerning mind-set cluster that did not receive stimuli had higher clarity, completeness and usefulness. This means that their solutions were communicated well and were easily understood; would more thoroughly solve the design problem; and would considerably benefit the stakeholders involved in the design problem. This is in contrast to the quality of solutions produced by design students within the high opportunistic mind-set cluster that did not receive any stimuli.

The solutions they produced were ambiguously and incoherently communicated; are less likely to solve the given design problem; and posed to be disadvantageous to the

stakeholders involved in the design problem. These differences indicate that even though students do not receive any form of stimuli, when they incline toward a high discerning mind-set, they would have better chances of coming up with solutions that are more complete, useful and furthermore, be communicated with higher clarity. Compared to students that inclined toward a high opportunistic mind-set, even when they received the reflection-oriented stimuli, the clarity, completeness and usefulness of their solutions were still lower compared to those in the high discerning cluster. However, adverse differences can be observed within the high discerning mind-set cluster when the students received the stimuli. The feasibility of their solutions did not differ compared to students within the high opportunistic mind-set cluster. Conversely, the feasibility of solutions produced by students within the high opportunistic mind-set cluster that received the stimuli and those of students within the discerning mind-set cluster that did not receive any stimuli were significantly different, compared to the feasibility of solutions produced by students within the high opportunistic mind-set cluster that did not receive the stimuli.

Design students in the high opportunistic mind-set cluster without stimuli were found to produce solutions that were more feasible compared to those in the high discerning cluster without stimuli and high opportunistic mind-set cluster with stimuli. Feasibility in this study refers to the degree to which a solution can easily be produced or implemented. Thus, results from this study indicate that when students inclined toward a high opportunistic mind-set and do not receive any form of stimuli, they produced solutions that can be easily implemented or produced. Their solutions would not require drastic modifications from the existing facilities or complicated requisitions in terms of manufacturing and technological advances. This suggests that their solutions less sophisticatedly differs from the existing conditions within the design problem, and are less complex.

Comparisons to observe the direct effects of mind-sets on the quality of solutions that design students produced revealed another interesting result. Outcomes produced by students inclining toward a high opportunistic mind-set can be improved when they are exposed to reflection-oriented stimuli. When they received the reflection-oriented stimuli, their solutions substantially increased in complexity. This provides compelling evidence that the quality of outcomes can be increased within design students that incline toward a high opportunistic mind-set. If the effects of the reflection-oriented stimuli can be generalised to any other form of stimulation within design learning, these results indicate that students within the high opportunistic mind-set cluster would be susceptible to instigation within design learning, and as such can be trained to be better designers.

5.6 Conclusion

Differences between the discerning and opportunistic mind-sets were tested on the presage, process and product levels. Distinct differences between the two mind-sets were found, supporting for the adoption of discerning mind-sets in design learning and more generally, designing. These differences are concluded.

In examining RQ 1 which addresses the preferences of discerning and opportunistic mind-sets in relation to their learning approaches (presage level), results indicate that high discerning mind-set students preferred deep and strategic learning approaches in design learning. High opportunistic students, on the other hand, indicated a significantly lower preference for the deep and strategic learning approaches. This means that high discerning students would prefer to seek for meaning between concepts, relate ideas and information, and use corroborative evidence to support the development of design ideas and/or decisions, but the high opportunistic mind-set students would not.

In examining RQ 2 which addresses the relation between students' design process (process level) and the quality of design solutions that they produced (product level), the correlational analysis shows that students would produce solutions that had higher clarity, completeness, usefulness and originality when they deeply and comprehensively engaged in their design activities. However, feasibility of their solutions would also decrease. The decrease in feasibility of solutions can be expected. It was similarly observed within other experimental studies (Dean et al., 2006). As students engaged more actively in their design considerations and design activities, they are more likely to produce highly rare, new and surprising solutions that more thoroughly solved the design problem and better benefitted the stakeholders involved, and communicate their solutions better. However, as the experiments were conducted in a short and limited amount of time, it can be expected that their solutions would be more difficult to implement as they develop more complex ideas. Nevertheless, it can be expected that high discerning students could also create more feasible solutions, if they were given more time.

In examining RQ 3 which addresses the relation between the two mind-sets (presage level) and design processes (process level), this study shows that high discerning mind-set students engaged more actively in their design considerations and design activities compared to high opportunistic mind-set students (see Table 5.9 for the specific process related variables). Nevertheless, when high opportunistic mind-set students received the reflected oriented stimuli, the number of considerations that they made increased. They also thought of more specialised topics related to the design problem. When high discerning mind-set students received the stimuli, they engaged in more design activities throughout their design process, engaged in their

design activities more comprehensively and engaged in more design activities related to the problem space, compared to the high opportunistic mind-set cluster that received the stimuli.

In examining the direct relation between the two mind-sets (presage level) and the design solutions that students produced (product level) (RQ 3), this study shows that high discerning mind-set students produce solutions that have higher clarity, completeness and usefulness compared to high opportunistic mind-set students. Even when high discerning mind-set students did not receive the stimuli, they produced better quality solutions compared to high opportunistic mind-set students that received the stimuli. Additionally, high opportunistic students that did not receive stimuli produced solutions that were more feasible compared to high discerning mind-set students are less complex, less sophisticated, and do not require much changes from existing conditions in the design problem. These findings strongly suggest the advantage in adopting a discerning mind-set within design learning.

Compelling evidence for the promotion of discerning mind-sets within design students have been presented in this study. Students with high discerning mind-sets have been found to show, throughout their design process, higher engagement and comprehensiveness in terms of their considerations and design activities. Furthermore, these behaviours have been found to positively affect the outcomes that students produce. Nevertheless, results from this study also reveal that students that incline toward an opportunistic mind-set can be stimulated to enhance their behaviour in learning. This in turn provides better possibilities of improving their learning outcomes. However, better pedagogical approaches in design learning should be further researched upon to build upon the characteristics of both the discerning and opportunistic mind-sets that prevail within design students. Some studies have looked into the teaching approaches to teachers (Gow & Kember, 1993; Trigwell et al., 1999; Trigwell & Prosser, 2004; Richardson, 2005). However, these studies examine the presage level aspects of teaching. Whereas more studies in the context of a processlevel aspect should be further researched upon. This study paves the way for further research on the types of pedagogical approaches to enhance the design learning experience for design students.

6

Discussion and Conclusion

In design education, factors related to both teacher and student affect the outcomes that a student achieves. Teachers play a role in students' learning by transferring knowledge to their students. This knowledge is commonly based on pre-defined course structures that are offered by the specified design programmes. However, studentrelated factors are expected to play a more pivotal role in enabling students to manage their own individual learning. Inherent aspects that prevail within students prior to engaging in learning, are connected to the behaviour and actions that they adopt. This in turn, affects the outcomes of their learning. A deeper understanding toward the individual dispositions that prevail within design students, are expected to assist teachers to fulfil the distinct learning needs that students have. This thesis addresses a critical factor that is expected to influence students' learning: individual mind-sets in design learning. Mind-sets encompass students' internal mental dispositions and external behavioural responses, that are anticipated to influence the design activities that students engage in, and the quality of design outputs that they produce.

The first part of this thesis, namely Chapters 2 and 3, deals with identifying and assessing the appropriate variables to examine mind-sets that prevail in design learning. The discerning and opportunistic mind-sets were proposed from the first empirical study that is presented in Chapter 3. The second part of the thesis, namely Chapters 4 and 5, dealt with testing the differences between these two mind-sets. Students that incline toward the discerning mind-set were compared to students that incline toward the discerning mind-set were compared to students that incline toward the opportunistic mind-sets. Distinct differences between these two groups in terms of their engagement in the design process and the quality of their design outputs that they produced were found. The different individual dispositions such as their perceived self-efficacy, tolerance for ambiguity, view of own intelligence and preferred learning approaches that characterises these two mind-sets were also examined. Differences found between the two mind-sets provide valuable insights that may help to facilitate design education. Additionally, reflection stimuli to induce deeper

modes of reasoning were introduced to influence the mind-set and test the possibilities of improving the quality of outcomes that students produced. In this last chapter, findings from the three empirical chapters are summarized and presented as contributions for theory building in Section 6. Implications and recommendations for design education are presented in Section 6.2 and the limitations of these studies are discussed in Section 6.3.

6.1 Contributions of this thesis

The following sections have been divided into five central themes that describe the main findings of this research. The findings contribute to both educational psychology and design cognition literature. RQ1: "Are there prevalent mind-sets that design students have toward design learning and how can they be identified?" is addressed in Sections 6.1.1. RQ2: "What other factors are associated to the adoption of certain types of mind-sets?" is addressed in Section 6.1.2. RQ 3: "Are these mind-sets related to the design processes that students engage in and the outcomes that they produce?" is addressed in Sections 6.1.3 and 6.1.4. RQ 4: "Can interventions be applied to positively influence the performance of design students in design learning?" is addressed in Section 6.1.5. Finally, attributes of the discerning and opportunistic mind-sets that are observed from the three studies are summarized in Section 6.1.6.

6.1.1 RQ 1: Investigating the mind-sets that design students have toward design learning

Mind-sets are assumed to encompass an interplay of internal mental dispositions and external behavioural responses (see Section 2.1). To examine mind-sets, the learning conceptions (the internal aspect of mind-set); and preferred learning approaches and preference for instruction (the external aspect of mind-set) (see Section 2.3.1.3) of design students are investigated. By examining these variables, two distinct mind-sets in design learning are proposed. These two categories of mind-sets are referred to as the *discerning* and *opportunistic* mind-sets.

Students inclining toward a discerning mind-set are found to hold a deep-transforming conception toward learning. This means that they perceive knowledge structures as something to be transformed and require active abstraction and interpretation, in order to acquire meaning (Marton & Säaljö, 1976; Purdie et al., 1996; Van Rossum et al., 1985). They also show preference for instruction and teachers that support the development of their personal understanding. Additionally, they indicated preference to engage in the deep learning approach (see Section 3.3.4 and 0). They engage deeply with design problems that they encounter, seek meaning between concepts, relate ideas and information, and use corroborative evidence to support the development of their design ideas and/or decisions. The discerning mind-set is also uniquely characterised by students' tendencies to discern ambiguity and raise up to

challenges that they encounter (see Section 3.3.4). These characteristics which are displayed by design students that incline toward the discerning mind-set, facilitates design learning.

Through the experiential learning theory, learning is defined as a process of grasping and transforming experience to create knowledge (Kolb et al., 2001). In other words, knowledge in designing is gained, by reflecting and experimenting on abstract design concepts, and actively engaging in concrete design experiences i.e., the design activities that a student engages in. Students are recommended to engage in four stages for effective learning: (1) engage in a concrete experience; (2) reflect upon the experience; (3) form abstract concepts and generalizations associated to the experience; and (4) actively experiment with the newly formed understanding by doing (Kolb et al., 2001). The balanced engagement in reflection and experimentation on abstract concepts and concrete experiences, ensures effective learning within students. This theory suggests that students inclining toward the discerning mind-set will be more likely to engage in effective learning i.e., the four stages as suggested by Kolb et al. (2001). The findings in this thesis indicate that they actively reflect on the concepts that they come across in their design courses and exhibit active engagement in their design activities (see Section 3.3.5).

Students inclining toward an opportunistic mind-set on the other hand, are found to be less likely to hold a deep-transforming conception toward learning, not engage in deep learning approaches, and prefer teachers that support the development of their personal understanding. Students inclining toward the opportunistic mind-set are more likely to incline toward teachers that transmit information. Although indirect evidence for the opportunistic mind-set to prefer engaging in the surface learning approach was observed in the first empirical study (see Section 3.3.4), tendencies toward the surface learning approach could be directly observed in the second empirical study (see Section 4.4.1 and 0). This means that some students are indeed more likely to incline toward surface learning approaches that include memorising when presented with information, be bounded to a course syllabus and experience a lack of purpose throughout their education. Additionally, students inclining toward the opportunistic mind-set can uniquely be characterised by their tendencies to take convenient measures. They contrive upon convenient strategies that are easily accessible to them, and will avert undesirable or difficult situations. They also do not delve as deeply into design tasks that they were engaged in. Instead, they engage in design tasks at a surface level, where the connections that they make in design projects are established using non-corroborative evidence (see Section 3.3.7).

The characteristics exhibited by students that incline toward the opportunistic mindset suggest that they are likely to do well in solving design problems that they are

familiar with i.e., where repetitive processes are involved. They will be able to solve these types of problems more rapidly by applying processes that they are accustomed to. Conversely, these findings also suggest that students that incline toward the opportunistic mind-set will engage less actively in the four stages for effective learning as recommended by Kolb et al. (2001), decreasing the possibilities of their effective learning.

Under the assumption that mind-sets within design students can be examined through their learning conceptions, preferred learning approaches and preference for instruction, the discerning and opportunistic mind-sets were proposed. Clear differences between the internal mental dispositions and external behavioural responses of these two mind-sets can be observed, indicating strong evidence for the two categorisations. However, to externally validate these categorisations, other aspects of students' individual dispositions were tested in the different chapters and presented in the following section.

6.1.2 RQ 2: Individual dispositions associated to the adoption of discerning and opportunistic mind-sets

In learning to design, students are expected to interact with unclear, inexplicit and ambiguous problem solving situations. It is thus expected that their perception of self-efficacy, tolerance for ambiguity and view of their own intelligence, may influence the manner in which they manage the complexities in design learning (see Section 2.3.1.4). Students that incline toward the discerning mind-set are expected to perceive these three factors differently than the students that incline toward the opportunistic mind-set. These differences were observed from the second empirical study.

Indeed, students that incline toward the discerning mind-set indicated lower levels of self-efficacy, higher tolerance for ambiguity in problem solving situations and less inclination toward a fixed view of intelligence. Students inclining toward the opportunistic mind-set on the other hand, indicated higher self-efficacy compared to their counterparts, higher tolerance for ambiguity in situations that are related to interpersonal situations and a high inclination toward the fixed view of intelligence (see Section 4.4.1 and 4.4.2). A high agreement toward the fixed view of intelligence means that students view their intelligence and design capabilities as a fixed and unchangeable trait. Conversely, it is likely that this fixed view of one's own intelligence or design capability, is held by design students in many learning situations. For example, individual's that begin to learn drawing usually indicate a common misconception: that they do not naturally have the talent to do so (Edwards, 2012), and as such may be hindered.

The higher levels of self-efficacy, as indicated by students inclining toward the opportunistic mind-set, show that they evaluate their capability to accomplish a task successfully on a higher scale, compared to students that incline toward the discerning mind-set. This indicates that students inclining toward the opportunistic mind-set will be able to regulate their coping behaviours when dealing with complexities associated to design learning that require high reasoning capabilities (Bandura, 1999). However, as they also incline toward the surface and strategic learning approaches (see Section 4.4.1), it is highly likely that they will cope with the complexities that they face by organizing their time and learning activities towards memorizing information and fulfilling course requirements. Christensen et al. (2002) found that when students indicated high levels of their own self-efficacy in the beginning of their semester, their performance was significantly lower compared to students that indicated lower levels of self-efficacy. The authors attributed this circumstance to the over optimism that was exhibited by the students. On the other hand, when students indicated lower levels of self-efficacy, these students achieved better results at the end of the semester. The authors attributed this condition to students' pessimism in their own self-evaluation that led to self-regulatory behaviour which improved their performance in the end. Students inclining toward the discerning mind-set had indicated lower levels of self-efficacy compared to students that inclined toward the opportunistic mind-set. Therefore, it is likely that the discerning mind-set students will engage in self-regulatory behaviour that leads to better outcomes in the end (Christensen et al., 2002). Furthermore, discerning students are associated with the deep-transforming learning conception and deep learning approaches. This additionally supports the notion for possibilities of their reflection and regulatory behaviour that will enable better performance.

Students inclining toward the opportunistic mind-set indicated higher tolerance for ambiguity in situations that are related to interpersonal situations, while students inclining toward the discerning mind-set indicated higher tolerance for ambiguity in problem solving situations (see Section 4.5.1). In a problem solving or design based situation, it is highly likely that tolerance for ambiguous or uncertain situations would impede the seamless course of the project. This is especially so when conditions that need to be clarified are left unattended. This suggests that students inclining toward a discerning mind-set would be more likely to flexibly adapt and better manage within problem solving situations. Additionally, students that incline toward a discerning mind-set would be more likely to avoid ambiguous conditions by clarifying the situation i.e., possibly by facing confrontations during interpersonal communication in order to avoid ambiguity. On the other hand, students inclining toward an opportunistic mind-set would be less analytical in a design or problem solving situation. Additionally, they will be less likely to engage in interpersonal confrontations to communicate any impending ambiguities. If these situations occur,

differences in the quality of designs produced by students can be expected based on the mind-set they adopt. Students inclining toward the discerning mind-set are more likely to produce better quality designs.

Students inclining toward the opportunistic mind-set had indicated high levels of selfefficacy and high tolerance for ambiguity in interpersonal related situations. These students also produced lower quality solutions (see Section 4.5.1). In this case, this means that their solutions scored lower in terms of relevance and specificity. On the other hand, students that inclined toward the discerning mind-set indicated lower levels of self-efficacy, and higher tolerance for ambiguity in problem solving situation. These students also produced solutions with higher quality. This finding supports the notion that lower levels of self-efficacy can result in better performance (Christensen et al., 2002), when coupled with self-regulatory behaviour that include conscious contemplation and controlled processing of their learning activities (McLaughlin, 1990). The findings presented show that there are comparable differences between students that incline toward the discerning mind-set, and students that incline toward the opportunistic mind-sets. These differences were interpreted from self-ratings of the design students. In order to validate whether their perceptions align with their actions, additional behavioural data was collected. The meaning of these results is presented in the following section. These results further validate the distinctiveness of the two mind-sets.

6.1.3 RQ 3: Mind-sets in relation to question-asking in designing and outcomes

The behavioural responses of design students that incline toward the discerning and opportunistic mind-sets, are expected to differ from one another. To test whether these differences exist, the questions pertinent to the students regarding the design task that they had to carry out, were examined. The questions that students ask may vary from low level to high level questions (Eris, 2003; Graesser & Person, 1994). It is posited that the sequence of questions that a student asks, when following the proper order and incremental formulation of questions, from low level to high level questions, can yield more reliable forms of knowledge for themselves (Dillon, 1984; Eris, 2002). Distinct differences between the questions that students inclining toward the discerning mind-set asked, can be observed compared to the questions that were asked by students that incline toward the opportunistic mind-set (see Section 4.5.2).

Students inclining toward the discerning mind-set asked more low level questions, while students inclining toward the opportunistic mind-set asked more generative design questions. Low level questions relate to the clarification on missing or incomplete information, while generative design questions refers to questions that lead to the reframing of contexts and concept generation (Eris, 2002). The sequential

ordering of questions from low to high and generative design questions enables the establishment of more reliable forms of knowledge (Dillon, 1984; Eris, 2002). However, students that incline toward the opportunistic mind-set engaged in an abrupt or expeditious formulation of question-asking. They jumped to asking generative design questions without formulating lower level questions beforehand. This means that they do not clarify missing or incomplete information related to the design problem, but would immediately generate concepts or solutions for the design problem. This provides further evidence that students inclining toward an opportunistic mind-set, would also incline toward making superficial connections with non-corroborative evidence (Hamat et al., 2015).

Students that incline toward a discerning mind-set, however, did not show these jumps to generative design questions. They engaged in proper incremental questionasking formulations by first trying to understand the design problem through low level questions. In hindsight, the more low level questions students asked, the quality of the solutions that they produced increased. However, no evidence was found to indicate that asking generative design questions related to the increase or decrease in the quality of solutions. This result strongly indicates that the question-asking strategy deployed by students that incline toward the discerning mind-set leads to possibilities of producing design solutions with better quality. It is expected that design students can learn the technique of asking the right questions. Therefore, question-asking techniques can and should somehow be integrated into design learning.

6.1.4 RQ 3: Mind-sets in relation to considerations and design activities

It is really important to know if the attitudes relate to behaviour. Therefore, further validation of whether the self-reported questionnaire items align with the design activities that students engage in was conducted. Two aspects related to design processes are examined. This includes both the considerations that design students take into account and the design activities that they engaged in when designing. To examine the considerations that they made were tallied. The number of specialised topics related to the design task which students considered were also tallied and scored for its level of comprehensiveness (see Section 5.2.2). To examine their design activities, the number of design activities that students engage in during their entire design process were examined. The comprehensiveness of these design activities are also assessed. Comprehensiveness, related to the breadth and depth of the design activities that students immersed themselves in, were subjectively rated by an independent rater (see Section 5.3.5). To examine their design activities, the number of design activities and solution space that students engaged in were also assessed.

Differences between the considerations and design activities that students engaged in could be observed between students that incline toward the discerning mind-set, and students that incline toward the opportunistic mind-set.

Students inclining toward a discerning mind-set showed more considerations throughout their design process. They considered more specialised topics related to the design problem and they considered the specialised topics more comprehensively. This is in contrast to students that incline toward an opportunistic mind-set. Students inclining toward a discerning mind-set also engaged in more steps/design activities in their design process. They also engaged in their design activities more comprehensively compared to students that inclined toward an opportunistic mind-set. Further differences can be observed between the discerning and opportunistic mind-sets in terms of the type of design space that they engaged in throughout their design process. Students inclining toward a discerning mind-set engaged in more design activities related to the problem space, compared to students that inclined toward an opportunistic mind-set. In terms of engagement in the solution space however, students inclining toward both mind-sets executed approximately an equivalent number of design activities.

The results strongly indicate that when students incline toward a discerning mind-set, they tend to make more considerations on a deeper level. They will also engage in more design activities more comprehensively. More apparently, these students will spend more time in the problem space prior to generating solutions. These findings of the third study tally with findings from the second study indicating that students inclining toward the discerning mind-set will formulate more low level questions before proceeding to high level and generative design questions (see Section 4.5.2). Students that incline toward the opportunistic mind-set on the other hand, made less considerations, engaged in their design activities less comprehensively and spent less time in the problem space. This resonates with the findings of the first two studies: students that incline toward the opportunistic mind-set tend to expeditiously jump to asking generative design questions, without asking lower and higher level questions beforehand. They also incline toward making superficial connections using non-corroborative evidence (Hamat et al., 2015).

The discerning mind-set is aligned to a balanced use of serialist-holist learning strategies as advocated by Pask (1975). The serialist strategy is to engage in tightly structured step-by-step processes, where students focus on details and evidence, and logically building up their understanding. The holist strategy is to build up understanding by organising and connecting ideas, through a broad overview of topics and also by using of analogies, anecdotes and illustrations. Therefore, the discerning mind-set student may incline toward either the serialist or holist strategies, as both

strategies still enables students to develop their understanding (Entwistle, 2001). As previously mentioned, students inclining toward the discerning mind-set engaged in their design considerations comprehensively (depth and breadth), exhibiting similar strategies to that of the serialist-holist learners. On the other hand, students that incline toward the opportunistic mind-set engages in the serialist-holist strategies on a surface level. They engaged less comprehensively in their design activities, and did not go into detail by first asking the low level questions. They jumped into generative design questions, compared to students that inclined toward the discerning mind-set that formulated their questions in sequence, starting with low level questions. Pask refers to these students as "globetrotters", which means that they don't "give sufficient attention to details and tend to generalise and reach conclusions too easily" (as cited in Entwistle, 2001, p. 597). Students' learning can also be adversely affected when they fail to "seek analogies or to use [of their] own experiences [to] make connections with related ideas" (as cited in Entwistle, 2001, p. 597). Similarly, students that incline toward the opportunistic mind-set were found to make connections that were not based on corroborative evidence, when they engaged in their design projects. These students tend to avoid undesirable or difficult situations and implement convenient strategies that are easily accessible to them. For example, they will depend on their teachers to make design decisions for them, rather than reflecting deeply on the task at hand (see Section 3.3.6).

In order to test whether these behaviours and outcomes can be improved, the effects of reflection-oriented stimuli on students that incline toward the discerning and opportunistic mind-sets were examined.

6.1.5 RQ 4: Influence of reflection-oriented stimuli on design solutions

Reflection behaviour is considered important for enabling good design learning, and it is expected that it is possible to induce reflection within design students (Atman & Turns, 2001; Schön, 1983). The manner in which reflection is induced within design students plays a critical role in ensuring students' effectiveness in designing. That is, within the given period of time available for the quasi-experimental studies. The reflection stimuli used in the first experimental study did not yield any significant improvements in terms of outcomes. The stimuli used in the first study consisted of design theories that students had to read, prior to designing. These stimuli required deep internalization and collective sense-making of the theories in order for application in the design process that students engaged in. Due to the short amount of time that was allocated for the design task, immediate and noticeable effects on the quality of solutions that students produced could not be observed.

The stimuli used in the second experimental study, on the other hand, yielded some changes. Changes in terms of students' design processes and quality of outcomes could be observed. In the second experimental study, a more direct way of instigating reflection was used. Questions related to the design problem were included in the design brief for students to reflect and act upon as they deemed necessary. The changes observed are presented in the following sections (see Section 6.1.5.1 and 6.1.5.2).

6.1.5.1 RQ 4: Influence of reflection-oriented stimuli on design process

In terms of the design process that students engaged in, no significant differences could be observed within students that inclined toward the discerning mind-set. There were no significant differences in terms of their design process when they did and did not receive the reflection-oriented stimuli. However, significant differences could be observed within students that inclined toward the opportunistic mind-set.

When students that incline toward the opportunistic mind-set did not receive the reflection-oriented stimuli, they considered a significantly lower number of specialised topics related to the design problem. This is compared to students that incline toward the discerning mind-set that received the stimuli. They also considered the specialised topics less comprehensively and engaged in their design activities less comprehensively, compared to students that incline toward the discerning mind-set and did not receive the stimuli.

When they received the reflection-oriented stimuli, students that incline toward the opportunistic mind-set made significantly more considerations throughout their design process. Conversely, when they received the reflection-oriented stimuli, they still executed a fewer number of design activities, and engaged in these design activities in a less comprehensive manner, compared to students that incline toward the discerning mind-set and did not receive the stimuli. They also executed fewer design activities related to the problem space, compared to students inclining toward the discerning mind-set that received the stimuli.

The results strongly indicate that changes in terms of processes are more possible within students that incline toward the opportunistic mind-set. However, even when the opportunistic mind-set students made significantly more considerations throughout their design process, their considerations and design activities are still comparably lower in count and comprehensiveness compared to students that incline toward the discerning mind-set. This result seems to suggest that the mind-set itself plays a bigger role in facilitating the external behavioural responses that a student exhibits in designing, and that the situations in learning can indeed be changed.

Thus, influencing a change of mind-sets toward a more discerning mind-set seem more reasonable for design students. With regards to the absence of differences within students that incline toward the discerning mind-set, it can be reasoned that these students are already engaged in active reflection throughout their design process. Thus it is less likely to observe any significant differences within these design students.

6.1.5.2 Effect of reflection-oriented stimuli on quality of solutions

Interactions between mind-sets and the quality of design solutions that students produce are expected to be mediated by process or behavioural variables (Armor & Taylor, 2003; Burnette et al., 2013; Zeng, Hou, & Peng, 2016). However, direct relations between mind-sets and the quality of solutions that students produced, could also be observed. When students incline toward a discerning mind-set, they have better chances of coming up with solutions that are communicated with higher clarity, and are more complete and useful, when they do not receive any form of stimuli. This means that their solutions would be communicated better and more easily understood, would more thoroughly solve the design problem. However, no significant differences in the quality of solutions could be observed between the discerning and opportunistic mind-set students when they were asked additional questions at the bottom of the design brief as their experimental treatment.

When students incline toward the opportunistic mind-set, and did not receive the stimuli, they produced solutions that were more feasible i.e., were less complicated or difficult to implement, compared to opportunistic mind-set students that received the stimuli, and discerning mind-set students that did not receive the stimuli. In other words, the solutions produced by opportunistic mind-set students that did not receive the stimuli did not differ much from the existing conditions within the design problem, as their solutions would not require drastic modifications from the existing facilities, or complicated requisitions in terms of manufacturing and technological advances.

These results indicate that the reflection-oriented stimuli had a positive effect in students that incline toward the opportunistic mind-set. When they received the stimuli, their solutions changed more drastically compared to the existing conditions within the design problem. However, the reflection-oriented stimuli did not have any influence on solutions that were produced by students that incline toward the discerning mind-set. Instead, the design students that incline toward the discerning mind-set produced better solutions when they did not receive the reflection-oriented stimuli. This indicates that when students that incline toward the discerning mind-set are exposed to additional reflection stimuli, adverse effects might occur. Instead,

different methods of stimulation can be examined. As discussed in Section 6.1.1, a possible stimuli to adopt is the simulation of the four stages for effective learning as advocated by Kolb et al. (2001). Students can be led to engage in the four stages for effective learning. This includes to firstly engage in a concrete experience, then reflect upon the experience, and then to form abstract concepts and generalizations associated to the experience, and finally to actively experiment with the newly formed understanding by doing. An example of such an attempt was conducted by TU Delft in the massive open online course that they offered (Daalhuizen & Schoormans, n.d.). Specific materials and teaching aids should however be tailor-designed for the experimental or teaching purposes.

6.1.6 Attributes of the discerning and opportunistic mind-sets

The three studies have revealed distinctive differences between the discerning and opportunistic mind-sets on the three levels of Bigg's 3P model (see Section 2.3). On the presage level, the learning approaches, learning conceptions, preference for instruction, perception of self-efficacy, tolerance of ambiguity and view of own intelligence of design students were assessed. On the process level, the types of questions that students ask and the considerations that they made throughout their design process were assessed. On the product level, the quality of solutions that students produced were assessed.

It can be concluded that students inclining toward the discerning mind-set show controlled processing of their learning activities. This is in contrast to students that incline toward the opportunistic mind-set. For a detailed overview of the differences on the three levels of the 3P model, see Table 6.1. The attributes of the discerning and opportunistic mind-sets from the three studies are summarized.

6.2 Implications and recommendations for design education

Identification of the two distinctive mind-sets and their characteristic traits in design learning and designing, provide potential implications for design education. Recommendations for administrators that are responsible for managing design education in general, teachers of design courses and students of design are put forward.

Findings strongly suggest that potential design students that incline toward the discerning mind-set are more readily prepared for the complexities of design learning. In comparison, potential students that incline toward an opportunistic mind-set might require supplementary attention and didactics or instruction in order to flourish in their design learning. For the educational body, educating students that incline toward an opportunistic mind-set involve a surplus of operational expenditures which encompass human and economical capital. To ensure the success of a design school,

this involves the development of proper course syllabuses that enable the development of discerning mind-sets within all students. It also involves investment in terms of teacher training and expertise, to fulfil the needs of students with opportunistic mind-sets.

Attributes	Opportunistic Mind-set Discerning Min			
Presage level				
Learning approach (LA)	Surface LA	Deep and Strategic LA		
Learning conception (LC)	Low deep-transforming LC	High deep-transforming LC		
Preference for instruction	Lower preference for instruction that that supports understanding	Higher preference for instruction that supports understanding		
Perception of self-efficacy	High	Low		
Tolerance for ambiguity	High in problem solving situations	High in interpersonal related situations		
View of own intelligence	Higher fixed view	Lower fixed view		
	Process level			
Question-asking strategy	Sequential	Not sequential		
Considerations throughout design process	Less comprehensive	More comprehensive		
	Product level			
Quality of solutions	Lower clarity, completeness and usefulness	Higher clarity, completeness and usefulness		
Response to reflection-oriented stimuli:				
In terms of outcomes	Better quality solutions	No observable effect		
In terms of process	Considerations become more comprehensive, but still less comprehensive compared to the discerning mind-set	No observable effect		
Other characteristics	Takes convenient measures, makes superficial connections	Rises up to challenges, engages in active reflection and exploration		

Table 6.1 Overview of attributes for the discerning and opportunistic mind-sets

In current design education, however, teachers are presently faced with the challenge of educating design students that incline toward both mind-sets. Students that incline toward the opportunistic mind-set are more likely to encounter difficulties throughout their design education. Nevertheless, when these students were given the reflection – oriented stimuli compelling evidence that the behaviour and outcomes that they produced can be improved. This strongly suggests that students that incline toward an opportunistic mind-set need stimulation in terms of presage level factors i.e., to make the students more reflective and discerning (see conceptual model of this thesis in Section 2.3). These factors are related to individual dispositions within the students themselves that exist prior to their actual learning. It is thus important that teachers are aware of the specific stimulation that these students require in their design learning, and invest their time and attention to engage students toward a more discerning mind-set.

The development of resources in order to improve students' mind-sets, which more importantly, enable their independence in reflective and critical thinking, should thus be fostered. These resources might be embedded into competence monitors that are currently used in universities to keep track of students' progress.

Findings also suggest that students should be motivated and taught ways of managing and harnessing the benefits of their individual dispositions. For example, they should be motivated to view their own intelligence and capabilities as a developable trait, as opposed to a fixed trait that cannot be changed. They should also be made aware of the ambiguity in solving design problems and be trained to manage ambiguous situations. Furthermore, design students should also be taught about the types and strategies of formulating questions. Questions that are better structured can establish more reliable forms of knowledge, and enable students to better understand the design problems they engage in, enabling them to formulate positive imminent behaviours and actions. The development of discerning mind-sets however, also needs to be fostered by the students themselves. Design students should be more aware of their individual dispositions that exist prior to engagement in learning as these factors influence the way they engage in learning and the outcomes of their learning. Students should also be aware of their own levels of self-efficacy so that they can regulate their own learning activities. Whether they are optimistic or pessimistic of their own prior performance, they should be aware of these conditions and be able to manage these situations. Ultimately, better design learning is more likely to occur when design students are more mindful of their own personal tendencies, and actively harness their individual capabilities.
6.3 Limitations and recommendations for future studies

The limitations and recommendations for future studies that can be derived from this thesis are as follows:

In Chapters 2 and 3, variables related to learning conceptions, learning approaches and preference for instruction were selected to examine the internal and external components of mind-sets in design learning. These variables were expected to provide insights related to the internal mental dispositions and external behavioural responses that determine an individual's reaction or approach to design learning in general. However, these variables are postulated by the author and do not fully represent personal constructs from the design student themselves. Future studies should take this aspect into account and focus on the perspective of the design students themselves. In hindsight, a constructivist approach will enable the exploration and build-up of understanding from the design students' own internal perspective. One such method propagated within the constructivist approach includes the use of repertory grids (Burr et al., 2012). This method allows for students to provide descriptions by exploring contrasting poles of a construct, from their own perspective, in relation to their mind-sets within design learning (Denicolo et al., 2016). This method offers a much more flexible yet structured cluster of variables to be examined. Furthermore, it works upon constructs that are derived from the design students themselves, as opposed to stemming from the researcher.

In Chapters 4 and 5, data for the empirical studies were obtained from controlled experimental conditions, thus there are limitations to generalising these results to the actual design studio setting. Other variables that possibly exist in the real learning situation are not fully captured. Thus, only inferences to the actual learning situation can be made. However, the experiments were made in studio rooms that the students were familiar with, which controls for unanticipated classroom/studio environment related variables.

Data were also gathered only at a single point in time for both these studies, resulting in the absence of process data. Thus, students' adoption of learning approaches throughout or at specific points of the complex design process could not be captured. Future studies should then take into consideration the possibility of longitudinal studies to measure differences within individuals or isolate distinctly different parts of the design process. This would enable comparisons between the different phases to obtain a clearer delineation of students' design learning. In addition, the stimuli used within the second empirical study, did not yield any observable differences within the students (see Section 4.3.2). It is assumed that limitations in terms of time and complexity of the stimuli, restricted the possibilities of observing any changes.

In an experimental context, it is expected that these limitations can be overcome by streamlining the instrument of stimulation, and by increasing the amount of time given, for students to engage with the instrument and the design problem. In an actual design learning setting however, it is expected that improvements within these students can be more readily observed. This is because the amount of time that students will have shall allow for much more active engagement with the content knowledge that the education system provides for them. Hence, more time might be needed for future attempts in integrating this type of stimuli in future studies or possibly, in actual design learning situations.

In the third empirical study, the stimuli given to the participants yielded differences only within students that inclined toward the opportunistic mind-set. This strongly indicates that students that incline toward the discerning mind-set require different stimulation in their design learning. Evidence for the type of stimulation that discerning mind-set students require, were however not uncovered within the studies of this thesis. In hindsight it is probable that these students require stimulation of a different nature, compared to that required by students that incline toward the opportunistic mind-set. It could also possibly be due to a ceiling effect, where students that inclined toward the discerning mind-set were already performing at a good level. Conversely, depending on the context of the design problem, suitable creativity methods or design methods can be introduced to examine whether the performance of design students that incline toward the discerning and opportunistic mind-sets can be increased. Comparisons between creative methods such as personas, analogies and mind-mapping with structured and rational methods such as TRIZ, ViP (van Dijk & Hekkert, 2014) and functional analysis should also be attempted. In retrospect, these comparisons can possibly provide insights on how to optimize the individual dispositions related to the two mind-sets. That is, whether the discerning and opportunistic mind-set students would prefer and perform better using systematic or heuristic methods.

Data were mainly collected from a sample of design students in Malaysia. Although this thesis focusses particularly on data samples collected from these students, the differences that emerged from these empirical studies are expected to apply to design education more broadly, as the background of learning and the structure of the design programmes that design students enrol in are comparable. It can be reasoned that the generalisability of the findings still holds, as it is anticipated that these results can be collectively attributed to design students from similar backgrounds or training. These students are exposed to same educational programmes i.e., from maths, science, geography, history and physics, to design methods, sketching classes and materials engineering. Furthermore, in this era of globalisation, it can be expected that these students will be listening to the same types of mainstream music, watching the same

yearly MTV Music awards and Netflix movies, and even playing the same Grand Theft Auto or Warcraft games. As people begin to eat the same food, listen to the same music and enjoy the same entertainment, it can be expected that it is the individual differences between people that stand out for examination. However, future studies should also include samples of students from varying design courses and cultural backgrounds, to validate and increase the generalisability of the findings.

References

Design-related literature

Andreasen, M. (2003). Improving Design Methods' Usability by a Mindset Approach. In U. Lindemann (Ed.), *Human Behaviour in Design SE - 21* (pp. 209–218). CHAP, Springer Berlin Heidelberg. http://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-662-07811-2_21

Andreasen, M. M., Hansen, C. T., & Cash, P. (2015). Conceptual Design: Interpretations, Mindset and Models. (M. M. Andreasen, C. T. Hansen, & P. Cash, Eds.). Springer.

 Atman, C. J., & Turns, J. (2001). Chapter 3 - Studying Engineering Design Learning: Four Verbal Protocol Studies. In C. M Eastman, W. M.
 McCracken, & W. C. Newstetter (Eds.), *Design Knowing and Learning: Cognition in Design Education* (pp. 37–60). Book Section, Oxford: Elsevier Science. Retrieved from

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/B9780080438689500036 Aurisicchio, M., Bracewell, R. H., & Wallace, K. M. (2007). Characterising Design

- Questions That Involve Reasoning. *Sciences-New York*, (August), 1–11.
- Badke-Schaub, P. (1999). Analysis of design projects. *Design Studies*, *20*, 465–480. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0142-694X(99)00017-4
- Boeijen, A., Daalhuizen, J., Zijlstra, J., & Van der Schoor, R. (Eds.). (2014). *Delft design guide: Design methods.* BIS Publishers.
- Bourgeois-Bougrine, S., Buisine, S., Vandendriessche, C., Glaveanu, V., & Lubart, T. (2017). Engineering students' use of creativity and development tools in conceptual product design: What, when and how? *Thinking Skills and Creativity, 24*, 104–117. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.tsc.2017.02.016

Broadbent, J. A., & Cross, N. (2003). Design education in the information age. *Journal of Engineering Design*, *14*(4), 439–446. http://doi.org/10.1080/09544820310001606867

- Brockhus, S., van der Kolk, T. E. C., Koeman, B., & Badke-Schaub, P. G. (2014). The Influence of Creative Self-Efficacy on Creative Performance. *Proceedings of the 13th International Design Conference DESIGN 2014*, 437–444.
- Buchanan, R. (1992). Wicked Problems in Design Thinking. *Design Issues*, 8(2), 5–21. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/1511637

Carroll, J. M. (2001). Scenario-based Design: A Brief History and Rationale. In C. M Eastman, W. M. McCracken, & W. C. Newstetter (Eds.), *Design Knowing* and Learning: Cognition in Design Education (pp. 241–268). Elsevier Science.

Casakin, H., & Kreitler, S. (2011). The cognitive profile of creativity in design. *Thinking Skills and Creativity*, 6(3), 159–168. Retrieved from http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S187118711100040X

Casakin, H. P., & Goldschmidt, G. (1999). Reasoning by visual analogy in design problem-solving: the role of guidance. *Environment and Planning B: Planning and Design 2000, Volume 27*, 105–119. http://doi.org/10.1068/b2565

Chang, Y., Chien, Y., Lin, H., Chen, M. Y., & Hsieh, H. (2016). Effects of 3D CAD applications on the design creativity of students with different representational abilities. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 65, 107–113.

Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2016.08.024

- Christensen, K. S., Hjorth, M., Iversen, O. S., & Blikstein, P. (2016). Towards a formal assessment of design literacy: Analyzing K-12 students' stance towards inquiry. *Design Studies*, 46, 125–151. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.destud.2016.05.002
- Christiaans, H., & Dorst, K. H. (1992). Cognitive models in industrial design engineering: A protocol study. In American Society of Mechanical Engineers, Design Engineering Division (Publication) DE (Vol. 42, pp. 131–140).
- Chulvi, V., Mulet, E., Chakrabarti, A., López-Mesa, B., & González-Cruz, C. (2012). Comparison of the degree of creativity in the design outcomes using different design methods. *Journal of Engineering Design*, 23(4), 241–269. http://doi.org/10.1080/09544828.2011.624501
- Coyne, R. (2005). Wicked problems revisited. *Design Studies*, *26*(1), 5–17. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.destud.2004.06.005
- Cross, N. (1982). Designerly ways of knowing. *Design Studies*, *3*(4), 221–227. http://doi.org/10.1016/0142-694X(82)90040-0
- Cross, N. (1990). The nature and nurture of design ability. *Design Studies*, *11*(3), 127–140. Retrieved from
 - http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/0142694X9090002T
- Cubukcu, E., & Cetintahra, G. E. (2010). Does Analogical Reasoning With Visual Clues Affect Novice and Experienced Design Students' Creativity? *Creativity Research Journal, 22*(3), 337–344. http://doi.org/10.1080/10400419.2010.504656
- Daalhuizen, J. J., & Schoormans, J. P. L. (n.d.). Pioneering Online Design Teaching in a Mooc format - tools for facilitating experiential learning. *International Journal of Design*.
- Daalhuizen, J., Person, O., & Gattol, V. (2014). A personal matter? An investigation of students' design process experiences when using a heuristic or a systematic method. *Design Studies*, 35(2), 133–159. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.destud.2013.10.004
- Dean, D. L., Hender, J. M., Rodgers, T. L., & Santanen, E. L. (2006). Identifying quality, novel, and creative ideas: Constructs and scales for idea evaluation. *Journal of the Association for Information Systems*, 7(10), 646–698. http://doi.org/Article
- Dorst, K., & Cross, N. (2001). Creativity in the design process: co-evolution of problem–solution. *Design Studies*, *22*(5), 425–437. Journal Article. http://doi.org/10.1016/s0142-694x(01)00009-6
- Dym, C. L., Agogino, A. M., Eris, O., Frey, D. D., & Leifer, L. J. (2005). Engineering Design Thinking, Teaching, and Learning. *Journal of Engineering Education*, 94(1), 103–120. Retrieved from https://vpn.utm.my/docview/217956366?accountid=41678
- Eris, O. (2002). *Perceiving, comprehending, and measuring design activity through the questions asked while designing.* Ph. D. Dissertation, Stanford University.
- Eris, O. (2003). Asking Generative Design Questions: a Fundamental Cognitive Mechanism in Design Thinking. *International Conference on Engineering Design, ICED 03*, 587–588.
 - 164

Eris, O. (2004). Effective Inquiry for Innovative Engineering design.

- Goel, V. (1992). The structure of design problem spaces. *Cognitive Science*, *16*(3), 395–429. http://doi.org/10.1016/0364-0213(92)90038-V
- Goldschmidt, G. (2001). Chapter 9 Visual Analogy—a Strategy for Design Reasoning and Learning. In C. M Eastman, W. M. McCracken, & W. C. Newstetter (Eds.), *Design Knowing and Learning: Cognition in Design Education* (pp. 199–219). Oxford: Elsevier Science. Retrieved from http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/B9780080438689500097
- Goldschmidt, G., & Sever, A. L. (2009). From Text to Design: Inspiring Design Ideas from Text. *Proceedings of the 17th International Conference on Engineering Design - ICED*, 15–26.
- Goldschmidt, G., & Sever, A. L. (2011). Inspiring design ideas with texts. *Design Studies*, *32*(2), 139–155. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.destud.2010.09.006
- Goldschmidt, G., & Smolkov, M. (2006). Variances in the impact of visual stimuli on design problem solving performance. *Design Studies*, *27*(5), 549–569. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.destud.2006.01.002

Gonçalves, M. (2016). Decoding designers' inspiration process.

- Gonçalves, M., Cardoso, C., & Badke-Schaub, P. (2013). Inspiration peak: exploring the semantic distance between design problem and textual inspirational stimuli. *International Journal of Design Creativity and Innovation*, 1(4), 215–232. http://doi.org/10.1080/21650349.2013.799309
- Groenendijk, T., Janssen, T., Rijlaarsdam, G., & van den Bergh, H. (2013). Learning to be creative. The effects of observational learning on students' design products and processes. *Learning and Instruction*, 28(0), 35–47. JOUR. http://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.learninstruc.2013.05.001
- Hamat, B., Badke-Schaub, P., & Eris, O. (2015). Design Learning Mind-sets. In C.
 Weber, S. Husung, G. Cascini, M. Cantamessa, D. Marjanovic, & M.
 Bordegoni (Eds.), *International Conference on Engineering Design, ICED15* (pp. 341–350). Milan, Italy. Retrieved from https://www.designsociety.org/publication/38020/design_learning_mind-sets
- Hamat, B., Badke-Schaub, P., & Schoormans, J. (2016). Individual dispositions and the adoption of surface learning in design. *Proceedings of International Design Conference, DESIGN, DS 84*, 2081–2090.
- Hernandez, N. V., Shah, J. J., & Smith, S. M. (2010). Understanding design ideation mechanisms through multilevel aligned empirical studies. *Design Studies*, *31*(4), 382–410. Journal Article. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.destud.2010.04.001
- Howard, T. J., Culley, S. J., & Dekoninck, E. (2008). Describing the creative design process by the integration of engineering design and cognitive psychology literature. *Design Studies*, 29(2), 160–180. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.destud.2008.01.001
- Jones, J. C. (1992). *Design Methods*. (G. T. Houlsby & A. N. Schofield, Eds.)*Design* (Vol. 1). Wiley. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1476-8070.1990.tb00752.x
- Kim, E. J., & Kim, K. M. (2015). Cognitive styles in design problem solving: Insights from network-based cognitive maps. *Design Studies*, 40, 1–38. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.destud.2015.05.002

- Kokotovich, V. (2008). Problem analysis and thinking tools: an empirical study of non-hierarchical mind mapping. *Design Studies*, 29(1), 49–69. Journal Article. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.destud.2007.09.001
- Kumar, V. (2013). 101 Design Methods: A Structured Approach for Driving Innovation in Your Oragnization. John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Lawson, B. (2006). *How Designers Think: The Design Process Demystified*. Book, New York, NY: Architectural Press.
- McLaren, S. V., & Stables, K. (2008). Exploring key discriminators of progression: relationships between attitude, meta-cognition and performance of novice designers at a time of transition. *Design Studies*, *29*(2), 181–201. Retrieved from http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0142694X07000890
- Product Design And Development (4th Edition) Ulrich.pdf. (n.d.). Retrieved from http://alvarestech.com/temp/PDP2011/pdf/DesignThinking/Product Design And Development (4th Edition) Ulrich.pdf

Reymen, I. M. M. J. (2001). *Improving Design Processes through Structured Reflection A Domain-independent Approach* (Thesis). Eindhoven University of Technology.

Rivka, O. (2001). Chapter 12 - The Mind in Design: A Conceptual Framework for Cognition in Design Education. In C. M Eastman, W. M. McCracken, & W. C. Newstetter (Eds.), *Design Knowing and Learning: Cognition in Design Education* (pp. 269–295). Book Section, Oxford: Elsevier Science. Retrieved from

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/B9780080438689500127

- Sarkar, P., & Chakrabarti, A. (2011). Assessing design creativity. *Design Studies*, 32(4), 348–383. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.destud.2011.01.002
- Schön, D. A. (1983). The Reflective Practitioner. Basic Books.
- Shah, J. J., Kulkarni, S. V., & Vargas-Hernandez, N. (2000). Evaluation of Idea Generation Methods for Conceptual Design: Effectiveness Metrics and Design of Experiments. *Journal of Mechanical Design*, 122(4), 377. http://doi.org/10.1115/1.1315592
- Smith, D., Hedley, P., & Molloy, M. (2009). Design learning: a reflective model. *Design Studies*, 30(1), 13–37. Retrieved from http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0142694X08000501

Takeda, H., Veerkamp, P., Tomiyama, T., & Yoshikawa, H. (1990). Modeling Design Processes. AI Magazine, 11(4), 37–48. http://doi.org/10.1609/aimag.v11i4.855

- Thomke, S. H., & Nimgade, A. (2000). IDEO Product Development. Retrieved May 7, 2017, from http://www.hbs.edu/faculty/Pages/item.aspx?num=27285
- Van Dijk, M., & Hekkert, P. (2014). Vision In Product Design A guidebook for Innovators. http://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM184302080280107
- Verhaegen, P. A., Vandevenne, D., Peeters, J., & Duflou, J. R. (2013). Refinements to the variety metric for idea evaluation. *Design Studies*, 34(2), 243–263. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.destud.2012.08.003
- Vinod, G. (2001). Chapter 10 Dissociation of Design Knowledge. In M. E. Charles, W. M. McCracken, W. M. M. Wendy C. NewstetterA2 - Charles M. Eastman, & C. N. Wendy (Eds.), *Design Knowing and Learning: Cognition in Design Education* (pp. 221–240). Book Section, Oxford: Elsevier Science.

Retrieved from

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/B9780080438689500103 Williamson, P. K. (2011). The creative problem solving skills of arts and science

students—The two cultures debate revisited. *Thinking Skills and Creativity*, $\delta(1)$, 31–43. Journal Article. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.tsc.2010.08.001

Education and personality-related literature

- Ablard, K. E. (2002). Achievement Goals and Implicit Theories of Intelligence Among Academically Talented Students. *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, 25(3), 215–232.
- Anderson, R. C. (1970). Control of Student Mediating Processes during Verbal Learning and Instruction. *Review of Educational Research*, 40(3), 349–369. http://doi.org/10.3102/00346543040003349

Armor, D. A., & Taylor, S. E. (2003). The effects of mindset on behavior: selfregulation in deliberative and implemental frames of mind. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 29, 86–95. http://doi.org/10.1177/0146167202238374

- Bandura, A. (1982). Self-efficacy mechanism in human agency. *American Psychologist*, *37*(2), 122–147. http://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.37.2.122
- Bandura, A. (1999). Social cognitive theory: An agentic perspective. *Asian Journal* of Social Psychology, 2(1), 21–41. http://doi.org/10.1111/1467-839X.00024
- Bannister, D., & Fransella, F. (2013). Inquiring man: Theory of personal constructs. Routledge.
- Biggs, J. (1993). What do inventories of students' learning processes really measure? A theoretical review and clarification. *The British Journal of Educational Psychology*, *63 (Pt 1)*, 3–19. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.2044-8279.1993.tb01038.x
- Biggs, J. (2012). What the student does: teaching for enhanced learning. *Higher Education Research & Development*, 31(1), 39–55. http://doi.org/10.1080/0729436990180105
- Biggs, J., Kember, D., & Leung, D. Y. P. (2001). The revised two Factor Study Process Questionnaire: R-SPQ-2F. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 71, 133–149. http://doi.org/10.1348/000709901158433
- Binkley, M., Erstad, O., Herman, J., Raizen, S., Ripley, M., Miller-Ricci, M., & Rumble, M. (2012). Assessment and Teaching of 21st Century Skills. Assessment and Teaching of 21st Century Skills, 1–15. http://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-2324-5
- Bråten, I., & Olaussen, B. (1998). The Relationship between Motivational Beliefs and Learning Strategy Use among Norwegian College Students. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 23(23), 182–94. http://doi.org/10.1006/ceps.1997.0963
- Brown, S., White, S., Wakeling, L., & Naiker, M. (2015). Approaches and Study Skills Inventory for Students (ASSIST) in an introductory course in chemistry. *Journal of University Teaching & Learning Practice*, 12(3), 1–12. Retrieved from http://ro.uow.edu.au/jutlp/vol12/iss3/6

Budner, S. (1962). Intolerance of ambiguity as a personality variable. Journal of



Personality, 30, 29-50. http://doi.org/10.1111/1467-6494.ep8933446

Burnette, J. L., O'Boyle, E. H., VanEpps, E. M., Pollack, J. M., & Finkel, E. J. (2013). Mind-sets matter: A meta-analytic review of implicit theories and self-regulation. *Psychological Bulletin*, 139(3), 655–701. http://doi.org/10.1080.00131880802704764\rhttp://dx.doi.org/10.1037/a002953 1

Cambridge Dictionaries Online. (2015). mindset. Retrieved July 1, 2016, from http://dictionary.cambridge.org/dictionary/english/mindset

Cambridge Dictionaries Online. (2016). mindset. Retrieved July 1, 2016, from http://dictionary.cambridge.org/dictionary/english/mindset

- Carroll, J. B. (1963). A Model of School Learning. *Teachers College Record*, 64(8), 723–733. Retrieved from http://psycnet.apa.org/psycinfo/1963-08222-001
- Cassidy, S. (2004). Learning Styles: An overview of theories, models, and measures. *Educational Psychology*, *24*(4), 419–444. http://doi.org/10.1080/0144341042000228834
- Chin, C., & Brown, D. E. (2000). Learning in Science: A Comparison of Deep and Surface Approaches. *Journal of Research in Science Teaching*, 37(2), 109– 138. http://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1098-2736(200002)37:2<109::AID-TEA3>3.0.CO;2-7
- Chiou, G.-L., Liang, J.-C., & Tsai, C.-C. (2012). Undergraduate Students' Conceptions of and Approaches to Learning in Biology: A study of their structural models and gender differences. *International Journal of Science Education*, 34(2), 167–195. http://doi.org/10.1080/09500693.2011.558131
- Christensen, T. E., Fogarty, T. J., & Wallace, W. A. (2002). The Association between the Directional Accuracy of Self-Efficacy and Accounting Course Performance. *Issues in Accounting Education*, *17*(1), 1–26. JOUR. http://doi.org/10.2308/iace.2002.17.1.1
- Christie, J. (2015). A Study to Understand the Relationship Between Student's Perception of Academic Environment, Student Learning Approaches and Student Learning Outcomes Among MBA Students of Gujarat. *PARIPEX-Indian Journal of Research*, 4(6), 263–267.
- Collins English Dictionary Complete & Unabridged 10th Edition. (2009). Retrieved from http://dictionary.cambridge.org/dictionary/businessenglish/mindset?q=mindset
- Cruickshank, D. R. (1986). Profile of an Effective Teacher. *Educational Horizons*, 64(2), 80–86.
- Dahl, T. I., Bals, M., & Turi, A. L. (2005). Are students' beliefs about knowledge and learning associated with their reported use of learning strategies? *The British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 75, 257–273. http://doi.org/10.1348/000709905X25049

Duff, A. (1997). A note on the reliability and validity of a 30-item version of Entwistle & Tait's Revised Approaches to Studying Inventory. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 67(4), 529–539. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.2044-8279.1997.tb01263.x

Dunkin, M. J. ., & Biddle, B. J. (1974). The Study of Teaching. Oxford, England: Holt, Rinehart & Winston. Retrieved from http://psycnet.apa.org/psycinfo/1975-01869-000

- Dupeyrat, C., & Mariné, C. (2005). Implicit theories of intelligence, goal orientation, cognitive engagement, and achievement: A test of Dweck's model with returning to school adults. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 30(1), 43–59. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.cedpsych.2004.01.007
- Dweck, C. S. (1986). Motivational Processes Affecting Learning, 41(10), 1040– 1048.
- Dweck, C. S. (2006). *Mindset: The new psychology of success*. Random House Digital, Inc.
- Dweck, C. S. (2015). Growth. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, *85*(2), 242–245. http://doi.org/10.1111/bjep.12072
- Dweck, C. S., Chiu, C., & Hong, Y. (1995). Implicit Theories: Elaboration and Extension of the Model. *Psychological Inquiry*, *6*(4), 322–333. http://doi.org/10.1207/s15327965pli0604_12
- Edwards, B. (2012). *Drawing on the Right Side of the Brain* (Fourth). Tarcher Perigee.
- Endres, M. L., Chowdhury, S., Milner, M., Endres, M. L., & Chowdhury, S. (2015). Ambiguity tolerance and accurate assessment of self-efficacy in a complex decision task, (May), 31–46. http://doi.org/10.1017/S1833367200002868
- Entwistle, N. (1999). Scoring Key for the Approaches and Study Skills Inventory for Students (ASSIST), 12. Retrieved from http://www.tla.ed.ac.uk/etl/questionnaires/ASSIST.pdf.
- Entwistle, N. (2001). Styles of learning and approaches to studying in higher education. *Kybernetes*, *30*(5/6), 593–603. http://doi.org/10.1108/03684920110391823
- Entwistle, N., & Marton, F. (1989). Introduction. The psychology of student learning. *European Journal of Psychology of Education*, 4(4), 449–452. http://doi.org/10.1007/BF03172709
- Entwistle, N., McCune, V., & Tait, H. (1997). The approaches and study skills inventory for students (ASSIST). Edinburgh: Centre for Research on Learning and Instruction, University of Edinburgh.
- Entwistle, N., & Ramsden, P. (2015). Understanding Student Learning (Routledge Revivals). Routledge.
- Entwistle, N., & Smith, C. (2002). Personal understanding and target understanding: Mapping influences on the outcomes of learning. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, *72*(3), 321–342. http://doi.org/10.1348/000709902320634528
- Foo, S. L., & Teoh, H. Y. (1997). Moderating effects of tolerance for ambiguity and risk-taking propensity on the role conflict-perceived performance relationship: Evidence from Singaporean entrepreneurs, *12*, 67–81.
- Frenkel-Brunswik, E. (1949). Intolerance of ambiguity as an emotional and perceptual personality variable. *Journal of Personality*, *18*, 108–143. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6494.1962.tb02303.x
- Frenseh, P. A., & Funke, J. (2014). Understanding Complex Problem Solving. Complex problem solving: The European perspective. Psychology Press.
- Furnham, A., & Marks, J. (2013). Tolerance of Ambiguity : A Review of the Recent Literature, 4(9), 717–728.

- Furnham, A., & Ribchester, T. (1995). Tolerance of ambiguity: A review of the concept, its measurement and applications. *Current Psychology*, 14(3), 179– 199. http://doi.org/10.1007/BF02686907
- Gallupe, R. B., Dennis, A. R., Cooper, W. H., Valacich, J. S., Bastianutti, L. M., & Nunamaker, J. F. (1992). Electronic Brainstorming and Group Size. Academy of Management Journal, 35(2), 350–369. http://doi.org/10.2307/256377
- Garfield, M. J., Taylor, N. J., Dennis, A. R., & Satzinger, J. W. (2001). Report: Modifying Paradigms -Individual differences, creativity techniques, and exposure to ideas in group idea generation. *Information Systems Research*, 12(3), 322–333. http://doi.org/10.1287/isre.12.3.322.9710
- Gijbels, D., Van de Watering, G., Dochy, F., & Van den Bossche, P. (2005). The relationship between students' approaches to learning and the assessment of learning outcomes. *European Journal of Psychology of Education*, 20(4), 327– 341. http://doi.org/10.1007/BF03173560
- Gow, L., & Kember, D. (1993). Conceptions of teaching and their relationship to student learning. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, *63*(1), 20–23. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.2044-8279.1993.tb01039.x
- Graesser, A. C., & Person, N. K. (1994). Question Asking During Tutoring. *American Educational Research Journal*, *31*(1), 104–137. http://doi.org/10.3102/00028312031001104
- Grant, H., & Dweck, C. S. (2003). Clarifying achievement goals and their impact. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 85(3), 541–53. http://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.85.3.541
- Han, J. H. (2014). Closing the missing links and opening the relationships among the factors: A literature review on the use of clicker technology using the 3P model. *Educational Technology and Society*, *17*(4), 150–168. http://doi.org/10.2307/jeductechsoci.17.4.150
- Harackiewicz, J. M., Barron, K. E., Carter, S. M., Lehto, A. T., & Elliot, A. J. (1997). Predictors and consequences of achievement goals in the college classroom: Maintaining interest and making the grade. *Journal of Personality* and Social Psychology, 73(6), 1284–1295. http://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.73.6.1284
- Hativa, N., & Birenbaum, M. (2000). Who Prefers What?: Disciplinary Differences in Students' Preferred Approaches to Teaching and Learning Styles. *Research in Higher Education*, 41(2), 209–236. http://doi.org/10.1023/A:1007095205308
- Hay, D. B. (2007). Using concept maps to measure deep, surface and non-learning outcomes. *Studies in Higher Education*, 32(1), 39–57. http://doi.org/10.1080/03075070601099432
- Hochman, J. (2016). Reading and Reflection : Educators in Dialogue with Reflective Teacher Narratives, 149–151.
- Hofstede, G. (2011). Dimensionalizing Cultures : The Hofstede Model in Context. Online Readings in Psychology and Culture, 2(1), 1–26. http://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.9707/2307-0919.1014
- Hofstede, G., & Jan, G. (2014). Geert Hofstede. *Itim International*, *122*(April), 1–3. http://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780199585762.013.0019
- Huang, C. (2011). Self-concept and academic achievement: A meta-analysis of
 - 170

longitudinal relations. *Journal of School Psychology*, 49(5), 505–528. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsp.2011.07.001

Huitt, W. (2003). A Transactional Framework of the Teaching/Learning Process. Retrieved September 8, 2016, from

http://www.edpsycinteractive.org/materials/tchlrnmd.html

- Institute for the Advancement of University Learning. (2016). Student approaches to learning. *University of Oxford*, 1–13. Retrieved from https://www.learning.ox.ac.uk/media/global/wwwadminoxacuk/localsites/oxfo rdlearninginstitute/documents/supportresources/lecturersteachingstaff/resour ces/resources/Student_Approaches_to_Learning.pdf
- Islam, G. M. R. (2016). Surface and Deep Approaches to Learning in Higher Education : Global Practice and Lessons for Bangladesh, 2(1), 45–56.
- Jackson, M. (2012). Deep Approaches to Learning in Higher Education. In N. Seel (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of the Sciences of Learning SE 1843* (pp. 913–915). CHAP, Springer US. http://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-1428-6_1843
- Johnson, R. B., & Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2004). Mixed methods research: A research paradigm whose time has come. *Educational Researcher*, *33*(14), 14–26. http://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X033007014
- Kember, D. (1997). A reconceptualisation of the research into university academics' conceptions of teaching. *Learning and Instruction*, 7(3), 255–275. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0959-4752(96)00028-X
- Kember, D. (2000). Misconceptions about the learning approaches, motivation and study practices of Asian students. *Higher Education*, 40(1), 99–121. http://doi.org/10.1023/A:1004036826490
- Kember, D., McNaught, C., Chong, F. C. Y., Lam, P., & Cheng, K. F. (2010). Understanding the ways in which design features of educational websites impact upon student learning outcomes in blended learning environments. *Computers and Education*, 55(3), 1183–1192. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2010.05.015
- Kolb, D. A., Boyatzis, R. E., & Mainemelis, C. (1999). *Experiential learning theory: Previous research and new directions. Perspectives on thinking, learning, and cognitive styles.*
- Korb, K. A. (2013). Educational Research Steps. Retrieved November 11, 2016, from http://korbedpsych.com/R00Steps.html
- Lane, M. S., & Klenke, K. (2004). The ambiguity tolerance interface: A modified social cognitive model for leading under uncertainty. *Journal of Leadership* & Organizational Studies, 10(3), 69–81. http://doi.org/10.1177/107179190401000306
- MacCrimmon, K. R., & Wagner, C. (1994). Stimulating ideas through creative software. *Management Science*, 40(11), 1514–1532. http://doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.40.11.1514
- Magno, C. (2010). The role of metacognitive skills in developing critical thinking. *Metacognition and Learning*, 5(2), 137–156. http://doi.org/10.1007/s11409-010-9054-4
- Mangels, J. a, Butterfield, B., Lamb, J., Good, C., & Dweck, C. S. (2006). Why do beliefs about intelligence influence learning success? A social cognitive neuroscience model. *Social Cognitive and Affective Neuroscience*, 1(2), 75–

86. http://doi.org/10.1093/scan/nsl013

- Marton, F., & Säaljö, R. (1976). On Qualitative Differences in Learning-II Outcome as a Function of the Learner's Conception of the Task. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 46(2), 115–127. http://doi.org/10.1111/j.2044-8279.1976.tb02304.x
- Mayer, R. E. (2001). Cognitive, Metacognitive, and Motivational Aspects of Problem Solving. In H. J. (Ed. . Hartman (Ed.), *Metacognition in Learning* and Instruction Theory, Research and Practice (pp. 87–101). http://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-017-2243-8
- McCombs, B. L. (1988). Motivational skills training: Combining metacognitive, cognitive, and affective learning strategies. In C. E. (Ed); Weinstein, E. T. (Ed); Goetz, & P. A. (Ed) Alexander (Eds.), *Learning and study strategies: Issues in assessment, instruction, and evaluation* (pp. 141–169). Academic Press, San Diego, CA, US.
- McIlrath, D. A., & Huitt, W. G. (1995). The Teaching-Learning Process: A Discussion of Models. Retrieved September 8, 2016, from http://www.edpsycinteractive.org/papers/modeltch.html
- McKenzie, G. R. (1973). Quizzes: Tools or Tyrants. *Instructional Science*, *2*, 281–294.
- McLain, D. L. (1993). The Mstat-I: A new measure of an individual's tolerance for ambiguity. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 53(1), 183–189. http://doi.org/10.1177/0013164493053001020
- McLaughlin, B. (1990). "Conscious "versus "Unconscious ." *TESOL Quarterly*, 24(4), 617–634. http://doi.org/10.2307/3587111
- Miller, R. B., Behrens, J. T., & Greene, B. A. (1993). Goals and perceived ability. Contemporary Educational Psychology, 18, 2–14. http://doi.org/10.1006/ceps.1993.1002
- Miller, R. B., Greene, B. A., Montalvo, G. P., Ravindran, B., & Nichols, J. D. (1996). Engagement in Academic Work : The Role of Learning Goals , Future Consequences , Pleasing Others , 422, 388–422.
- Nelson, K. G., Shell, D. F., Husman, J., Fishman, E. J., & Soh, L. K. (2015). Motivational and self-regulated learning profiles of students taking a foundational engineering course. *Journal of Engineering Education*, 104(1), 74–100. http://doi.org/10.1002/jee.20066
- Norton, R. W. (1975). Measurement of Ambiguity Tolerance. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, *39*(6), 607–619. http://doi.org/10.1207/s15327752jpa3906
- Olson, M. H., & Hergenhahn, B. R. (Eds.). (2016). An introduction to theories of *learning*. Routledge Taylor & Francis Group.
- Online Etymology Dictionary. (2010). Retrieved from http://dictionary.reference.com/browse/mindset
- Orsmond, P., & Merry, S. (2015). Tutors' assessment practices and students' situated learning in higher education: chalk and cheese. Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education, 2938(September), 1–15. http://doi.org/10.1080/02602938.2015.1103366
- Pask, G. (1975). Conversation, Cognition and learning: A Cybernetic Theory and Methodology. Elsevier.
 - 172

Peterson, E. R., Rayner, S. G., & Armstrong, S. J. (2009). Researching the psychology of cognitive style and learning style: Is there really a future? Learning and Individual Differences (Vol. 19). Retrieved from http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1041608009000478

Pintrich, P. R., & de Groot, E. V. (1990). Motivational and self-regulated learning components of classroom academic performance. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 82(1), 33–40. http://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0663.82.1.33

Plucker, J. A., Beghetto, R. A., & Dow, G. T. (2004). Why Isn't Creativity More Important to Educational Psychologists? Potentials, Pitfalls, and Future Directions in Creativity Research. *Educational Psychologist*, 39(2), 83–96. http://doi.org/10.1207/s15326985ep3902_1

Purdie, N., & Hattie, J. (2002). Assessing students' conceptions of learning. Australian Journal of Educational & Developmental Psychology, 2, 17–32.

Purdie, N., Hattie, J., & Douglas, G. (1996). Student conceptions of learning and their use of self-regulated learning strategies: A cross-cultural comparison. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 88(1), 87–100. http://doi.org/Doi 10.1037/0022-0663.88.1.87

Pym, J., & Kapp, R. (2011). Harnessing agency: towards a learning model for undergraduate students. *Studies in Higher Education*, 5079(June 2015), 1– 13. http://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2011.582096

Ravenscroft, S. P., Waymire, T. R., & West, T. D. (2012). Accounting students' metacognition: The association of performance, calibration error, and mindset. *Issues in Accounting Education*, 27(3), 707–732. http://doi.org/10.2308/iace-50148

Reid, W. A., Evans, P., & Duvall, E. (2012). Medical students' approaches to learning over a full degree programme. *Medical Education Online*, 17, 10.3402/meo.v17i0.17205. http://doi.org/10.3402/meo.v17i0.17205

Richardson, J. (2005). Students' Approaches to Learning and Teachers' Approaches to Teaching in Higher Education. *Educational Psychology*, *25*(6), 673–680. http://doi.org/10.1080/01443410500344720

Richardson, M., Abraham, C., & Bond, R. (2012). Psychological correlates of university students' academic performance: A systematic review and metaanalysis. *Psychological Bulletin*, *138*(2), 353–387. http://doi.org/10.1037/a0026838

Rittel, H. W. J., & Webber, M. M. (1973). Dilemmas in a General Theory of Planning Dilemmas in a General Theory of Planning. *Policy Sci*, 4(2), 155– 169.

Rodriguez, C. M. (2009). The impact of academic self-concept, expectations and the choice of learning strategy on academic achievement: the case of business students. *Higher Education Research & Development*, 28(5), 523– 539. http://doi.org/10.1080/07294360903146841

Román, S., Cuestas, P. J., & Fenollar, P. (2008). An examination of the interrelationships between self-esteem, others' expectations, family support, learning approaches and academic achievement. *Studies in Higher Education*, 33(2), 127–138. http://doi.org/10.1080/03075070801915882

Rossum, E., & Schenk, S. (1984). The relationship between learning conception, strategy and learning outcome. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*,

54(1), 73–83.

- Säaljö, R. (1979). Learning in the Learner's Perspective. I. Some Common-Sense Conceptions. No. 76. Retrieved from http://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED173369
- Sadler-Smith, E. (2010). "Learning Style": frameworks and instruments. Retrieved from

http://www.tandfonline.com.ezproxy.psz.utm.my/doi/abs/10.1080/0144341970 170103#.UxmmQ_ldXng

Salas, E., Goodwin, G., & Burke, S. (2009). Team Effectiveness in Complex Organizations: Cross-Disciplinary Perspectives and Approaches. unknown...

Schmeck, R. R., Geisler-Brenstein, E., & Cercy, S. P. (1991). Self-Concept and Learning: the revised inventory of learning processes. *Educational Psychology*, 11(3–4), 343–362. http://doi.org/10.1080/0144341910110310

- Speth, C. A., Namuth, D. M., & Lee, D. J. (2007). Using the ASSIST Short Form for Evaluating an Information Technology Application : Validity and Reliability Issues, *10*.
- Stephenson, J., & Yorke, M. (2013). *Capability and quality in higher education*. Routledge.

Stump, G., Husman, J., Chung, W. T., & Done, A. (2009). Student beliefs about intelligence: Relationship to learning. *Proceedings - Frontiers in Education Conference, FIE*, 1–6. http://doi.org/10.1109/FIE.2009.5350426

- The Free Dictionary Online. (2016a). Conception. Retrieved August 9, 2016, from http://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/conception
- The Free Dictionary Online. (2016b). mindset. Retrieved July 1, 2016, from http://www.thefreedictionary.com/mindset
- Trigwell, K., & Prosser, M. (2004). Development and Use of the Approaches to Teaching Inventory. *Educational Psychology Review*, *16*(4), 409–424. http://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-004-0007-9
- Trigwell, K., Prosser, M., & Waterhouse, F. (1999). Relations between teachers' approaches to teaching and students' approaches to learning. *Higher Education*, 37(1), 57–70. http://doi.org/10.1023/A:1003548313194
- Tynjälä, P. (1997). Developing education students' conceptions of the learning process in different learning environments. *Learning and Instruction*, 7(3), 277–292. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0959-4752(96)00029-1
- Van Rossum, E. J., Deijkers, R., & Hamer, R. (1985). Students' learning conceptions and their interpretation of significant educational concepts. *Higher Education*, 14(6), 617–641. http://doi.org/10.1007/BF00136501
- Woodman, R. W., Sawyer, J. E., & Griffin, R. W. (2016). Toward a Theory of Organizational Creativity Author (s): Richard W. Woodman, John E.
 Sawyer and Ricky W. Griffin Source : The Academy of Management Review, Vol. 18, No. 2 (Apr., 1993), pp. 293-321 Published by : Academy of Management Stable, 18(2), 293–321.

Yan, V. X., Thai, K.-P., & Bjork, R. a. (2014). Habits and beliefs that guide selfregulated learning: Do they vary with mindset? *Journal of Applied Research in Memory and Cognition*, 3(3), 140–152. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.jarmac.2014.04.003

Yeager, D. S., & Dweck, C. S. (2012). Mindsets That Promote Resilience: When Students Believe That Personal Characteristics Can Be Developed.

Educational Psychologist, *47*(4), 302–314. http://doi.org/10.1080/00461520.2012.722805

- Zare-ee, A. (2010). Associations between university students' beliefs and their learning strategy use. *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 5(2), 882– 886. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2010.07.203
- Zeng, G., Hou, H., & Peng, K. (2016). Effect of Growth Mindset on School Engagement and Psychological Well-Being of Chinese Primary and Middle School Students: The Mediating Role of Resilience. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *7*(November), 1–8. http://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2016.01873
- Zhang, L. (2000). University students' learning approaches in three cultures: An investigation of Biggs's 3P model. *Journal of Psychology: Interdisciplinary and Applied*, *134*(1), 37–35. http://doi.org/10.1080/00223980009600847

Research method-related literature

- Burr, V., King, N., & Butt, T. (2012). Personal construct psychology methods for qualitative research. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 17(4), 341–355. http://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2012.730702
- Charmaz, K. (2006a). Coding in Grounded Theory Practice. In Constructing Grounded Theory: A Practical Guide through Qualitative Analysis (pp. 42– 66). SAGE Publications Ltd; 1 edition. Retrieved from http://www.amazon.com/Constructing-Grounded-Theory-Qualitative-Introducing/dp/0761973532
- Charmaz, K. (2006b). Constructing Grounded Theory: A Practical Guide through Qualitative Analysis (Introducing Qualitative Methods series).
- Cohen, L., Manion, L., & Morrisson, K. (Eds.). (2007). Research methods in education. Routledge (6th ed., Vol. 253). Routledge Taylor & Francis Group. http://doi.org/10.3108/beej.10.r1
- Corno, L., & Anderman, E. M. (Eds.). (2016). Handbook of Educational Psychology (Third). Routledge Taylor & Francis Group. Retrieved from https://www.amazon.com/Handbook-Educational-Psychology/dp/0415894824
- Coyne, I. T. (1997). Sampling in qualitative research. Purposeful and theoretical sampling; merging or clear boundaries? *Journal of Advanced Nursing, 26*(3), 623–630. http://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2648.1997.t01-25-00999.x
- Creswell, J. W. (2014). *Research Design Qualitative, Quantitative, and Mixed Methods Approaches FOURTH EDITION*. SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Field, A. (2013). *Discovering Statistics Using IBM SPSS Statistics. 4th Edition.* http://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781107415324.004
- Kumar, R. (2011). Research Methodology (3rd ed.). Sage Publications Ltd.
- Miles, M. B., Huberman, A. M., & Saldana, J. (1994). *Qualitative data analysis*. (H. Salmon & La. Barrett, Eds.) (Three). SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Patton, M. Q. (2002). Qualitative research & evaluation methods. In *Qualitative research & evaluation methods (3rd ed)* (pp. 339–380). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Saldana, J. (2009). (2009). *The coding manual for qualitative researchers.* Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Appendices

Appendix A: ASSIST Questionnaire

Approaches and Study Skills Inventory for Students (ASSIST)

This questionnaire has been designed to allow you to describe, in a systematic way, how you go about learning and studying. The technique involves asking you a substantial number of questions which overlap to some extent to provide overall coverage of different ways of studying. Most of the items are based on comments make by other subsets. Please respond truthully, so that your answers will accurately describe your actual ways of studying, and work through the questionmaire quite **quickly**.

Background Information

University:	Course:
Faculty:	Age:
	Sex: M/F
Year of study:	Prior education, please state:

A. What is learning?

When you think of the term "LEARNING", what does it mean to you? Consider each of these statements carefully, and rate them in terms of how close they are to your own way of thinking about it.

	Very	Rather	Not so	Quite	Very
	different	different	close	close	close
Making sure you remember things well.	1	2	m	4	'n
Developing as a person.	1	2	æ	4	ŝ
Building up knowledge by acquiring facts and information.	1	2	ю	4	ŝ
Being able to use the information you've acquired.	1	2	в	4	ŝ
Understanding new material for yourself.	1	2	m	4	ŝ
Seeing things in a different and more meaningful way.	1	2	e	4	ŝ

B. Approaches to studying

The next part of this questionnaire asks you to indicate your relative agreement or disagreement i comments about studying made by other students. Please work through the comments, giving i **Immediate** response. In deciding your answers, think in terms of **this particular design programme**. It is very important that you answer all the questions: check that you have.

1= disagree (x) 2=disagree somewhat (x?) 3=unsure (??) 4=agree somewhat (/?) 5=agree

Try not to use 3=Unsure, unless you really have to, or if it cannot apply to you or your course.

(2)

(27)

(x2)

(×)

÷	I manage to find conditions for studying which allow me to get on with my work easily.	1	2	e	4
Ň	When working on an assignment, I'm keeping in my mind how best to impress the marker.	-	2	m	4
mi	Often I find myself wondering whether the work I am doing here is really worthwhile.	1	2	3	4
4	I usually set out to understand for myself the meaning of what we have to learn.	1	2	e	4
vî	I organise my study time carefully to make the best use of it.	1	2	m	4
ė	I find I have to concentrate on just memorising a good deal of what I have to learn.		2	e	4
7.	I go over the work i've done carefully to check the reasoning and that it makes sense.	1	2	3	4
œ	Often I feel I'm drowning in the sheer amount of material we're having to cope with.	1	2	3	4
9.	I look at the evidence carefully and try to reach my own conclusion about what I'm studying.	-	2	в	4
10.	It's important for me to feel that I'm doing as well as I really can on the courses here.	-	2	e	4
11.	I try to relate ideas I come across to those in other topics or other courses whenever possible.	-	2	3	4
12.	I tend to read very little beyond what is actually required to pass.	1	2	e	4
13	Regularly I find myself thinking about ideas from lectures when I'm doing other things.	-	2	9	4
14.	I think I'm quite systematic and organised when it comes to revising for exams.	-	2	e	4

Please turn over

34.	Before starting work on an assignment or exam question, I think first how best to tackle It.	-	2	æ	4	S
35.	I often seem to panic if I get behind with my work.	٦	2	m	4	n
36.	When I read, I examine the details carefully to see how they fit in what's being said.	F	2	e	4	ŝ
37.	I put a lot of effort into studying because I'm determined to do well.	T.	2	3	4	ŝ
38.	I gear my studying closely to just what seems to be required for assignments and exams.	-	2	3	4	ŝ
39.	Some of the ideas I come across on the course I find really gripping.	-	2	m	4	ŝ
40.	I usually plan out my week's work in advance, either on paper or in my head.	1	2	ñ	4	ŝ
41.	I keep an eye open for what lecturers seem to think is important and concentrate on that.	-	2	3	4	ŝ
42.	I'm not really interested in this course, but I have to take it for other reasons.	Ŧ	2	9	4	ŝ
43.	Before tackling a problem or assignment, I first try to work out what lies behind it.	-	2	æ	4	ŝ
44.	I generally make good use of my time during the day.	1	2	3	4	ŝ
45.	I often have trouble in making sense of the things I have to remember.	1	2	e	4	S
46.	I like to play around with ideas of my own even if they don't get me very far.	1	2	3	4	ŝ
47.	When I finish a piece of work, I check it through to see if it really meets the requirements.	-	2	e	4	5
48.	Often I lie awake worrying about work I think I won't be able to do.	-	2	3	4	ŝ
49.	It's important for me to be able to follow the argument, or to see the reason behind things.	-	2	e	4	ŝ
50.	I don't find it at all difficult to motivate myself.	1	2	6	4	ŝ
51.	I like to be told precisely what to do in essays or other assignments.	-	2	ю	4	ŝ
52.	I sometimes get 'hooked' on academic topics and feel I would like to keep on studying them.	-	2	e	4	S

C. Preferences for different types of course and teaching

 1= definitely dislike (x)
 2=dislike to some extent (x?)
 4=like to some extent (/?)
 5=definitely like (/)

 3=unsure (??)
 3=unsure (??)
 1
 1
 1

10.00 inlace Trunde to use 3-1 locus

	(x)	(4×)	(22)	(2)	S
Lecturers who tell us exactly what to put down in our notes.	ī	2	æ	4	ŝ
Lecturers who encourage us to think for ourselves and show us how they themselves think		2	m	4	'n
Exams which allow me to show that I've thought about the course material for myself.	1	2	3	4	5
Exams or tests which need only the material provided in our lecture notes.	-	N	m	4	5
Courses in which it's made very clear just which books we have to read.	-	2	3	4	61
Courses where we're encouraged to read around the subject a lot for ourselves.		N	m	4	un .
Books which challenge you and provide explanations which go beyond the lectures.	-	2	B	4	Let .
Books which give you definite facts and information which can easily be learned.	-	2	8	4	'n

Finally, how well do you think you have been doing in your assessed work overall, so far? Please rate yourself objectively, based on the grades you have been obtaining

Rather Badly T N Not So Well m -About Average in 4 Quite Well ~ 80 Very Well 6

Appendix B Reliability of scales

Scale	Cronbac h's Alpha	Original number of items	Final number of items
Learning approach	0 78	28	۲ د
Strategic	0.79	°, ∞	2 ∞
Surface	0.78	16	13
Learning conception			
Surface -Reproducing	0.43	б	б
Deep -Transforming	0.60	3	3
Preference for instruction			
Transmitting information	0.59	4	4
Supporting understanding	0.48	4	4

Thank you very much for spending time completing this questionnaire: it is much appreciated

Appendix C: INTERVIEW GUIDELINE

Student interview guide

The purpose of this interview is to identify types of mindsets students have towards their learning in industrial design courses. Students' perception of what they learn, how they learn, why they learn and how they want to learn will be investigated. The flow of the interview will be divided into two main parts starting from the addent's persent **learning operators** (students will either be in their flat year second semester or final year), going backwards to enable the students to recall their **initial first year learning operatore**.

Matrix/STPM/Diploma	Year/Course:	University/ Faculty:	
irst Name:	ender:	ace:	

Interview Notes:

*Use **illustrative examples** if interviewee seems to struggle to facilitate deeper response only <u>after</u> initial questions fails to elicit thoughtful response.

"add "If any" to make more neutral framing

*probing questions: use who, where, what, when, how to obtain complete and detailed picture of activity or experience

*Preface statements to introduce question

Introduction:

Hello, i'm Basyarah Hamat and i'm doing research on how students in design courses learn. You are the expert in this area and i would like to learn about the experiences that you've gone devingh as a design student, so i will ask you some questions on that. This interview will consist of two parts. The fixet part will be about your <u>tassent</u> learning experience and the second part will be about your <u>transition to the university</u> <u>anitrantent</u>. Please know that this interview has no influence what so ever towards the marking of any of your design projects and anything you say will be kept confidential and be strictly kept anonymous. Please feel free to give your opinion on the questions asked. Hello, saya Basyarah Hamat dan saya sedang membuat kajlan mengenai bagaimana pelajar dalam kuruus design belajar. Kamulah pakar dalam hal ini jadi saya perlu bertanyakan kepada kamu menganal pengalaman yang telah kuanu lalui sebagai seorang pelajar rekabntuk. Sodan akan terbahagi kepada due bahagian. Rungajan yang pertama merangkumi sodan menganal pengalaman pembelapran kamu pada masa ini (present) dan bahagian yang kedua adalah sewoktu peratihan kamu ke university.

Temuramah ini langsung tidok mempengaruhi markah kamu dalam kursus ini dan opa jua yang kamu nyatakan di sini adalah dianggap sebogai data yang sulit. Adakah adik setuju untuk ditemuramah?

Part 1: Present learning experience (1" year second semester/Final year)

Bahagian pertama:Pengalaman belajar pada waktu ini

Questic	Suc	Notes
Warm What is What is Boleh s In what In what Asal da How do How do How do How do In?	un curstions you first name? your are you studying? year are you studying? year are you studyingin? are you toon? are you too studying in this program yang sedang kamu ambil you ka studying in this program yang sedang kamu ambil nanach kamu menyukai program yang sedang kamu ambil	
Percep What c Apakat What d	tion of tearning: currently in university studies ourses are you taking besides design courses this semester? A kursus yong kamu ambit untuk semester ini? o you think about those? ndapat kamu mengenai kursus-kursus yang kamu ambit ini?	 Use illustrative examples if -Use illustrative examples in struggle to facilitate deeper response only <u>after</u> initial questions fails to elicit thoughtful response.
Do they Adakat projek Lecture	, have lecture trucinds, last trucinds, last Krasus-karus tersebut mempunyal kullah, tutorlah, lab atau yang tidak melibatkan rekabentuk? ss/ Tutorlah/Habs /Non-design related projects	
• • •	Do you attend lectures? Adokah kamu menghadiri kuliah? Why, or why not?	
	Menggan dam menghadiri/ tidak menghadiri kullah? Vihat is a good lecura: Pada pendapat kamu, apakah kullah yang baik? Vihat do yang okan kamu lakukan untuk membami kandungan Apa yang akan kamu lakukan untuk membami kandungan Panyas	
	 What do you do before lectures? Lazimnya, apa yang akan kamu lakukan sebetum Lazimnya, apa yang akan kamu lakukan sebetum Wihat do you do during lectures? How do you take notes during lectures? Bagaimanakah kamu mengambi horta sewaktu kutan? Bagaimanakah kamu mengambi horta sewaktu kutan? Wihat do you do afrer lectures? Lazimnya, apa yang dean kamu lakukan sesudah 	
•	Kuiten? Do you think you can do anything differently compared to what you're doing now to make yourself understand the content of the lectures better?	*Follow up with same questions
•	Pada pendapat kamu, adakah kamu boleh melakukan sesuatu yang berbera berbanding apa yang katimnya kamu lakukan sekarang untik membuat kamu memahami kandungan kuliah dengan tebih baik?	for tutorials, labs and non-design related projects



Questions		Notes
Design studio ex Do you attend st Adakah kamu m	partates udio-based design classes? enghadiri kelas studio rekabentuk?	
Why, or why not Mengapa kamu rekabentuk?	? menghadiri/tidak menghadiri kelas studio	
What is a good s Pada pendapat I	tudio-based design class? kamu, apakah kelas studio rekabentuk yang baik?	
What do you do classes better? Apa yang akan l studio rekabenti	to understand the content of studio-based design temu lakukan untuk memahami kandungan kelas uk dengan lebih baik?	
What are you les Apa yang kamu	ming in studio-based design classes? belajar dalam kelas studio rekabentuk?	
What do you thi currently taking? APakah pendap sedang kamu lai	h about the studio-based design classes you are of <i>kamu mengenal kelas studio rekabentuk yang</i> tu?	
What motivates Apakah yang me kelas studio reko	you to attend studio-based design classes? njadi motivasi kamu untuk menghadrikan diri ke abentuk?	
Process/ Proses		
•••	What do you do before studio-based design classes? Lazimnya, apa yang akan kamu lakukan sebelum	
	What do you do during studio-based design classes? Lazimnya, apa yang kamu lakukan sewaktu kelas	
•	studio rekabentuk? How do you take notes during studio-based design	
	classes? Bagaimanakah kamu mengambil nota sewaktu kelas ruulo sekabarut?	
•	What do you do after studio based design classes? (azimnya, apa yang akan kamu lakukan sesudah	
•	kelds studio rekabentuk? How are the projects introduced to you by the	
	ecturers? Bagaimanakah pensyarah kamu memperkenalkan anomu padak banada bawu3	
•	what do you do after they are introduced? What do you do after they are introduced? Lazimnya, apakah yang akan kamu lakukan setelah la	
•	diperknaikan kepada kamu? What do you do to make yourself understand the	
	equirements of the project Apa yang kamu lakukan untuk memahami kehendak	
•	essate project. How do you go about doing the projects? Latimnya, bagaimanakah kamu menjalankan projek-	
	projek tersebut?	

Capab	IIIY
•	When you first started this program, what kinds of copability , if any, did you think would be required for this program? <i>Seworktu barn umenulation program fun, guidan Jents</i> <i>kebolishing din, jita ongram jung peda pendapat kamu</i>
•	Did you have those capabilities when you entered? If not, how did you develop them? Addeth kamu mempusuk untersebut sewaktu kamu memasuk untersebut? Jika idadak, bagaimanakah kamu mengasah kebalehan tersebut?
Instruc •	tors When you first started this program, how were you expecting the instructors to teach in flectures, tatolos, tutoria and labs? Swotktu barn memulakan programmlu, bagamenakah kanu menjanjakkan prosprant menjarat di datam kullah,
• •	cucento, rao aum sensa stranor reactmox. With how they taught you in studio classes? Seworku menulakan pergram, were you comfortable uth how they taught you in studio classes? Seworku menulakan pergram, whet ald you think of the datam kelas studio voltementuk? Althen you first started this program, what did you think of the approaches that the lecturers use in design studios? Seworktu memulakan program in denlug, adakan kanu di Kenun menugakan program in denlug, adakan kanu di
Is there adaka	adom kelas stado rekabentuk/ anything ele related to: Nor experience like when you first came into the university? Dengan pengalaman kamu sewaktu mula-mula memasuki Vour expectations of the learning environment when you first came into this university? Langkaon kamu menggonia university ini?
Is ther feel we Adaka Thank	a anything else that you would like to add. just in case if you feel I have missed any aspects that you vuid be important to add? h terdipat apor-apo aspek yong kamu rasa penting dan hendiak kamu tombah?

Part 2: Transition to the university environment

Notes Content • When you first entered the university, if any at all, what did vue expect to learn in this design program? Seveletur melue antimeration in the adds, apolen program formular menosation in the adds, apolen readbernts into: • To you recall back to when you universit in this design readbernts in the what you learned in this design of all of linger a compared to what you learned in this design of all and imped kernolus, seveluted before; you, was there anything different about what you learned in this design of all and imped kernolus, sevelute the profer you. A set the advected is more than the advector of the advector techagest apped techagor apped to you append in this design factorial different is a sevel to the advector of the advector techagest apped to what you learned for the advector techagest apped to what you append to the advector techagest apped techagor apped to you append techagest apped to a seven the facturers, what did you down the new information? Sevents usammeristing apped participant designed persysterial back apped appendix for the advector designed persysterial back apped appendix for the advector designed persysterial back apped apped to a part of the advector person apped techagest apped to a part of the advector formula apped apped apped techagest apped to a part of the advector formula apped apped techagest apped to a part of the advector formula apped apped techagest apped to a part of the advector formula apped apped techagest apped to a part of the advector formula apped apped techagest apped to a part of the advector formula apped apped techagest apped to a part of the advector formula apped apped to a part of the advector formula apped apped techagest apped to a part of the advector formula apped apped to a part of the advector formula apped apped to a part of the advector formula apped apped to a part of the advector formula apped apped to a part of the advector formula apped apped to a part of the advector formula apped apped to a part of the advect If you were to compare between how you were studying after what do you think has changed?
 If you was a studying after, what do you think has changed?
 Ilked allowalingkan mengenal bogalmana kamu belajar seletum menastik university forogan bogalmana kamu belajar skarang, pada pendapat kamu, apakah yang telah belajar skarang, pada pendapat kamu, apakah yang telah belajar va udapt ta studying here?
 How ddy vau adapt ta studying here? Pre-University Experience
• Where dotyou study before entering the university?
• Where dotyou study before entering the university?
• What did you study there?
• What did you study there?
• What did you study there?
• What did you show about this program when you first came into the university?
Apokan yong kemu tehu mengenal program init sewoldu kame mula-mula mula-mula mensuki university in? Are there any differences between how classes were conducted in high school with how they are conducted in the unvestry?
 Addish reduced any any prohestion instrate bagainness kelos disjonkan behanding di universiti dan sebelum kamu memasuk university? Now, for the second part of the interview, it will be about your initial tearing experience and when you first entreed the university. Seconds, socian added henegenal pengalaman belgar kamu sevokatu kamu mule-mula mosuk ke university dahulu. Perception of learning: transition to university

Process

•

.

Code		Definition	Example of quotation
Learni	ng Approach		
Deep			
1.	Faces challenges	Overcoming or rising up to the task when faced with challenging situations.	"I will like try and error Try out everything possible. And then try to see whether it will look nice in this position, this arrangement, if it's not, then I will try it in another arrangement. Because this we need to try it on our own." (Respondent ID:1)
2.	Interest in ideas	Actions that indicate interest towards content or procedural knowledge.	"then actually, I am also interested in how to study visuals like in critique sessions, there was one project, I was thinking how he should research about the visual if it is true that "iconic" and kuala lumpur is related, then how he will transfer it into the design of the taxi with iconic, what is iconic actually?" (Respondent ID: 5)
3.	Relating ideas	Actions to relate content or procedural knowledge.	"What I jot down is I had already concluded it the scope of his project was very big like it can be classified as 2 projects, because he is study about "iconic", kl and also the taxi 3 things! but 3 things are interconnected and then, erm there is kl and iconic, iconic and taxi" (Respondent ID: 5)
4.	Seeking meaning	Attempts to fathom concepts.	"For example, in the product design class, I would find out the functions of every part on the circuit board. Because before this I didn't know about it. I find out how each part functions" (Respondent ID: 12)
5.	Using evidence	Demonstrates decisions made based on deliberation.	" Before fabricating the prototype, to identify any possible mistakes, I would make a mock-up first This is so I can physically look at the proportion of the form, otherwise, it will just be on paper" (Respondent ID: 4)

Appendix D: Pattern codes created in second cycle

Strategic	;		
6.	Alert to assessment demands	Actions perceived as an enabler to attain higher marks.	"Emm because if it is related to my project if I think it's important ya when he says that there are more marks for this or something like that because our projects are relate to our thesis so if he says that it is important, I would take note on that" (Respondent ID: 6)
7.	Monitors effectiveness	Actions to examine or prepare content of work or assignments.	" Usually, after class, I will look back at what was not enough and add to it if I'm not satisfied with the work, I will usually add whichever is not enough. If I want to add more research or anything to my designs or something like that I would do it beforehand " (Respondent ID: 10)
8.	Organised studying	Actions to enable accomplishment of work through systematic organisation or time planning.	"Assignments for design class? I would usually do it in classes, not waste time because if I wanted to do it back at my hostel there would not be enough time so do it until its done If possible, it has to be finished quickly because if the lecturer asks for it and I had to do it in the last minutes, it would be tiring so just do the work I have to be disciplined" (Respondent ID: 2)
Surface			
9.	Taking convenient measures	Actions taken to decrease work load that compromises deeper levels of processing.	"I was doing the research on the treeso if I changed the subject matter, I would have to conduct all of my research all over again so I changed to [looking at] its fruit, I didn't take the branch [anymore] I used the branch for the lighting project and the fruit for the furniture project so I don't have too much research that I needed to do as I had already researched about the tree" (Respondent ID: 10)
10.	Limited use of evidence	Utilization of only accessible information without considering imperative requirements as required by task/situation.	"I would think of my own logics, what I am fond of I pick the living room for the family so that my own family can use it later on besides, compared to the toilet and kitchen, users don't use the space as frequently as they do the living rooms so there is more opportunity for me to research for problems " (Respondent ID: 11)

11.	Performs routine actions	Execution of customary actions that includes memorising, executing instructions or actions with limited understanding.	"we will need to complete last week's assignments for example, if the lecturer asks to make thumbnails or development, so we will do a little bit of development so before the class, we will prepare the development that we've done so during class, show it to the lecturer and get approval to proceed " (Respondent ID: 12)
Prefere	nce for	Definition	Example of quotation
Support	.1011 s understanding		
<u>3000000000000000000000000000000000000</u>	Conveys ideas coherently	Students clearly understand ideas that are conveyed by their instructors.	"then I learnt a lot from the critique sessions, when we discussed about my friend's project although our projects are different, but I learn from everybody's project there are more examples like its easier to understand what the design process is about overall" (Respondent ID: 5)
13.	<i>Monitors</i> <i>understanding</i>	Lecturer checks whether students understand.	"each time before giving us the assignment, the lecturer will ask whether we understand how to go about if we're all quiet, it means that it's the first time we've heard about it so, when the lecturer knows that it's new for us, he will explain how we should do it" (Respondent ID: 11)
14.	Promotes reflection	Lecturer propagates reflection through questioning or encouraging exploration.	"for example, when I present my project, the lecturer questioned, what did I mean by small, medium or large for the event and what programmes were they doing on the stage? I didn't look into that aspect that was one thing that helped the lecturer suggested to look at this, this, this (Respondent ID: 4)

Transmi	it information		
15.	Dictating design direction	Decision making process is made by instructors.	"the lecturer will explain what we need to do, then we will conduct our research once the research is complete, we will present it to the lecturer depending on whether the lecturer likes it or not, we will design it if the lecturer accepts everything, right we will proceed to make the thing" (Respondent ID: 9)
16.	Focus on outcome	Places importance on tangible outputs such as sketches, prototypes, visually interesting designs, required formats and deliverables.	"what the lecturer thinks is interesting the design is interesting, the lecturer will immediately accept, if the design is not interesting, the lecturer will not accept " (Respondent ID: 9)
17.	Departing knowledge in obscure/ unstructured way	Departing knowledge in an unclear/unsystematic way, leading to unintegrated, separate pieces of information.	" the lecturer wants to explain something to us but we don't get it we're still lost so most students are lost compared to proceeding forwards " (Respondent ID: 4) "it's different with the normal subject like I also don't know what need to be teach because like it's not
			systematic like today, we want to learn this, learn that it's like very random, the process" (Respondent ID: 5)

Income on I according and and		Factors	
tems on <i>Learning approacn</i>			
	1 .Deep	2. Strategic	3. Surface
When I'm working on a new topic, I try to see in my own mind how all the ideas fit	.57		
ome of the ideas I come across on the course I find really gripping.	.53		
keep in mind who is going to mark an assignment and what they're likely to be	.53		
like to play around with ideas of my own even if they don't get me very far.	.51		
look carefully at tutors' comments on course work to see how to get higher marks	.51		
keep an eye open for what lecturers seem to think is important and concentrate on	.51		
Regularly I find myself thinking about ideas from lectures when I'm doing other	.50		
When I finish a piece of work, I check it through to see if it really meets the equirements	.49		
Often I find myself questioning things I hear in lectures or read in books.	.46		
try to relate indeas I come across to those in other topics or other courses whenever ossible	.45		
Before starting work on an assignment or exam question, I think first how best to	.43		
t's important for me to feel that I'm doing as well as I really can on the courses	.41		
organise my study time carefully to make the best use of it		75	
usually plan out my week's work in advance, either on paper or in my head		.75	
think I'm quite systematic and organised when it comes to revising for exams		.05	
work steadily through the term or semester, rather than leave it all until the last		.05	
ninute.		.64	
generally make good use of my time during the day.		.61	
don't find it at all difficult to motivate myself.		.61	
m pretty good at getting down to work whenever I need to. manage to find conditions for studying which allow me to get on with my work		.50 .49	
There's not much of the work here that I find interesting or relevant.			.69
gear my studying closely to just what seems to be required for assignments and			.61
Auch of what I'm studying makes little sense: it's like unrelated bits and pieces.			.61
concentrate on learning just those bits of information I have to know to pass.			.60
'm not really interested in this course, but I have to take it for other reasons.			.57
Vhen I look back, I sometimes wonder why I ever decided to come here.			.56
find I have to concentrate on just memorising a good deal of what I have to learn.			.56
Often I find myself wondering whether the work I am doing here is really vorthwhile.			.45
like to be told precisely what to do in essays or other assignments.			.43
often have trouble in making sense of the things I have to remember.			.41

Note. All loadings above .40 are shown.

	Factors	
Items on <i>Learning conception</i>	1. Deep- transfor ming	2. Surface- reproduc ing
Seeing things in a different and more meaningful way	,79	
Understanding new material for yourself	,70	
Developing as a person	,69	
Making sure you remember things well		,84
Building up knowledge by acquiring facts and information		,63

Appendix F:Principal components factor analysis of participants' learning conceptions

Note. All loadings above .40 are shown.

Appendix G: Principal components factor analysis of participants' preference for instruction.

	Factors	
Items on Preference for instruction	1. Emphasizing Understanding	2. Emphasizing Information
Courses in which it's made very clear just which books we have to read.	,76	
Lecturers who tell us exactly what to put down in our notes.	,74	
Exams or tests which need only the material provided in our lecture notes.	,60	
Books which give you definite facts and information which can easily be learned.	,57	
Exams which allow me to show that I've thought about the course material for myself.		,73
Books which challenge you and provide explanations which go beyond the lectures.		,64
Lecturers who encourage us to think for ourselves and show us how they themselves think		,62
Courses where we're encouraged to read around the subject a lot for ourselves.		,49

Note. All loadings above .40 are shown.

cross all 12	cachers that	
thes ac	Ē	
proac	oach,	
ing ap	g appr	
l learn	arning	
on and	egic le	
truction	Strate	
for ins	(ST)	
rence	roach,	
Prefe	ng app	
odes:	learnir	unding
ttern o	rface	derst
the pa	F): Su	ort un
es for t	ch, (S	t supp
rrence	ipproa	ers tha
f occu	ming a	cache
icies o	ep lear	Г. Г.
equen): De	ation,
H: Fr	its. (D	lorm
endix	onder	smit iı
App	resp	tran

•

	kespt 1	ndents 2	3	4	S	9	7	8	9	10	11	12
LEARNING APPROACHES	D+ ST	SF +ST	D +ST	D +SF	D +SF	SF +D	SF +ST	ST +SF	ST +SF	SF +ST	SF +ST	D +SF
Deep (D)	17	6	18	13	57	12	1	0	ŝ	4	S	17
Strategic (ST)	11	14	13	ŝ	9	9	~	10	19	12	8	10
Surface (SF)	6	28	11	13	16	15	6	9	9	16	11	16
PREFERENCE FOR INSTRUCTION	(n)	(n)	(v)	(n)	(n)	(1)	(1)	(1)	(1)	(1)	(1)	(n)
Teachers that transmit information (I)	7	4	9	~	4	11	10	6	15	14	16	9
Teachers that support understanding (U)	4	9	Ø	6	9		4	Ŋ	Ŋ		10	13

Appendix I:Hand-outs of related design theories



190

Appendix J: Stimulus



What should be developed next?

Appendix K: Brief and task-related information







Appendix L:Answer templates


Appendix M: Q&A session template

	cion
	51011
Please show me your best solution. Tell me how you came up with this best solution. Tolong tunjukkan penyelesalan terbaik kamu. Bagaimana kamu mendapatkan penyelesalan ini?	1
Did you face any difficulties when doing this task? What kind of difficulties did you face? What did you do to overcome the difficulties? Why did you do that? Adakah kamu menghadapi sebarang kesulitan semasa membuat tugasan tadi? Apakah kesulitan yang kamu hadapi? Apakah yang kamu lakukan untuk mengatasi masalah tersebut? Mengapa kamu buat begitu?	2
if you could ask your lecturer anything about this task, what would you like to ask him or her? Jika kamu boleh bertanya kepada pensyarah kamu mengenai tugasan tadi, apa yang ingin kamu tanya kepada dia?	3
What do you feel about the task? Did you feel that you were given too little structured information? Was the information given in a way that you could work with or u Did you need any other information? Why do you need that information? Apakah yang kamu rasakan mengani tugasan tadi? Adakah kamu merasakan bahawa kamu diberikan terlalu sedikit informasi yang teratur? Adakah informasi yang telal diberikan membolehkan kamu menggunakannya dengan baik? Adakah kamu perlukan informasi tambahan? Mengapa kamu memerlukan informasi tersebut?	
What about in terms of time, was it too chaotic? Why? If you had more time, what would you have done or done differently? Bagaimana pula dari segi masa, adakah ia terlalu bercelaru? Mengapa? Jika kamu diberikan lebih masa, apakah yang akan kamu lakukan atau lakukan dengan berbeza?	5
What was new for you when doing this task? Did you learn anything from this task? What did you learn? Do you think that it was important? Why? Apakah perkara baru bagi kamu kelika membuat tugasan tadi? Adakah kamu mempelajari apa-apa daripada tugasan tadi? Apakah yang telah kamu pelajari?Adakah kamu merasakan bahawa perkara itu penting? Mengapa?	6
Can you use any new knowledge from this task for future projects? How will you use it? Adakah kamu boleh gunakan sebarang ilmu baru dari tugasan ini dalam projek-projek akan datang? Bagaimana akan kamu gunakannya?	7
Do you have any questions about this task you had to do? Adakah kamu ada apa-apa soalan mengenai tugasan tadi?	8

c	v
	>
7	3
d	2
3	5
-	Ľ
	R
į	3
-1	Ē
:	B
0	X
Ż	ż
	X
	Ĕ
į	ğ,
	C

Mrongly Agree

Agree

Nulthur agree nor disagree

Diagree

Mrongly disagree

Part 2

. -. * 'n 4 Agree

+ e.

--

~ *

.....

I tand to be very frank with people.

-

It intitates the to have people avoid the answer to my question by asking another question.

I really disible it when a person does not give straight answers about himself.

- -. . * 4 4

. . .

----• . --

. . . .

. -

Tracking distribution and data time unable of to Office
 Tracking distribution
 Tracking strategy and strate to the office Tracking strategy and strategy to the office Tracking strategy and strategy to the office Tracking strategy and strategy to strategy and strategy and and strategy to strategy and strategy and and and and and and strategy and strategy and and and and and and strategy and and and and and and and and and strategy and and strategy and and and and and and and and strategy a

..... ~ ~

DESIGN LEARNING SURVEY

- Anno and Anno	Previous education:
Courses	Agei
Year of study:	Gender: Male/Fensale

	Part 1	Strongly disagree	Diagree	agree nor diagree	Agree	Strongly agree
	i don't find it at all difficult to motivate myself.	1	7	×	*	\$
Ň	When I read, I examine the details carefully to see how they fit in with what's being said.	-	7			n
ń	I concentrate on learning just those bits of information I have to know to pass.	-	2	ĸ	τ	5
÷	I usually plan out my week's work in advance, either on paper or in my head.	۲	r		٩	
16	When I am reading, I stop from time to time to reflect on what I am trying to learn from it.	1	2	×	4	
á	I gear my studying closely to just what seems to be required for assignments and exams.	1	2	r	4	a
Ň	I generally make good use of my time during the day.	1	~	ĸ	4	5
	Often I find myself questioning things I hear in lectures or read in books.	-	2	ĸ	4	
ō.	Much of what I'm studying makes little sense: it's like unrelated bits and pieces.	-	2	s	4	
10.	I'm pratty good at gatting down to work whenever I need to.	1	2	8	4	n
11	Regularly I find myself thinking about ideas from lectures when I'm doing other things.	1	2		Ŧ	\$
12.	There's not much of the work here that I find interesting or relevant.	-	2	R	Ŧ	
13.	I organize my study time carefully to make the best use of it.	1	2	¢	4	
14	Before tackling a problem or assignment, I first try to work out what lies behind it.	1	2		-	a
15.	I find I have to concentrate on just memorizing a good deal of what I have to learn.	-	2	8	*	*

Algeory?

Noither agree nor diangree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

τ.

~ ~ ~ ~ ~

--

Your design capability is something vary basic about you that you can't charge very much.

Part 3

You can learn new things but you can't really change how your devian capability is.

.

•

~ . . ~

-

. -

In a problem-solving group it is always best to systematically handle the problem.

. . .

. . .

~ ~ ~

- -

A work of contracteristic on creations, automatic of the set of contracteristic on creations.
 A work of the set of the set of the contractions.
 A strength manufactorial of the set o

. . .

-

--

An performance and sufficient and frame of 1 distribution of the second structure in the

- --

> . 1 2

-

Complex problems signal to me only (1) have a clear idea of the total stope of the problem.
 A group meeting functions best with a definite address

.

-

-

.

-

-.

.

.....

Vent y you have,

always significantly change how

No matter how much deugn capabili pou can piways change it quite a bit.

 If you are given storber opportunity, you would like to try to do the same task again. If you are given another opportunity, you would like to try a much more challenging task.

~

+ --

.

-

-

inducted the task?

crite how you should have

Please desc

	Rather Badly	I
		•
	Not So Well	•
to far?		•
vour dealen work,	Moderately well	×
cored on		u
indicate how you a	Guite Well	•
Nu please		
finally, can y	Very Well	

thank you very much for spending time completing this questionnaire; it is much appreciated

Appendix O: Scales for quality of solutions

A 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	(n	Company and the second second	In Lotes
Scales	for Re	levance: Al	oplicability



Scales for Relevance: Effectiveness

1 Idea(s) are unlikely to solve the stated problem. (It probably will not work)	2 Idea/some ideas will contribute to solvinga part of a stated problem.	3 Idea/some ideas will contribute to solving several parts of a stated problem.	4 Idea/some ideas will contribute to solving a part or several parts of at least 2 stated problems. (fit can be done the	5 Idea/some ideas will contribute to solving a part or several parts of at least 3 stated problems.
2. Effectiveness lidea(s) are unlikely to solve the stated problem. (It probably will not work)	Idea/some ideas will contribute to solvinga part of a stated problem.	Idea/some ideas will contribute to solving several parts of a stated problem.	Idea/some ideas will contribute to solving a part or several parts of at least 2 stated problems. (If it can be done the	Idea/some ideas will contribute to solving a part or several parts of at least 3 stated problems.
ommon Examples of evaluation:			stated problem will be solved)	(If it can be done, the stated problem will be solved)
Cycling competitions → 1 m				
Recommended behaviours \rightarrow 1 or 2 m				
New vehicles →1 or 2 m				
Infrastructures like underground tunnels, add ro	ad etc. that solves SP1,3 a	nd 4 🔿 4 or 5 m		

* Evaluation should be done without regard for workability.



Scales for Specificity: Completeness

	The number of indep breadth of coverage	endent subcomponents into with regard to who, what, w	which the solution can be decomp there, when, why, and how.	osed, and the	
	1	2	3	4	15
	Contains only one	Contains 2 different	Contains 3 different dimension	s.Contains 4 different	Contains 5 or more different
	dimension.	dimensions.		dimensions.	dimensions
Completeness	·	Or	Or	Or	Or
		More than 2 parts and	More than 3 parts and at least	More than 4 parts and at least	More than 5 parts and at least
		1 dimension	2 dimensions	3 dimensions	4 dimensions

Scales for Specificity: Implicational explicitness



Appendix P: Chi² test (Top: Testing the relationship between the types of questions that students asked and quality of their solutions. Middle: Testing the relationship between students' discerning and opportunistic mind-sets and quality of solutions. Bottom: Testing the relationship between students' receiving hand-out related to design theories and quality of students' solutions.)

			Cr	osstab				
					Quality of	solutions		1
					middle and low outcome	high outcome	Total	
Low level questions asked	no	Cou	nt		33	3	36	1
		Expe	cted Count		26,9	9,1	36,0	
		% wi	thin 25% of	high outcome	48,5%	13,0%	39,6%	
		Std.	Residual		1,2	-2,0		
	yes	Cou	nt		35	20	55	1
		Expe	cted Count		41,1	13,9	55,0	
		% wi	thin 25% of	high outcome	51,5%	87,0%	60,4%	
		Std.	Residual		-1,0	1,6		
ital Count					68	23	91	1
	68,0	23,0	91,0					
		% wi	thin 25% of	high outcome	100,0%	100,0%	100,0%	
			Ch	ii-Square Tests				
	Valu	Value df (2-sided)				Exact Sig. (1- sided)	- Po Prob	int abili
Pearson Chi-Square	9,05	52ª	1	,003	.00	00, 0	2	_
Continuity Correction ^b	7,6	528	1	,006				
Likelihood Ratio	10,1	35	1	,001	,00	00, 1	2	
Fisher's Exact Test					,00;	,00	2	
Linear-by-Linear Associatior	8,95	52°	1	,003	,00	00, 1	2	
	1			1	1	1	1	

8,952° 91 a. D cells (0,0%) have expected count b. Computed only for a 2x2 table c. The standardized statistic is 2,992.

	Case Pro	cessing S	ummary					_	
			Ca	505					
	Vali	đ	Mis	sing		Te	fal	1	
	N	Percent	N	Percent		N	Percent		
based on mean scoredtop and bottom 25% cluster) * DLM	87	95,6%	4	4,4%		91	100,0%		
base	d on mean sc	ore(top an	d bottom 25	% cluster) * D	ш	Crossta	abulation		
							DL	м	
						Disc	eming ndset	Opportunistic Mindset	Total
based on mean score(top and	middle grou	p Coun	t				33	10	43
bottorn 25% cluster)		% mit (top a	% within based on mean score (top and bottom 25% cluster)				76,7%	23,3%	100,0%
	Std. Residual					5		1,2	
	bottom 25% Count					17	4	21	
		% with (http://	% within based on mean score (top and bottom 25% cluster) Std. Residual				81,0%	19,0%	100,0%
		Std. R					1	,3	
	top 25%	Count	t				23	0	23
		% with (http://	% within based on mean score (top and bottom 25% cluster)				100,0%	0,0%	100,0%
		Std. R	lesidual					-1,9	
Total		Coun	t				73	14	87
		S with (http://	hin based o nd bottom 2	n mean score 5% cluster)			83,9%	16,1%	100,0%
Chi Sq	aare Tests			_					

	Value	đ	Asymp. Sig. (2-sided)
Pearson Chi-Square	6,181*	2	.045
Likelihood Ratio	9,675	2	.001
Linear-by-Linear Association	5,483	1	.019
N of Valid Cases	87		

2 cells (33,3%) have ex expected count is 3,30.

	Case Pr	ocessing Su	mmary						
			Car	505					
	Va	6d	Mis	sing	To	tal			
	N	Percent	N	Percent	N	Pe	rcent		
Whether respondent receives probe or not* DLM_CLUSTER5_lower25Nupp er25	91	100,0%	0	0,0%	91	10	10,0%		
Whether resp	ondent rece	ives probe o	r not * DLM	CLUSTERS	Jower25Na	pper2	25 Crosstabula	tion	
					DLM_C	LUST	TERS_lower25M	Nupper25	
					middle gr	quo	bottom 25%	top 25%	Total
Whether respondent receives	Probe	Count	Count % within Whether respondent receives probe or not			24	13	9	4
probe or not		% within V receives p				2%	28,3%	19,6%	100,0%
		Std. Resid	lual			3	.,4	8	
	No probe	Count	Count			21	10	14	45
		% within V receives p	% within Whether respondent receives probe or not		46,	7%	22,2%	31,1%	100,0%
		Std. Resid	ual			-3	-,4	8,	
Total		Count				45	23	23	91
		% within V receives p	whether resp robe or not	ondent	49,	5%	25,3%	25,3%	100,0%

	Value	σ	Asymp. Sig. (2-sided)
Pearson Chi-Square	1,667*	2	,434
Likelhood Ratio	1,677	2	,432
Linear-by-Linear Association	,950	1	,330
N of Valid Cases	91		

Appendix Q: Types of questions asked by the participants

Low level questions



High level questions



Generative design questions



Appendix R: Questionnaire for Study 3

						16	I usually
Name:	E-mail:						behind t
Age:	H/P Na:				Γ	17.	I usually complet
Gender: Male/Female	Previous education stream: Science/ Literature/		(ple	ese state)		18.	I struggl
This survey has been designed to allo For each item below, circle the numbe your learning in your particular design	v you to describe several aspects assu r that best indicates your relative ag course.	ociated to y	aur design disagreem	learning. ent in terr	ls of	19.	If I anco up on m
		_	_	-	-	20	I will not become
Part 1	sajes	Yizoori Songiy	veither veither	Stee not Bisagree Agree	Ylgnorsi 99196	21.	I usually task that

Application	agree Strongly	'n	ŭ	in.	'n	5	5	5	'n	5	5	'n	'n	'n	'n
Include for resources on iny genus ALE Display Display <thdisplay< th=""> Display <thdi< td=""><td>9919A</td><td>ج</td><td>4</td><td>4</td><td>4</td><td>4</td><td></td><td>4</td><td>17</td><td>4</td><td>4</td><td>-1</td><td></td><td>~</td><td>٩</td></thdi<></thdisplay<>	991 9 A	ج	4	4	4	4		4	17	4	4	-1		~	٩
Interface Secure Secu	Nelther agree nor disagree	~	-10	n	m	m	m	m	-11	ŕ	m	n	m		-10
Milling the former between the connectivity of the former between the formation the former between the connectivity of the former between the formation th	aargesiQ	2	~	2	2	~	7	2	~	~	~	2	2	~	2
Interface from elege and concepts tacking Interface Interface from elege and elege and	disagree Strongly	-	-	-	-	**	ĕ			-	÷		e		-
Internet free kineteloge and careersh quelyk. And for resources on my own. deduct for ma have violating proceed with my deduct for ma have violating proceed with my and finances. An end finance was all foundation controls the second of the control second and an end of the second of the control second and an end of the second of the control second and an end of the second and the second and an end of the second base of the second and an end of the second the second and an end of the second and an end and and an end of the second and an end of the second and and an end of the second and an end of the second the second and an end of the second and an end and and an end of the second and an end of the second the second and the second and an end of the second of the second and an end of the second and an end of the second and the second and an end of the second of the second and an end of the second and an end of the second and an end of the second and an end of the second and an end of the second and an end of the second and an end of the second and an end and and the second and an end of the second and an end and the second and the second and an end of the second and and the second and an end of the second and the	sales2	IST	AE	TOM	ARA rev	AR	Ē	TCM	484	AR	AE	TCM	ARA	AR	AE
art 1 mile an effort cu unde holen in double, i will se an early if my searche and the an effort cu unde and an analysis if my searche and and an analysis if my compared and	art 1	make an effort to understand new knowledge and concepts quictly.	When in doubt, I will search for resources on my own.	am happy if my teacher decides for me how I should proceed with my project	t is more important for me to have a well thought-out final design than to have a nice presentation for it.	citique sessions help me see different ways of looking at things.	t is important to me that I come to class so that I can interact with my eachers directly.	t is important for me to show others how much work and research ! www.invatted in my projects even if this is not as relevant for the final design.	While designing I tend to use elements, materials or ideas from mow/popular design styles because I like them, rather than to reflect about whether they will build a holistic concept.	often wonder how designers arrive at their solutions.	continue to implement tasks my way even if it is done differently by athers.	a bandon design ideas if I realize that the final presented model cannot se constructed assity.	often find inspiration on the internet, books, etc. while designing but I son't spend a lot of time researching these ideas thoroughly.	try to associate information I receive with my design ideas in order to devolop it further.	n design projects, i frequently seek feedback from others (teachers, classmates, etc.) on new ideas.

é	I usually follow the teachers' instruction without questioning the reasons behind them.	ARA	1	2	m	~	5	13.	nen I read, I examine the details carefully to see how they fit together.	<u>e</u> e	1	7	e	4	
N.	I usually examine closely the goal of the task that I am supposed to complete thoroughly before starting to design.	AR	1	2	m	ę	'n	14.	n quite systematic and organised when it comes to revising for exams.	15 SO	"	7	m	~	
1.00	I struggle learning things that do not interest me.	Ĕ	1	2	m	~	'n	15.	ook steadily through the term or semester, rather than leave it all till the last minute.	E A	-	7		4	
1.2	If I ancounter new information or design ideas, it is easy for me to give up on my current design.	AE	1	2	m	ę	'n	16.	ear my studying closely to just what seems to be required for signments and exams.	SP	-	2	m	~	
1. K.	I will not continue developing an idea further if I realise that it will become difficult to come up with all the necessary details.	TCM	1	2	m	~	ŝ	17.	ten I look back, I sometimes wonder why I ever decided to come here.	SF.	-	~	m	4	
	I usually make an effort to understand the purpose/goal behind a design task that is given to me.	ARA rav	н	N	m	~	'n	18.	san i finish a piaca of work, i check it chrough to sae if it really meats a requirements.	12 M	-	7	m	~	
1000	I usually try to explore aspects of a project that are not mentioned by the teacher.	48	1	5		4	5	19.	eep an eye open for what lecturers seem to think is important and ncentrate on that:	ST	-	~	m	4	
		s	aa Aj:	90	101 101		c Aji	20.	ke to play around with ideas of my own even if they don't get me very	0.5	-	2	61	*	
	Part 2	alesc	gnars2 1362ib	ngesia	n gerib n gerek n gerek	Agree	ano 192 Serong	21.	 Important for me to be able to follow the argument, or to see the son behind things. 	e o	-	2	m	*	
	I go over the work I've done carefully to check the reasoning and that it makes sense.	r: an	-	2		4	\$	22.	sually plan out my week's work in advance, either on paper or in my ad.	50		7	m	*	
	l licok carefully at tutors' comments on course works to see how to get higher marks next time.	ST.	-	2	Э	4	5	23.	enerally make good use of my time during the day.	15 AL	-	2	3	4	
	I try to relate ideas i come across to those in other topics or other courses whenever possible.	o z	1	2		4	s	24.	uch of what I'm studying makes little sense: it's like unrelated bits and toes.	SF.	-	2	m	4	
	Often I find myself questioning things I hear in lectures or read in books.	ġ	-	~	E	4		25.	ften have trouble in making sense of the things I have to remember.	SF	-	2	m	4	
	manase to find conditions for studying which allow me to set on with	in the second se						26.	ke to be told precisely what to do in essays or other assignments.	5, 8	-	2	m	4	
	my work easily.	S	1	2		4	5	27.	n not really interested in this course, but I have to take it for other some	SF.	-	2	m	4	_
	I organize my study time carefully to make the best use of it.	ts N	1	2	m	4	s	1	N, can you please indicate how you scored on your design work, so fai	216	Mark Co. 10			- and and and	
	I find I have to concentrate on just memorising a lot of what I have to learn.	SF. UM	1	2	e	ų	ŝ	5		~	-	3		1	
	I concentrate on learning just those bits of information I have to know to pass.	SF.	1	2	m	v	ŝ		Discerning mind-set	Inte	erest in ki	owiedse		Π	
	There's not much of the work in my design classes that I find interesting	SF.		2		4	5		Opportunistic mind-set TCM ARA	Tak	ting conve ministerin	mentation nient mea	sures		
	or relevant.	TOP				6			Discerning/Opportunistic (reverse items) AR	Act	we/Inacti	ve reflecti	uo	Π	
	Before starting work on an assignment or exam question, I think first how best to tackle it.	N St		2	m	ę	ŝ		Deep LA D. 81	Use	ating idea	s		Π	
						1			Strategic Monitoring LA Strategic Monitoring LA	Ale	rtness to	rectivene assessmer	t deman	-6	
	I keep in mind who is going to mark an assignment and what they're likely to be looking for.	AAD	-	~	m		υŋ		Strategic Management LA ST. DS ST. TM	Tin	ganised st	ment			
	When I'm working on a new topic, I try to see in my own mind how all	d	-	~	~				SF. UM Surface LA	Ind	related m	imorising			
	the ideas fit topether.	2			ļ	-	,			1				Ī	

Appendix S:Questionnaire on task



Appendix T: Design brief used in the quasi-experimental study for Control group (Top) and Experimental group (Bottom)

Redesign the o	rrent National Zoo of Malaysia (Zoo Negara)
Zoo Negara was	officially opened in 1963 and is home to 5137 animals of 459 different species.
It is situated in ti	e north-east of Kuala Lumpur and is managed by a non-governmental organisation known as the Malaysian Zoological Society
Zoo Negara obta	in its funds from gate collections as well as donors and sponsors.
Since it's initiatio	n, little changes have been made to this artificial eco-system to improve the well-being of its inhabitants and guardians.
Come up with a	new design for this artificial eco-system and suggest ways to enable your designs to be realized.
You will be give	1 hour for this task.
Next, you will p	epare for a small presentation using templates that will be provided.
Des	ign Task
Des Redesign the o	ign Task Irrent National Zoo of Malaysia (Zoo Negara) officially opened in 1963 and is home to 5137 animals of 459 different species.
Des	ign Task
Redesign the o	Irrent National Zoo of Malaysia (Zoo Negara)
Zoo Negara was	officially opened in 1963 and is home to 5137 animals of 459 different species.
It is situated in ti	enorth-east of Kuala Lungur and is managed by a non-governmental organisation known as the Malaysian Zoological Society
Zoo Negara obto	ris Is funds from gate collections as well as donors and sponsors.
Des	Ign Task
Redesign the o	Irrent National Zoo of Malaysia (Zoo Negara)
Zoo Negara was	offskilly opened in 1963 and is home to 5132 animals of 459 different species.
It is situated in ti	enorth-exart of Kunala Lungur and in unnaged by a non-governmental organisation known as the Malaysian Zoological Society
Zoo Negara obti	ins its funds from gate collections as well as donors and sponsors.
Since it's initiatio	n, little changes have been made to this artificial eco-system to improve the well-being of its inhabitants and guardians.
Des	Ign Task
Redesign the o	Irrent National Zoo of Malaysia (Zoo Negara)
Zoo Negara was	officially opened in 1963 and is home to 5137 animals of 459 different species.
It is situated in ti	e north- exat of Knala Lumpur and is managed by a non-governmental organisation known as the Malaysian Zoological Society
Zoo Negara obt	ins its funds from gate collections as well as donors and sponsors.
Since it's initiatic	n, little changes have been made to this artificial eco-system to improve the well-being of its inhabitants and guardians.
Come up with a	new design for this artificial eco-system and suggest ways to enable your designs to be realized.
You will be give	I how for this task.
Next, you will p	repare for a small presentation using templates that will be provided.

Appendix U: Scales for assessing the quality of solutions

Clarity of solutions Completeness of solutions 1 -4 -5 2 -3 1--2 3 4 -5 Clear Not clear at all Marginally clear Somewhat clear Very clear Marginally complete Complete Very complete Not complete at all Somewhat complete Scale Definition Scale Definition 1 2 3 4 The solu ion does not solve the given p 2 A large part of the sc d to the pro lem, but 3 small part of the solut 4

Usefulness of solutions

(1)				5
No	ot useful at all	Marginally useful	Somewhat useful	Useful	Very useful
Scale	Definition				
1	The solution p	oses considerable disadvar	tages to the stakeholders im	volved.	
2	The solution p	oses slight disadvantages t	o the stakeholders involved.		
3	The solution p	oses neither disadvantages	nor benefits to the stakehol	ders involved.	
	The solution p	oses slight benefits to the s	takeholders involved.		
4					



Feasibility of solutions

(1)				5
Not	feasible at all	Marginally feasible	Somewhat feasible	Feasible	Very feasible
Scale	Definition				
1	It will be very d	lifficult to implement the s	olution.		
2	It will be rather	difficult to implement the	solution.		
3	It will be neithe	er difficult nor easy to impl	ement the solution.		
4	It will be easy t	o implement the solution.			

Originality of solutions



Appendix V: Reliability of questionnaire scales

Scale	Cronbach's Alpha	Original number of items	Number of Items
Mind-set	-		
Discerning	0.76	12	7
Opportunistic mind-set	0.71	15	13
Learning Approach			
Deep	0.69	6	5
Strategic	0.78	12	8
Surface	0.72	9	6
	203		

About the author

Basyarah Hamat was born in Singapore, on 12 December 1984. She obtained her BSc in Industrial Design from University Teknologi Malaysia and Masters in Digital Media in the University of Adelaide, Australia. Upon graduating from her Bachelor's degree, she was employed as an assistant industrial designer by Orcadesign Consultants Sdn.Bhd. Here, she was involved in the conceptual design phases of product design projects for companies such as Ambi Pur, HP and Stabilo. Subsequently, she joined University Teknologi Malaysia as a tutor in the industrial design department, where she was assigned to teach design. The challenge of teaching design as a novice teacher led her to her current research topic. Even as a student, she was incessantly inquisitive about how students learned to design. With the individual differences that exist within each student, how did they learn to create well-informed designs? Furthermore what can be done to improve their design learning? In July 2013, Basyarah received a doctoral grant from the Ministry of Higher Education, Malaysia. She joined the Design Theory and Methodology section of the Product Innovation Management department in TU Delft, and embarked on her 4 year journey to answer the abovementioned questions. In addition to her research, Basyarah has also been involved in supervising students in their first year research course and final Bachelor graduation project.

List of conference publications

- Hamat, B., Badke-Schaub, P., & Eris, O. (2015). Design Learning Mind-sets. In C.
 Weber, S. Husung, G. Cascini, M. Cantamessa, D. Marjanovic, & M.
 Bordegoni (Eds.), *International Conference on Engineering Design, ICED15* (pp. 341–350). Milan, Italy. Retrieved from https://www.designsociety.org/publication/38020/design_learning_mind-sets
- Hamat, B., Badke-Schaub, P., & Schoormans, J. (2016). Individual dispositions and the adoption of surface learning in design. *Proceedings of International Design Conference, DESIGN, DS 84*, 2081–2090.
- Hamat, B., Eisenbart, B., Schoormans, J., & Badke-Schaub, P. (2017). Differences Between the Discerning and Opportunistic Mind-Sets in Design Learning. *ICED17: 21st International Conference on Engineering Design*, 9(August), 235–244.

Manuscript submitted for Journal Publication

Hamat, B., Eisenbart, B., Badke-Schaub, P & Schoormans, J. Designers' mind-set: Influence on design processes and outcomes. *Design Studies.*